
 

 

 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
SAN LORENZO VALLEY WATER 

DISTRICT  
REGULAR MEETING 

AGENDA 
JANUARY 4, 2024 

 
MISSION STATEMENT: Our Mission is to provide our customers and future generations 
with reliable, safe, and high-quality water at an equitable price; to create and maintain 
outstanding service and community relations; to manage and protect the environmental 
health of the aquifers and watersheds; and to ensure the fiscal vitality of the San Lorenzo 
Valley Water District. 

 
Notice is hereby given that a regular meeting of the Board of Directors of the San 
Lorenzo Valley Water District will be held on Thursday, January 4, 2024, at 5:30 p.m., 
SLVWD Conference Room, 12788 Highway 9, Boulder Creek, CA, and via 
videoconference and teleconference. Open Session will begin at 6:30 p.m. 
 
Any person in need of any reasonable modification or accommodation to participate in 
the meeting may contact the District Secretary’s Office at (831) 430-4636 a minimum of 
72 hours before the scheduled meeting.  
 
This meeting is being conducted as an in-person meeting under the Brown Act, 
Government Code section 54953, and a quorum of the Board must participate from the 
location(s) within the District that are identified above.  Members of the public may 
attend the meeting at the identified location(s).  Teleconferencing/videoconferencing 
access as set forth below is being provided as a convenience only and is not 
guaranteed.  The meeting may continue in person even if teleconferencing/ 
videoconferencing capability is disrupted or unavailable.    
 
To join the meeting click the link below, or type it into your web browser. 

 
Webinar/Public link: 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/85144108029  
 
+1 346 248 7799 
+1 669 900 6833 
+1 253 215 8782 
 
Webinar ID: 85144108029  
 
Agenda documents are available on the District website at www.slvwd.com subject to staff’s 
ability to post the documents before the meeting. 
 

1.   Convene Meeting/Roll Call 
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2.   Changes to Closed Session Agenda:   
 Additions to the Agenda, if any, may only be made in accordance with California 
Government Code Section 54954.2 (Ralph M. Brown Act) which includes, but is not limited to, 
additions for which the need to take action is declared to have arisen after the agenda was 
posted, as determined by a two-thirds vote of the Board of Directors (or if less than two-
thirds of the members are present, a unanimous vote of those members present). 
 

3.     Oral Communications Regarding Items in Closed Session: 
 This portion of the agenda is reserved for Oral Communications by the public for items 
which are on the Closed Session portion of the Agenda.  Any person may address the Board of 
Directors at this time, on Closed Session items.  Normally, presentations must not exceed three 
(3) minutes in length, and individuals may only speak once during Oral Communications. No 
actions may be taken by the Board of Directors on any Oral Communications presented; 
however, the Board of Directors may request that the matter be placed on a future agenda.  
Please state your name and town/city of residence at the beginning of your statement for the 
record. 
 

4.     Adjournment to Closed Session 
 At any time during the regular session, the Board may adjourn to Closed Session in 
compliance with, and as authorized by, California Government Code Section 54956.9 and 
Brown Act, Government Code Section 54950.  Members of the public will be given the 
opportunity to address any scheduled item prior to adjourning to closed session. 

 
 a. CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL- EXISTING LITIGATION 
  In re Appeal of OSHA Inspection No. 1676037 
  Case No. Pending 
  Gov. Code, § 54956.9  

   
 

     If necessary the Board of Directors may re-adjourn to Closed Session after the Open 
Session in order to complete the Closed Session agenda items, as allowed by the Brown 
Act and the District’s Board Policy Manual, Section 9.A.  All public comments regarding 
Closed Session items will be taken right after the meeting starts at 5:30 p.m.  

 
Closed Session Note:  

The Brown Act prohibits the disclosure of confidential information acquired 

in a closed session by any person present and offers various remedies to 

address willful breaches of confidentiality. These include injunctive relief, 

disciplinary action against an employee, and referral of a member of the 

legislative body to the grand jury. It is incumbent upon all those attending 

lawful closed sessions to protect the confidentiality of those discussions. Only 

the legislative body acting as a body may agree to divulge confidential closed 

session information; regarding attorney/client privileged communications, the 

entire body is the holder of the privilege and only a majority vote of the entire 

body can authorize the waive of the privilege. 
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   5.  Re-Convene Meeting 6:30 p.m./Roll Call 

 
6.      Report of Actions Taken in Closed Session  
 
7. Changes to the Agenda:  

 Additions to the Agenda, if any, may only be made in accordance with California     
         Government Code Section 54954.2 (Ralph M. Brown Act) which includes, but is not limited      
         to, additions for which the need to take action is declared to have arisen after the agenda     
         was posted, as determined by a two-thirds vote of the Board of Directors (or if less than  
         two-thirds of the members are present, a unanimous vote of those members present). 
 
 8.   Oral Communications: 

 This portion of the agenda is reserved for Oral Communications by the public on any 
subject that lies within the jurisdiction of the District and is not on the agenda. Any person 
may address the Board of Directors at this time.  Normally, presentations must not exceed 
three (3) minutes in length, and individuals may only speak once. Please understand that the 
Brown Act limits what the Board can do regarding issues not on the agenda. No action or 
discussion may occur on issues outside of those already listed on today’s agenda. Any 
Director may request that a matter raised during Oral Communication be placed on a future 
agenda.  

     
  9.  Unfinished Business: None 
 

   10.     New Business:  
  
 a. COMPREHENSIVE FINANCIAL REPORT FISCAL YEAR 2022-23  
  Discussion and possible action by the Board regarding the Comprehensive 
  Financial Report (audit) for FY 2022-23. 
 
 b. ALTA VIA PIPELINE REPLACEMENT PROJECT – CONTRACT CHANGE 
  ORDERS 
  Discussion and possible action by the Board regarding contract change  
  orders to the Alta Via Pipeline Replacement Project. 
 
 c. BOARD COMMITTEE ASSIGNMENTS FOR 2024  
  Discussion and possible action by the Board regarding assignments  
  proposed by the Board President to Standing Committees for 2024. 
   

   11.   Consent Agenda:  
   The Consent Agenda contains items that are considered to be routine in nature and will 
be deemed adopted by unanimous vote if no Director states an objection.  Any item on the 
consent agenda will be moved to the regular agenda upon request from an individual 
Director.   
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 a. REDWOOD PARK PIPELINE REPLACEMENT PROJECT-   
  CONSTRUCTION CHANGE ORDERS 
 b. FALL CREEK FISH LADDER REHABILITATION PROJECT-   
  CONSTRUCTION CHANGE ORDERS  
 c. LONG SERVICE LINE AGREEMENTS  
 d. MULITPLE USER VARIANCE 2024 
 e. BOARD MEETING MINUTES 11.2.23 
 f. BOARD SPECIAL MEETING MINUTES 11.8.23 
 g. BOARD MEETING MINUTES 11.16.23 
 

  12.    District Reports: None 
   No action will be taken and discussion may be limited at the Chairperson’s discretion. The 
District encourages that questions be submitted in writing (bod@slvwd.com) on items listed in 
the District Reports. Questions submitted, if any, will be posted in the next available District 
Reports, along with a reply. 

  
  13.   Written Communication:  

o Email sent to the Board of Directors from Big Basin Public Water Initiative 
12.15.23 with Letter from Big Basin Water customers 

 
  14.        Informational Material:  

o Public Committee Members 2024 
 
  15.   Adjournment 
 
 
  Certification of Posting 
 
 I hereby certify that on December 29, 2023, I posted a copy of the foregoing agenda in the 
 outside display case at the District Office, 13060 Highway 9, Boulder Creek, California,  
 the SLVWD Boardroom, 12788 Highway 9, Boulder Creek, said time being at least 72 hours in  
 advance of the meeting of the Board of Directors of the San Lorenzo Valley Water District  
 (Government Code Section 54954.2).  
 Executed at Boulder Creek, California on December 29, 2023. 

 
   _____________________________    

    Holly B. Hossack, District Secretary 
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MEMO 
 
 
DATE:  January 4, 2024 

TO:   Board of Directors, San Lorenzo Valley Water District 

FROM:  Brian Frus, Interim General Manager  

SUBJECT:  Annual Financial Statements FY 2022-23 (CAFR) 

 
WRITTEN BY:  Heather Ippoliti, Interim Finance Director (RGS)   

PRESENTED BY:  Heather Ippoliti & Jonathan Abadesco, Fedak & Brown LLP 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION  
 
It is recommended that the Board of Directors review this memo, receive the 

presentation from the firm Fedak & Brown, LLP and approve the SLVWD financial 

statements for the fiscal year 2022-23.  

 
RECOMMENDED MOTION  
 
I move that: 

The Board approves the District financial statements for the fiscal year 2022-23.  
 
BACKGROUND 

The District is required by the State of California Government Code to complete an 

independent audit of its financial statements at the end of each fiscal year. The District 

prepares annual financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting 

principles.  

As in previous years, the District received an “unqualified opinion,” meaning the financial 

statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the District as 

of June 30, 2023. Jonathan Abadesco from Fedak & Brown LLP will be present to 

address the Board.  

The statements furnish information concerning the District’s financial position and 

activities for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2023.  

Highlights: 

Agenda:  1.4.24
Item:  10a
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 Net position increased 7.01% or $2,836,801 to $43,311,965. Net position is made 

up of three components: net investment in capital assets, restricted net position 

and unrestricted net position. 

o Net investment in capital assets consists of capital assets, net of 

accumulated depreciation and reduced by any outstanding debt against 

the acquisition, construction, or improvement of those assets. Net 

investment in capital assets increased by 9.49% or $3,295,751.  

o Restricted net position increased by $35,994 to $1,145,225. This amount 

is restricted for contractual restricted amounts required by debt covenants 

and assessment districts. 

o Unrestricted net position decreased by $494,944 to $4,173,024. 

o The Water fund has a positive unrestricted net position of $4,208,747 and 

the Sewer fund has a deficit balance of $35,723. 

 Operating revenues decreased by 0.76% or $92,510 to $12,139,561, primarily 

due to a decrease in water consumption sales of $123,252, which was offset by 

an increase of $21,383 in meter sales, charges, and penalties. 

 Non-operating revenues increased by 44.72% or $707,024 to $2,288,100, 

primarily due to increases of $576,791 in investment income, $68,889 in property 

tax, $62,517 in operating grant. 

 Operating expenses increased by 1.57% or $135,690 to $8,787,118.  

 Non-operating expenses increased by 30.39% or $325,772 to $1,397,828, 

primarily due to increases of $254,092 in loss on disposal of capital assets and 

$94,918 in change in investment in JPA; which were offset by a decrease of 

$23,238 in interest expense.  

 Net income before capital contributions increased by $174,741 to $2,606,110 due 

primarily to ongoing operations. 

 Overall net position as of June 30, 2023, increased by $2.8 mil. 

 

PRIOR COMMITTEE ACTION 

None  

FISCAL IMPACT 

Agenda:  1.4.24
Item:  10a
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There is no direct fiscal impact related to the proposed action.  

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT 

Pursuant to Title 14, the California Code of Regulations, Section 15302(c) of the 

California Environmental Quality Act (“CEQA”) guidelines, the proposed action is an 

administrative activity of the City that will not result in direct or indirect physical changes 

to the environment. 

ATTACHMENTS AND RELEVANT LINKS TO DISTRICT WEBSITE 

 Draft Annual Financial Report – FY 2022-23 

 Fedak & Brown, LLP Presentation 

Agenda:  1.4.24
Item:  10a
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For the Fiscal Years June 30, 2023 and 2022 
 

 
 

Boulder Creek, California 
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Our Mission 
Our mission is to provide our customers and all future generations with reliable, 
safe, and high quality water at an equitable price; to create and maintain outstanding 
customer service; to manage and protect the environmental health of the aquifers 
and watersheds; and to ensure the fiscal vitality of the San Lorenzo Valley Water 
District. 

Elected/ Term
Name Title Appointed Expires

Mark Smolley President Appointed December 2026

Jayme Ackemann Director Appointed December 2024

Bob Fultz Director Elected December 2026

Jeff Hill Director Appointed December 2026

Gail Mahood President Elected December 2024

San Lorenzo Valley Water District

Board of Directors as of June 30, 2023

 

Rick Rogers, District Manager 
San Lorenzo Valley Water District 

13060 Highway 9 
Boulder Creek, California 95006 
(831) 338-2153 – www.slvwd.com

Agenda:  1.4.24
Item:  10a

9 



 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

San Lorenzo Valley Water District 
 

Annual Financial Report 
 

For the Fiscal Years Ended  
 

June 30, 2023 and 2022	
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Agenda:  1.4.24
Item:  10a

10 



 

i 

San Lorenzo Valley Water District 
Annual Financial Report 

For the Fiscal Years Ended June 30, 2023 and 2022 
 

Table of Contents 
 

 Page No. 
 
Table of Contents i-ii 

Financial Section 

Independent Auditor’s Report 1-3 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis 4-10 

Basic Financial Statements: 
 Statements of Net Position 11-12 
 Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position 13 
 Statements of Cash Flows 14-15 
 Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 16-46 

Required Supplemental Information: 
 Schedules of Changes in Net OPEB Liability and Related Ratios 47 
 Schedules of the District’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability 48-49 
 Schedules of Pension Plan Contributions 50 

Supplemental Information: 
 Combining Schedules of Net Position 51-52 
 Combining Schedules of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position 53 

Statistical Information Section 

Statistical Section – Table of Contents 54 
Changes in Net Position – Last Ten Fiscal Years 55-56 
Operating Revenues by Source – Last Ten Fiscal Years 57 
Operating Expenses by Activity – Last Ten Fiscal Years 58 
Revenue Base – Last Ten Fiscal Years 59 
Revenue Rates – Last Ten Fiscal Years 60 
Customers by Type – Last Ten Fiscal Years 61 
Principal Customers – Current Fiscal Year and Nine Years Ago 62 
Ratio of Outstanding Debt – Last Ten Fiscal Years 63 
Debt Coverage – Last Ten Fiscal Years 64 
Unfunded Employee Liabilities – Last Ten Fiscal Years 65 
Demographics and Economic Statistics – Last Ten Fiscal Years 66 
Full-Time Equivalent Employees – Last Ten Fiscal Years 67 
Operating and Capacity Indicators – Last Ten Fiscal Years 68 

Report on Internal Controls and Compliance 

Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
 and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on Audits of Financial  
 Statements Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards 69-70 

Acronyms and Glossary of Terms 71-75 

 

Agenda:  1.4.24
Item:  10a

11 



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Agenda:  1.4.24
Item:  10a

12 



 

 

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

Financial Section 

Agenda:  1.4.24
Item:  10a

13 



 

 

Agenda:  1.4.24
Item:  10a

14 



 

1 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Independent Auditor’s Report 

Board of Directors 
San Lorenzo Valley Water District 
Boulder Creek, California 

Opinion  

We have audited the financial statements of the business-type activities of the San Lorenzo Valley Water 
District (District), as of and for the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, and the related notes to the 
financial statements, which collectively comprise the District’s basic financial statements as listed in the 
table of contents. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
respective financial position of the business-type activities of the District, as of June 30, 2023 and 2022, 
and the respective changes in financial position for the years then ended in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America (GAAS) and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
section of our report. We are required to be independent of the District and to meet our other ethical 
responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audits. We believe 
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion. 

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 

The District’s management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, 
and for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and 
fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error.  

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or 
events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the District’s ability to continue as a 
going concern for twelve months beyond the financial statement date, including any currently known 
information that may raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter. 

Agenda:  1.4.24
Item:  10a
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Independent Auditor’s Report, continued 
 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and 
therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material 
if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment 
made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements.  

In performing audits in accordance with GAAS, we:  

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audits.  
 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 

fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such 
procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audits in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the District’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is 
expressed. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the 
financial statements. 

 Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, 
that raise substantial doubt about the District’s ability to continue as a going concern for a 
reasonable period of time. 

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audits, significant audit findings, and certain internal control–related 
matters that we identified during the audits.  

Required Supplementary Information 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s 
discussion and analysis on pages 4 through 10 and the required supplementary information on pages 47 
through 50 be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information is the 
responsibility of management and, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting 
for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. 
We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with 
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of 
management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for 
consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other 
knowledge we obtained during our audits of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion 
or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with 
sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.  

Agenda:  1.4.24
Item:  10a
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Independent Auditor’s Report, continued 
 

Supplementary Information 

Our audits were conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements that 
collectively comprise the District’s basic financial statements. The Combining Schedules of Net Position 
and the Combining Schedules of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position (Combining 
Schedules) on pages 51 through 53, are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a 
required part of the basic financial statements. 

The Combining Schedules are the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates 
directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. 
Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audits of the basic financial 
statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information 
directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to 
the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing 
standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the Combining Schedules 
are fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole. 

Other Information Included in the Annual Report 

Management is responsible for the other information included in the annual report. The other information 
comprises the statistical section on pages 54 through 68, and the acronyms and glossary of terms on pages 
71 through 75 but does not include the financial statements and our auditor's report thereon. Our opinion 
on the financial statements does not cover the other information, and we do not express an opinion or any 
form of assurance thereon. In connection with our audits of the financial statements, our responsibility is 
to read the other information and consider whether a material inconsistency exists between the other 
information and the financial statements, or the other information otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. If, based on the work performed, we conclude that an uncorrected material misstatement of the 
other information exists, we are required to describe it in our report. 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated January 4, 2024 
on our consideration of the District’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its 
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other 
matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over 
financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the 
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part 
of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the District’s 
internal control over financial reporting and compliance. 

 
 
 
C.J. Brown & Company, CPAs 
Cypress, California 
January 4, 2024 

Agenda:  1.4.24
Item:  10a
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San Lorenzo Valley Water District 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

For the Fiscal Years Ended June 30, 2023 and 2022 
 

4 

The following Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) of activities and financial performance 
of the San Lorenzo Valley Water District (District) provides an introduction to the financial statements of 
the District for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022. We encourage readers to consider the 
information presented here in conjunction with the transmittal letter in the Introductory Section and with 
the basic financial statements and related notes, which follow this section. 

Financial Highlights 

 The District’s net position increased 7.01% or $2,836,801 to $43,311,965. In 2022, the District’s 
net position increased 7.51% or $2,828,846 to $40,475,164. 

 The District’s operating revenues decreased 0.76% or $92,510 to $12,139,561. In 2022, the 
District’s operating revenues increased 6.71% or $769,442 to $12,232,071. 

 The District’s non-operating revenues increased 44.72% or $707,024 to $2,288,100. In 2022, the 
District’s non-operating revenues decreased 8.52% or $147,230 to $1,581,076. 

 The District’s operating expenses increased 1.57% or $135,690 to $8,787,118. In fiscal year 
2022, the District’s operating expenses decreased 10.76% or $1,042,989 to $8,651,428. 

 The District’s non-operating expenses increased 30.39% or $325,772 to $1,397,828. In 2022, the 
District’s non-operating expenses decreased 9.19% or $90,206 to $1,072,056. 

Required Financial Statements 

This annual report consists of a series of financial statements. The Statement of Net Position, Statement of 
Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position, and Statement of Cash Flows provide information 
about the activities and performance of the District using accounting methods similar to those used by 
private sector companies. 

The District’s statements consist of two funds, the Water Fund and the Sewer Fund. The District’s records 
are maintained on an enterprise basis, as it is the intent of the Board of Directors that the costs of 
providing water and sewer services to the District’s customers are financed primarily through user 
charges. 

The Statement of Net Position includes all of the District’s investments in resources (assets), deferred 
outflows of resources, the obligations to creditors (liabilities), and deferred inflows of resources. It also 
provides the basis for computing a rate of return, evaluating the capital structure of the District, and 
assessing the liquidity and financial flexibility of the District.  All of the current year’s revenues and 
expenses are accounted for in the Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position. This 
statement measures the success of the District’s operations over the past year and can be used to 
determine if the District has successfully recovered all of its costs through its rates and other charges. This 
statement can also be used to evaluate profitability and credit worthiness. The final required financial 
statement is the Statement of Cash Flows, which provides information about the District’s cash receipts 
and cash payments during the reporting period. The Statement of Cash Flows reports cash receipts, cash 
payments, and net change in cash resulting from operations, investing, non-capital financing, and capital 
and related financing activities, as well as providing answers to such questions as, where did cash come 
from, what was cash used for, and what was the change in cash balance during the reporting period. 

Agenda:  1.4.24
Item:  10a
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San Lorenzo Valley Water District 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis, continued 

For the Fiscal Years Ended June 30, 2023 and 2022 
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Financial Analysis of the District 

One of the most important questions asked about the District’s finances is, “Is the District better off or 
worse off as a result of this year’s activities?” The Statement of Net Position and the Statement of 
Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position report information about the District in a way that 
helps answer this question. 

These statements include all assets, deferred outflows, liabilities, and deferred inflows using the accrual 
basis of accounting, which is similar to the accounting used by most private sector companies. All of the 
current year’s revenues and expenses are taken into account regardless of when the cash is received or 
paid. 

These two statements report the District’s net position and changes in it. One can think of the District’s 
net position – the difference between assets plus deferred outflows of resources and liabilities plus 
deferred inflows of resources – as one way to measure the District’s financial health or financial position. 
Over time, increases or decreases in the District’s net position is one indicator of whether its financial 
health is improving or deteriorating. However, one will need to consider other non-financial factors such 
as change in economic conditions, population growth, zoning, and new or changed government 
legislation, such as change in Federal and State water quality standards. 

Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 

The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full understanding of the data provided in 
the basic financial statements. The notes to the basic financial statements can be found on pages 16 
through 46. 

Statement of Net Position 

Below is a summary of the statements of net position. 

2023 2022 Change 2021 Change

Assets:
Current assets $ 32,184,383   34,714,752   (2,530,369)    34,502,435   212,317        
Non-current assets 463,868        76,962          386,906        52,189          24,773          
Capital assets, net 51,121,727   45,297,765   5,823,962     44,402,883   894,882        -                -                 

Total assets 83,769,978   80,089,479   3,680,499     78,957,507   1,131,972     

Deferred outflows of resources 3,049,514     1,564,198     1,485,316     1,707,047     (142,849)       

Liabilities:
Current liabilities 5,020,448     2,826,671     2,193,777     3,035,157     (208,486)       
Non-current liabilities 37,600,221   35,702,166   1,898,055     39,915,761   (4,213,595)    

Total liabilities 42,620,669   38,528,837   4,091,832     42,950,918   (4,422,081)    

Deferred inflows of resources 886,858        2,649,676     (1,762,818)    67,318          2,582,358     

Net position:
Net investment in capital assets 37,993,716   34,697,965   3,295,751     33,871,628   826,337        
Restricted 1,145,225     1,109,231     35,994          302,122        807,109        
Unrestricted (deficit) 4,173,024     4,667,968     (494,944)       3,472,568     1,195,400     

Total net position $ 43,311,965   40,475,164   2,836,801     37,646,318   2,828,846     

Condensed Statements of Net Position
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Statement of Net Position, continued 

As noted earlier, net position may serve over time as a useful indicator of a government’s financial 
position. In the case of the District, assets and deferred outflows of resources exceeded liabilities and 
deferred inflows of resources by $43,311,965 and $40,475,164 as of June 30, 2023 and 2022, 
respectively. 

The District’s net position increased 7.01% or $2,836,801. In fiscal year 2022, the District’s net position 
increased 7.51% or $2,828,846. The District’s total net position is made up of three components: (1) net 
investment in capital assets; (2) restricted; and (3) unrestricted. 

At the end of fiscal year 2023 and 2022, the District showed an unrestricted net position of $4,173,024 
and $4,667,968, respectively. See Note 9 for the further information. 

By far the largest portion of the District’s net position (87.72% and 85.73% as of June 30, 2023 and 2022, 
respectively) reflects the District’s investment in capital assets (net of accumulated depreciation) less any 
related debt used to acquire those assets that is still outstanding. The District uses these capital assets to 
provide services to customers within the District’s service area; consequently, these assets are not 
available for future spending. See Note 9 for further information. 

Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position 

Below is a summary of the statements of changes in revenues, expenses, and changes in net position. 

2023 2022 Change 2021 Change

Revenues:
Operating revenues $ 12,139,561   12,232,071   (92,510)        11,462,629   769,442        

Non-operating revenues 2,288,100     1,581,076     707,024        1,728,306     (147,230)       

Total revenues 14,427,661   13,813,147   614,514        13,190,935   622,212        

Expenses:
Operating expenses 8,787,118     8,651,428     135,690        9,694,417     (1,042,989)    

Non-operating expenses 1,397,828     1,072,056     325,772        981,850        90,206          

Overhead absorption (210,614)       (180,218)       (30,396)        (379,539)       199,321        

Depreciation 1,847,219     1,838,242     8,977           1,728,054     110,188        

Total expenses 11,821,551   11,381,508   440,043        12,024,782   (643,274)       

Net income before capital

  contributions 2,606,110     2,431,639     174,471        1,166,153     1,265,486     

Capital contributions 230,691        397,207        (166,516)       3,031,227     (2,634,020)    

Changes in net position 2,836,801     2,828,846     7,955           4,197,380     (1,368,534)    

Net position, beginning of year 40,475,164   37,646,318   2,828,846     33,448,938   4,197,380     

Net position, end of year $ 43,311,965   40,475,164   2,836,801     37,646,318   2,828,846     

Condensed Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position

 

A closer examination of the sources of changes in net position reveals that: 

The District’s net position increased 7.01% or $2,836,801 to $43,311,965, due primarily to ongoing 
operations. 

In fiscal year 2022, the District’s net position increased 7.51% or $2,828,846 to $40,475,164, due 
primarily to ongoing operations. 
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Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position, continued 

Total Revenues 

2023 2022 Change 2021 Change

Operating revenues:
Water consumption sales $ 11,778,792   11,902,044   (123,252)       11,139,017   763,027        

Wastewater service 173,020        173,034        (14)               161,007        12,027          

Meter sales, charges, and penalties 177,785        156,402        21,383          157,486        (1,084)          

Other charges and services 9,964           591              9,373           5,119           (4,528)          

Total operating revenues 12,139,561   12,232,071   (92,510)        11,462,629   769,442        

Non-operating revenues:
Property tax 965,059        896,170        68,889          847,676        48,494          

Assessment revenues 340,764        343,333        (2,569)          343,086        247              

Investment return 703,020        126,229        576,791        131,657        (5,428)          

Operating grant 213,593        151,076        62,517          334,681        (183,605)       

Rental revenue 54,367          54,840          (473)             50,558          4,282           

Gain on disposal of capital assets -                  -                  13,706          (13,706)        

Settlement and purchase agreements 11,297          9,428           1,869           6,942           2,486           

Total non-operating revenues 2,288,100     1,581,076     707,024        1,728,306     (147,230)       

Capital contributions:
Capital grants - other governments 230,691        397,207        (166,516)       3,031,227     (2,634,020)    

Total revenues $ 14,658,352   14,210,354   447,998        16,222,162   (2,011,808)    
 

The District’s total revenues increased 3.90% or $447,998. Operating revenues decreased 0.76% or 
$92,510, primarily due to a decrease in water consumption sales of $123,252, which was offset by an 
increase of $21,383 in meter sales, charges, and penalties. Non-operating revenues increased 44.72% or 
$707,024, primarily due to increases of $576,791 in investment income, $68,889 in property tax, $62,517 
in operating grant. Capital contributions decreased by $166,516. 

In fiscal year 2022, the District’s total revenues decreased 12.40% or $2,011,808. Operating revenues 
increased 6.71% or $769,442, primarily due to an increase in water consumption sales of $763,027. Non-
operating revenues decreased 8.52% or $147,230, primarily due to a decreases of $183,605 in operating 
grants, which was offset by an increase of $48,494 in property taxes. Capital contributions decreased 
$2,634,020. 
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Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position, continued 

Total Expenses 

2023 2022 Change 2021 Change

Operating expenses including
  depreciation expense:

Salaries and benefits $ 5,849,200     5,308,006     541,194        6,036,430     (728,424)       

Professional services 1,032,345     1,582,052     (549,707)       1,823,155     (241,103)       

Operational 563,646        478,768        84,878          509,163        (30,395)        
Maintenance 225,600        203,623        21,977          200,846        2,777           

Facilities 637,129        642,332        (5,203)          698,229        (55,897)        

General and administrative 479,198        436,647        42,551          426,594        10,053          

Depreciation 1,847,219     1,838,242     8,977           1,728,054     110,188        

Total operating expenses

  including depreciation expense 10,634,337   10,489,670   144,667        11,422,471   (932,801)       

Non-operating expenses:
Interest expense 929,718        952,956        (23,238)        772,887        180,069        

Change in investment in JPA 112,145        17,227          94,918          153,963        (136,736)       
Bond issuance cost -                  -                  -                  55,000          (55,000)        

Loss on disposition of capital assets 355,965        101,873        254,092        -                  101,873        

Total non-operating expenses 1,397,828     1,072,056     325,772        981,850        90,206          

Total expenses $ 12,032,165   11,561,726   470,439        12,404,321   (842,595)       
 

The District’s total expenses increased 4.07% or $470,439. The District’s operating expenses (including 
depreciation expense) increased 1.38% or $144,667 primarily due to increases of $541,194 in salaries and 
benefits, $84,878 in operational, $42,551 in general and administrative, $21,977 in maintenance; which 
were offset by a decrease of $549,707 in professional services. The District’s non-operating expenses 
increased $325,772 primarily due to increases of $254,092 in loss on disposal of capital assets and 
$94,918 in change in investment in JPA; which were offset by a decrease of $23,238 in interest expense. 

In fiscal year 2022, the District’s total expenses decreased 6.79% or $842,595. The District’s operating 
expenses (including depreciation expense) decreased 8.17% or $932,801 primarily due to decreases of 
$728,424 in salaries and benefits, $241,103 in professional services, $55,897 in facilities, and $30,395 in 
operational; which were offset by an increase of $110,188 in depreciation, The decrease in salaries and 
benefits include non-cash transactions of $179,771 related to OPEB and pension. The District’s non-
operating expenses increased $90,206 primarily due to increases of $180,069 in interest expense, and 
$101,873 in loss on disposition of capital assets; which were offset by decreases of $136,736 in change in 
investment in JPA and $55,000 in bond issuance cost. 

Capital Asset Administration 

The change in capital assets for 2023, was as follows: 

Balance Transfers/ Balance
2022 Additions Disposals 2023

Capital assets:
Non-depreciable assets $ 10,572,117    8,027,145     (4,556,076)    14,043,186    
Depreciable assets 70,429,934    4,556,076     (756,992)       74,229,018    
Accumulated depreciation (35,704,286)  (1,847,219)    401,028        (37,150,477)  

Total capital assets $ 45,297,765    10,736,002    (4,912,040)    51,121,727    
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Capital Asset Administration, continued 

The change in capital assets for 2022, was as follows: 

Balance Transfers/ Balance
2021 Additions Disposals 2022

Capital assets:
Non-depreciable assets $ 12,361,800    2,837,366     (4,627,049)    10,572,117    
Depreciable assets 66,377,030    4,627,050     (574,146)       70,429,934    
Accumulated depreciation (34,335,947)  (1,838,242)    469,903        (35,704,286)  

Total capital assets $ 44,402,883    5,626,174     (4,731,292)    45,297,765    
 

The District’s investment in capital assets (net of accumulated depreciation) amounted to $51,121,727. 
Major capital assets additions during the year included upgrades to the District’s water transmission and 
distribution system, and field and shop equipment1. 

At the end of fiscal year 2022, the District’s investment in capital assets (net of accumulated depreciation) 
amounted to $45,297,765. Major capital assets additions during the year included upgrades to the 
District’s water transmission and distribution system, field and shop equipment, and transportation 
equipment. 

See Note 4 for further information. 

Debt Administration 

The change in long-term debt amounts for 2023, was as follows: 

Balance Principal Balance
2022 Additions Payments 2023

Long-term debt:
Notes payable $ 18,497,385    -                  (957,367)       17,540,018    
Certificate of participation 14,353,548    -                  (289,578)       14,063,970    

Total long-term debt $ 32,850,933    -                  (1,246,945)    31,603,988    
 

The change in long term debt amounts for 2022, was as follows: 

Balance Principal Balance
2021 Additions Payments 2022

Long-term debt:
Notes payable $ 19,429,630    -                  (932,245)       18,497,385    
Bonds payable 103,247        -                  (103,247)       -                  
Certificate-of-participation 14,628,127    -                  (274,579)       14,353,548    
Capital lease payable 22,933          -                  (22,933)        -                  

Total long-term debt $ 34,183,937    -                  (1,333,004)    32,850,933    
 

 
1 Capital assets are at original purchase price and not replacement cost. 
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Debt Administration, continued 

The District’s long-term debt decreased $1,246,945, primarily due to principal payments. 

In fiscal year 2022, the District’s long-term debt decreased $1,333,004, primarily due to principal 
payments. 

See Note 6 for further information. 

Conditions Affecting Current Financial Position 

On August 2020, the District suffered damages to its water infrastructures caused by the Boulder Creek 
Fire. As of fiscal year 2023, the District continued working with other agencies to rebuild and repair 
damages caused by the fire. 

Management is unaware of any other conditions which could have a significant impact on the District’s 
current financial position, net position, or operating results in terms of past, present, and future. 

Requests for Information 

This financial report is designed to provide the District’s funding sources, customers, stakeholders, and 
other interested parties with an overview of the District’s financial operations and financial condition. 
Should the reader have questions regarding the information included in this report or wish to request 
additional financial information, please contact the District at San Lorenzo Valley Water District, 13060 
Highway 9, Boulder Creek, California 95006, (831) 430-4620. 
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2023 2022

Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents (note 2) $ 305,997        405,280        
Cash and cash equivalents – restricted (note 2) 1,145,225     23,360,364    
Investments (note 2) 7,240,620     5,719,782     
Investments - restricted (note 2) 18,127,969    -                  
Accrued interest receivable 672              158              
Accounts receivable – water sales and services 1,876,552     1,880,582     
Accounts receivable – property taxes 33,414          18,840          
Accounts receivable – grant and loan receivable (note 4) 2,802,932     3,003,894     
Accounts receivable – other 253,413        15,378          
Due from other fund 18                -                  
Prepaid expenses 44,697          20,716          
Materials and supplies inventory 352,874        289,758        

Total current assets 32,184,383    34,714,752    

Non-current assets:
Investments - restricted (note 2) 348,008        -                  
Investments in joint-powers authority (note 3) 115,860        76,962          
Capital assets – not being depreciated (note 4) 14,043,186    10,572,117    
Capital assets – being depreciated (note 4) 37,078,541    34,725,648    

Total non-current assets 51,585,595    45,374,727    

Total assets 83,769,978    80,089,479    

Deferred outflows of resources:
Deferred OPEB outflows (note 7) 549,943        618,648        
Deferred pension outflows (note 8) 2,499,571     945,550        

Total deferred outflows of resources $ 3,049,514     1,564,198     

Continued on next page

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements
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2023 2022

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expense $ 2,930,689     819,832        
Accrued wages and related payables 190,349        155,164        
Unearned revenues – customer deposits 108,205        90,861          
Unearned revenues – construction deposits 21,985          13,978          
Accrued interest payable 295,918        306,141        
Long-term liabilities – due in one year:
  Compensated absences (note 5) 191,172        193,647        
  Loans payable (note 6) 982,551        957,469        
  Certificate-of-participation (note 6) 299,579        289,579        

Total current liabilities 5,020,448     2,826,671     

Non-current liabilities:
Long-term liabilities – due in more than one year:
  Compensated absences (note 5) 339,860        344,261        
  Loans payable (note 6) 16,557,467   17,539,916   
  Certificate-of-participation (note 6) 13,764,391   14,063,969   
  Net OPEB liability (note 7) 1,533,578     1,517,577     
  Net pension liability (note 8) 5,404,925     2,236,443     

Total non-current liabilities 37,600,221   35,702,166   

Total liabilities 42,620,669   38,528,837   

Deferred inflows of resources
Deferred OPEB inflows (note 7) 639,558        688,564        
Deferred pension inflows (note 8) 247,300        1,961,112     

Total deferred inflows of resources 886,858        2,649,676     

Net position: (note 10)

Net investment in capital assets 37,993,716   34,697,965   
Restricted 1,145,225     1,109,231     
Unrestricted 4,173,024     4,667,968     

Total net position $ 43,311,965   40,475,164   

-                  -                  
See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements
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2023 2022

Operating revenues:
Water consumption sales $ 11,778,792    11,902,044    
Wastewater service 173,020        173,034        
Meter sales, charges, and penalties 177,785        156,402        
Other charges and services 9,964           591              

Total operating revenues 12,139,561    12,232,071    

Operating expenses:
Salaries and benefits 5,849,200     5,308,006     
Professional services 1,032,345     1,582,052     
Operational 563,646        478,768        
Maintenance 225,600        203,623        
Facilities 637,129        642,332        
General and administrative 479,198        436,647        

Total operating expenses 8,787,118     8,651,428     

Operating income before overhead absorption 3,352,443     3,580,643     
  Overhead absorption 210,614        180,218        

Operating income before depreciation expense 3,563,057     3,760,861     
  Depreciation expense (1,847,219)    (1,838,242)    

Operating income 1,715,838     1,922,619     

Non-operating revenues(expenses):
Property tax 965,059        896,170        
Assessment revenues 340,764        343,333        
Investment earnings 703,020        126,229        
Change in investment in Santa Margarita Groundwater Agency (112,145)       (17,227)        
Operating grant 213,593        151,076        
Rental revenue 54,367          54,840          
Interest expense (929,718)       (952,956)       
Gain on disposition of capital assets (355,965)       (101,873)       
Settlement and purchase agreements 11,297          9,428           

Total non-operating revenues, net 890,272        509,020        

Net income before capital contributions 2,606,110     2,431,639     

Capital contributions:
Capital grants – other governments 230,691        397,207        

Total capital contributions 230,691        397,207        

Changes in net position 2,836,801     2,828,846     

Net position, beginning of year 40,475,164    37,646,318    

Net position, end of year $ 43,311,965    40,475,164    

-                  -                  
See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements
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2023 2022

Cash flows from operating activities:
Cash receipts from customers for sales and services $ 11,932,222    12,244,860    
Cash paid to employees for salaries and wages (5,820,891)    (5,363,451)    
Cash paid to vendors for materials and services (757,231)       (3,380,729)    

Net cash provided by operating activities 5,354,100     3,500,680     

Cash flows from non-capital financing activities:
Proceeds from property taxes/assessments 1,291,249     1,220,730     
Proceeds from rental revenue 54,367          54,840          
Operating grant 213,593        151,076        

Net cash provided by non-capital financing activities 1,559,209     1,426,646     

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities:
Acquisition and construction of capital assets (8,027,146)    (2,834,997)    
Proceeds from capital contributions 431,653        399,588        
Principal paid on long-term debt (1,246,945)    (1,333,004)    
Interest paid on long-term debt (939,941)       (970,970)       

Net cash used in capital and related
  financing activities (9,782,379)    (4,739,383)    

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of investments (19,996,815)  (1,634,131)    
Santa Margarita Groundwater Agency contribution (151,043)       (42,000)        
Proceeds from investment earnings 702,506        126,140        

Net cash used in investing activities (19,445,352)  (1,549,991)    

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (22,314,422)  (1,362,048)    

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 23,765,644    25,127,692    

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 1,451,222     23,765,644    

Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents to statements 
  of net position:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 305,997        405,280        
Cash and cash equivalents – restricted 1,145,225     23,360,364    

Total cash and cash equivalents $ 1,451,222     23,765,644    

-                  -                  
Continued on next page

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements
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2023 2022

Reconciliation of operating income to net cash 
  provided by operating activities:

Operating income $ 1,715,838     1,922,619     

Adjustments to reconcile operating income to net cash
provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 1,847,219     1,838,242     
Settlement and purchase agreements 11,297          9,428           

Change in assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities,
  and deferred inflows of resources:

(Increase)decrease in assets and deferred outflows of resources:
Accounts receivable – water sales and services, net 4,030           15,606          
Accounts receivable – other (238,053)       (1,962)          
Prepaid expenses (23,981)        56,236          
Materials and supplies inventory (63,116)        6,367           

Deferred outflows of resources (1,485,316)    142,849        

Increase(decrease) in liabilities and deferred inflows of resources:
Accounts payable and accrued expense 2,110,857     (100,948)       
Accrued wages and related payables 35,185          40,756          
Unearned revenues – customer deposits 17,344          (15,091)        
Unearned revenues – construction deposits 8,007           5,399           
Compensated absences (6,876)          (96,201)        
Net OPEB liability 16,001          (611,305)       
Net pension liability 3,168,482     (2,293,673)    

Deferred inflows of resources (1,762,818)    2,582,358     

Total adjustments 3,638,262     1,578,061     

Net cash provided by operating activities $ 5,354,100     3,500,680     

-                  -                  
See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements
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Note 1 Reporting Entity and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

A. Organization and Operations of the Reporting Entity 

The San Lorenzo Valley Water District (District) is an independent special district established in 1941, 
pursuant to Section 30,000 et seq. of the California Water Code for the purpose of developing and 
providing water for domestic use, fire protection, and recreation in the San Lorenzo Valley. Additionally, 
the District provides sewer service to the Bear Creek Estates area within the District. The District utilizes 
separate Water and Sewer funds to account for District operations. The District is governed by a five-
member Board of Directors elected by the voters in the area serving four-year terms. The District 
provides approximately 7,900 customers with water service and 56 customers with sewer service within 
its service area. 

B. Basis of Accounting and Measurement Focus 

The District reports its activities as an enterprise fund, which is used to account for operations that are 
financed and operated in a manner similar to a private business enterprise, where the intent of the District 
is that the costs of providing water and sewer services to its customers on a continuing basis be financed 
or recovered primarily through user charges (water and sewer service fees). Revenues and expenses are 
recognized on the full accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recognized in the accounting period in 
which they are earned and expenses are recognized in the period incurred, regardless of when the related 
cash flows take place. 

Operating revenues, such as water and sewer fees, result from exchange transactions associated with the 
principal activity of the District. Exchange transactions are those in which each party receives and gives 
up essentially equal values. Non-operating revenues, such as property taxes and investment income, result 
from non-exchange transactions, which the District gives (receives) value without directly receiving 
(giving) value in exchange. 

The District recognizes revenue from water and sewer service charges based on cycle billings performed 
every month. The District accrues revenues with respect to water and sewer service sold, but not billed, at 
the end of a fiscal period. 

C. Financial Reporting 

The District’s basic financial statements have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP), as applied to enterprise funds. The 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted standard-setting body for 
establishing governmental accounting and financial reporting principles. The District solely operates as a 
special-purpose government which means it is only engaged in business-type activities; accordingly, 
activities are reported in the District’s proprietary fund. 
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Note 1 Reporting Entity and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, continued 

C. Financial Reporting, continued 

The District has adopted the following GASB pronouncements in the current year: 

In March 2020, the GASB issued Statement No. 94 – Public-Private and Public-Public Partnerships and 
Availability Payment Arrangements. The primary objective of this Statement is to improve financial 
reporting by addressing issues related to public-private and public-public partnership arrangements 
(PPPs). As used in this Statement, a PPP is an arrangement in which a government (the transferor) 
contracts with an operator (a governmental or nongovernmental entity) to provide public services by 
conveying control of the right to operate or use a nonfinancial asset, such as infrastructure or other capital 
asset (the underlying PPP asset), for a period of time in an exchange or exchange-like transaction. Some 
PPPs meet the definition of a service concession arrangement (SCA), which the Board defines in this 
Statement as a PPP in which (1) the operator collects and is compensated by fees from third parties; (2) 
the transferor determines or has the ability to modify or approve which services the operator is required to 
provide, to whom the operator is required to provide the services, and the prices or rates that can be 
charged for the services; and (3) the transferor is entitled to significant residual interest in the service 
utility of the underlying PPP asset at the end of the arrangement.  

This Statement also provides guidance for accounting and financial reporting for availability payment 
arrangements (APAs). As defined in this Statement, an APA is an arrangement in which a government 
compensates an operator for services that may include designing, constructing, financing, maintaining, or 
operating an underlying nonfinancial asset for a period of time in an exchange or exchange-like 
transaction. 

The requirements of this Statement are effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2022, and all 
reporting periods thereafter. Earlier application is encouraged. 

In May 2020, the GASB issued Statement No. 96 – Subscription-Based Information Technology 
Arrangements. This Statement provides guidance on the accounting and financial reporting for 
subscription-based information technology arrangements (SBITAs) for government end users 
(governments). This Statement (1) defines a SBITA; (2) establishes that a SBITA results in a right-to-use 
subscription asset—an intangible asset—and a corresponding subscription liability; (3) provides the 
capitalization criteria for outlays other than subscription payments, including implementation costs of a 
SBITA; and (4) requires note disclosures regarding a SBITA. To the extent relevant, the standards for 
SBITAs are based on the standards established in Statement No. 87, Leases, as amended. 

The requirements of this Statement are effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2022, and all 
reporting periods thereafter. Earlier application is encouraged. 

D. Assets, Deferred Outflows, Liabilities, Deferred Inflows, and Net Position 

1. Use of Estimates 

The preparation of the basic financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting 
principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts 
of assets, deferred outflows, liabilities, and deferred inflows, and disclosures of contingent assets, 
deferred outflows, liabilities, and deferred inflows at the date of the financial statements and the 
reported changes in net position during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those 
estimates. 
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Note 1 Reporting Entity and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, continued 

D. Assets, Deferred Outflows, Liabilities, Deferred Inflows, and Net Position, continued 

2. Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Substantially all of the District’s cash is invested in interest bearing accounts. The District considers 
all highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents. 

3. Investments and Investment Policy 

The District has adopted an investment policy to deposit and invest funds in financial institutions in 
accordance with California Government Code section 53600. The investment policy applies to all 
financial assets and investment activities of the District. 

Changes in fair value that occur during a fiscal year are recognized as investment income reported for 
that fiscal year. Investment income includes interest earnings, changes in fair value, and any gains or 
losses realized upon the liquidation or sale of investments. 

4. Fair Value Measurement 

The District categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy established by 
generally accepted accounting principles. 

The hierarchy is based on valuation inputs used to measure the fair value of assets as follows: 

 Level 1 – Valuation is based on quoted prices in active markets for identical assets. 
 Level 2 – Valuation is based on directly observable and indirectly observable inputs. These 

inputs are derived principally from or corroborated by observable market data through 
correlation or market-corroborated inputs. The concept of market-corroborated inputs 
incorporates observable market data such as interest rates and yield curves that are observable 
at commonly quoted intervals. 

 Level 3 – Valuation is based on unobservable inputs where assumptions are made based on 
factors such as prepayment rates, probability of default, loss severity, and other assumptions 
that are internally generated and cannot be observed in the market. 

5. Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Uncollectible Accounts 

The District extends credit to customers in the normal course of operations. When management 
deems customer accounts uncollectible, the District uses the allowance method for the reservation and 
write-off of those accounts. 

6. Property Taxes and Assessments 

The Santa Cruz County Assessor’s Office assesses all real and personal property within the County 
each year. The Santa Cruz Tax Collector’s Office bills and collects the District’s share of property 
taxes and assessments. The Santa Cruz County Treasurer’s Office remits current and delinquent 
property tax collections to the District throughout the year. Property tax in California is levied in 
accordance with Article 13A of the State Constitution at one percent (1%) of countywide assessed 
valuations. 

Property taxes receivable at year-end are related to property taxes collected by the Santa Cruz County 
which have not been credited to the District’s cash balance as of June 30. The property tax calendar is 
as follows:  

Lien date March 1 
Levy date July 1 
Due dates November 1 and March 1 
Collection dates December 10 and April 10 
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Note 1 Reporting Entity and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, continued 

D. Assets, Deferred Outflows, Liabilities, Deferred Inflows, and Net Position, continued 

7. Materials and Supplies Inventory 

Materials and supplies inventory consists primarily of water meters, pipes, and pipefittings for 
construction and repair to the District’s water transmission and distribution system. Inventory is 
valued at cost using a weighted average method. Inventory items are charged to expense at the time 
those items are withdrawn from inventory or consumed. 

8. Prepaid Expenses 

Certain payments to vendors reflect costs or deposits applicable to future accounting periods and are 
recorded as prepaid items in the basic financial statements. 

9. Capital Assets 

Capital assets acquired and/or constructed are capitalized at historical cost. District policy has set the 
capitalization threshold for reporting capital assets at $5,000. Donated assets are recorded at 
acquisition value rather than fair market value at the date of donation. Upon retirement or other 
disposition of capital assets, the cost and related accumulated depreciation are removed from the 
respective balances, and any gains or losses are recognized. Depreciation is recorded on a straight-
line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows: 

 Transmission and distribution mains – 33 to 50 years 
 Buildings – 33 years 
 Transportation and other equipment – 10 years 
 Computer and office equipment – 5 years 

10. Deferred Outflows of Resources 

Deferred outflows of resources represent the consumption of resources that is applicable to future 
periods.  

11. Construction Advances and Deposits 

Construction deposits are collected by the District to cover the cost of construction projects within the 
District. Funds in excess of project costs are refunded to the customer. 

12. Compensated Absences 

The District’s policy is to permit employees to accumulate earned paid time off. The liability for 
vested vacation and sick leave is recorded as an expense when earned. 

Upon termination or retirement, permanent employees are entitled to receive compensation at their 
current base salary for all unused paid time off except for those employees that have not completed 
the probationary period. 

13. Deferred Inflows of Resources 

Deferred inflows of resources represent the acquisition of resources that is applicable to future 
periods. 
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Note 1 Reporting Entity and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, continued 

D. Assets, Deferred Outflows, Liabilities, Deferred Inflows, and Net Position, continued 

14. Pensions 

For the purpose of measuring net pension liability, deferred outflows/inflows of resources related to 
pension, pension expense, and information about the fiduciary net position of the District’s California 
Public Employees’ Retirement System (CalPERS) plans (Plans), addition to/deduction from the 
Plans’ fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by 
CalPERS. For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are 
recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at 
fair value. GASB 68 requires that the reported results must pertain to liability and asset information 
within certain defined timeframes. For fiscal years 2023 and 2022, the following timeframes are used: 

 Valuation dates:   June 30, 2021 and 2020 
 Measurement dates:  June 30, 2022 and 2021 
 Measurement periods: July 1, 2021 to June 30, 2022; and July 1, 2020 to June 30, 2021 

15. Water and Sewer Sales 

The District recognizes water and sewer service charges based on cycle billings rendered to 
customers each month. 

16. Capital Contributions 

Capital contributions represent cash and capital asset additions contributed to the District by property 
owners, granting agencies, or real estate developers desiring services that require capital expenditures 
or capacity commitment. 

17. Net Position 

The District follows the financial reporting requirements of the GASB and reports net position under 
the following classifications: 

 Net investment in capital assets – consists of capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation 
and reduced by any outstanding debt against the acquisition, construction, or improvement of 
those assets. 

 Restricted – consists of constraints placed on net position use through external constraints 
imposed by creditors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other governments or constraints 
imposed by law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. 

 Unrestricted – consists of net position that does not meet the definition of restricted or net 
investment in capital assets components of net position. 

18. Budgetary Policies 

The District adopts an annual non-appropriated budget for planning, control, and evaluation purposes. 
Budgetary control and evaluation are affected by comparisons of actual revenues and expenses with 
planned revenues and expenses for the period. Encumbrance accounting is not used to account for 
commitments related to unperformed contracts for construction and services. 
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Note 2 Cash and Investments 

Cash and investments as of June 30, are classified as follows: 

2023 2022

Cash and cash equivalents $ 305,997 405,280
Cash and cash equivalents, restricted 1,145,225 23,360,364
Investments – current 7,240,620 5,719,782     
Investments – current, restricted 18,127,969    -                  
Investments – non current, restricted 348,008        -                  

Total cash and investments $ 27,167,819    29,485,426    
 

Cash and investments as of June 30, consist of the following: 

2023 2022

Cash on hand $ 305              340              
Deposits with financial institutions 874,785        886,952        
Investments 26,292,729    28,598,134    

Total cash and investments $ 27,167,819    29,485,426    
 

As of June 30, the District’s authorized deposits had the following average days to maturity: 

2023 2022

Deposits held with the California Local
  Agency Investment Fund 260 days 311 days
Deposits held with the County of Santa
  Cruz Investment Fund 229 days 430 days

 

As of June 30, 2023, the District’s investment was allocated as follows: 

Percent
2023 Allocation

Local Agency Investment Fund $ 85,613          0.33             %
County of Santa Cruz Investment Fund 7,431,758     28.27           
U.S. Treasury Billl 12,447,638    47.34           
U.S. Treasury Note 2,576,488     9.80             
Money Market Mutual Funds 3,451,851     13.13           
Held by bond trustee:

Money market funds 299,381        1.14             

Total $ 26,292,729    100.00         %

Investment Type
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Note 2 Cash and Investments, continued 

As of June 30, 2022, the District’s investment was allocated as follows: 

Percent
2022 Allocation

Local Agency Investment Fund $ 84,154          0.29             %
County of Santa Cruz Investment Fund 28,215,135    98.66           
Held by bond trustee:

Money market funds 298,845        1.04             

Total $ 28,598,134    100.00         %

Investment Type

 

Investments Authorized by the California Government Code and the District’s Investment Policy  

The following table identifies the investment types that are authorized by the District in accordance with 
the California Government Code (or the District’s investment policy, where more restrictive). The table 
also identifies certain provisions of the California Government Code (or the District’s investment policy, 
where more restrictive) that address interest rate risk, credit risk, and concentration of credit risk. This 
table does not address investments of debt proceeds held by bond trustees that are governed by the 
provisions of debt agreements of the District; rather, the table addresses the general provisions of the 
California Government Code or the District’s investment policy. 

Maximum Maximum
Maximum Percentage Investment
Maturity of Portfolio in One Issuer
5 years None None
5 years None None
5 years 30% 10%

270 days 10% 10%
N/A 20% None
N/A None None
N/A None None

Certificates-of-deposit (negotiable or placed)

U.S. Treasury obligations
Federal agency and bank obligations

Authorized
Investment Type

Commercial paper (prime)
Money market mutual funds

California Local Agency Investment Fund (LAIF)
County of Santa Cruz Investment Fund

 

Custodial Credit Risk 

The custodial credit risk for deposits is the risk that, in the event of failure of a depository financial 
institution, a government will not be able to recover its deposits or will not be able to recover collateral 
securities that are in the possession of an outside party. The custodial credit risk for investments is the risk 
that, in the event of failure of the counterparty (e.g., broker-dealer) to a transaction, a government will not 
be able to recover the value of its investment or collateral securities that are in the possession of another 
party. With respect to investments, custodial credit risk generally applies only to direct investments in 
marketable securities. Custodial credit risk does not apply to a local government’s indirect investment in 
securities through the use of mutual funds or government investment pools (such as LAIF). 

The California Government Code and the District’s investment policy do not contain legal and policy 
requirements that would limit the exposure to custodial credit risk for deposits or investments, other than 
the following provisions for deposits: The California Government Code requires that a financial 
institution secure deposits made by state or local governmental units by pledging securities in an 
undivided collateral pool held by a depository regulated under state law (unless so waived by the 
governmental unit). The market value of the pledged securities in the collateral pool must equal at least 
110% of the total amount deposited by public agencies. As of June 30, 2023 and 2022, bank balances are 
federally insured up to $250,000. The remaining balance is collateralized in accordance with the Code; 
however, the collateralized securities are not held in the District’s name. 
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Note 2 Cash and Investments, continued 

Investment in State Investment Pool 

The District is a voluntary participant in the California Local Agency Investment Fund (LAIF) that is 
regulated by the California Government Code under the oversight of the Treasurer of the State of 
California. The fair value of the District’s investment in this pool is reported in the accompanying 
financial statements at amounts based upon the District’s pro-rata share of the fair value provided by 
LAIF for the entire LAIF portfolio (in relation to the amortized cost of that portfolio). The fair value 
factor for LAIF is reported on a quarterly basis. The balance available for withdrawal is based on the 
accounting records maintained by LAIF, which are recorded on an amortized cost basis. 

The District’s deposit and withdrawal restrictions and limitations are as follows: 

 Same day transaction processing occurs for orders received before 10:00 a.m. 
 Next day transactions processing occurs for orders received after 10:00 a.m. 
 Maximum limit of 15 transactions (combination of deposits and withdrawals) per month. 
 Minimum transaction amount requirement of $5,000, in increments of $1,000. 
 Withdrawals of $10 million or more require 24 hours advance. 
 Prior to funds transfer, an authorized person must call LAIF to do a verbal transaction. 

Investment in County of Santa Cruz Investment Pool 

The District is a voluntary participant in the County of Santa Cruz Investment Fund (Fund) that is 
established and controlled by the Treasury-Tax Department of the County of Santa Cruz to afford smaller 
agencies the benefits of a larger investment portfolio, including higher interest rates and greater 
diversification. Authority for the County of Santa Cruz Investment Fund is delegated to the County of 
Santa Cruz Treasurer. The fair value of the District’s investment in this fund is reported in the 
accompanying financial statements at amounts based upon the District’s pro-rata share of the fair value 
for the entire Fund portfolio (in relation to the amortized cost of that portfolio). The balance available for 
withdrawal is based on the accounting records maintained by the Fund, which are stated at cost in 
accordance with GASB Statement No. 31, “Accounting and Financial Reporting for Certain Investments 
and for External Investment Pools”. 

The District’s deposit and withdrawal restrictions and limitations are as follows: 

 Notice must be submitted to the County at least one day prior to actual fund transfer or 
withdrawal. 

 Transactions amounting to $1 million must be provided with a 2 day notice. 
 All requests must be in writing. Verbal transactions are not permitted. 

Interest Rate Risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the change in market interest rates will adversely affect the fair value of an 
investment. Generally, the longer the maturity of an investment, the greater the sensitivity of its fair value 
to the change in market interest rates. One of the ways that the District manages its exposure to interest 
rate risk is by purchasing a combination of shorter term and longer term investments, and by timing cash 
flows from maturities so that a portion of the portfolio matures or comes close to maturity evenly over 
time as necessary to provide for cash flow requirements and liquidity needed for operations. 

Concentration of Credit Risk 

The District’s investment policy contains no limitations on the amount that can be invested in any one 
issuer beyond that stipulated by the California Government Code. There were no investments in any one 
issuer (other than for U.S. Treasury securities, mutual funds, and external investment pools) that represent 
5% or more of total District’s investments at June 30, 2023 and 2022. 
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Note 2 Cash and Investments, continued 

As of June 30, 2023, the District’s investments are scheduled to mature as follows: 

12 Months 13 to 24 25 to 60
Total or Less Months Months

Local Agency Investment Fund $ 85,613          85,613          -                  -                  
County of Santa Cruz Investment Fund 7,431,758     7,431,758     -                  -                  
U.S. Treasury Billl 12,447,638    12,447,638    -                  -                  
U.S. Treasury Note 2,576,488     2,228,480     348,008        -                  
Money Market Mutual Funds 3,451,851     3,451,851     -                  -                  
Held by bond trustee:

Money market funds 299,381        299,381        -                  -                  

Total $ 26,292,729    25,944,721    348,008        -                  

Remaining Maturity in Months

Investment Type

 

As of June 30, 2022, the District’s investments are scheduled to mature as follows: 

12 Months 13 to 24 25 to 60
Total or Less Months Months

Local Agency Investment Fund $ 84,154          84,154          -                  -                  
County of Santa Cruz Investment Fund 28,215,135    28,215,135    -                  -                  
Held by bond trustee:

Money market funds 298,845        298,845        -                  -                  

Total $ 28,598,134    28,598,134    -                  -                  

Remaining Maturity in Months

Investment Type

 

Credit Risk 

Generally, credit risk is the risk that an issuer of an investment will not fulfill its obligation to the holder 
of the investment. This is measured by the assignment of a rating by a nationally recognized statistical 
rating organization.  Presented below is the minimum rating required by (where applicable) the California 
Government Code, the District’s investment policy or debt agreements, and the actual rating as of the 
years ended for each investment type. 

Credit ratings as of June 30, 2023, were as follows: 

Minimum Exempt Rating
Legal From At Year End

Total Rating Disclosure (Not Rated)

Local Agency Investment Fund $ 85,613          N/A -                  85,613          
County of Santa Cruz Investment Fund 7,431,758     N/A -                  7,431,758     
U.S. Treasury Billl 12,447,638    AAA -                  12,447,638    
U.S. Treasury Note 2,576,488     AAA -                  2,576,488     
Money Market Mutual Funds 3,451,851     N/A -                  3,451,851     
Held by bond trustee:

Money market funds 299,381        AAA 299,381        -                  

Total $ 26,292,729    299,381        25,993,348    

Investment Type
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Note 2 Cash and Investments, continued 

Credit ratings as of June 30, 2022, were as follows: 

Minimum Exempt Rating
Legal From At Year End

Total Rating Disclosure (Not Rated)

Local Agency Investment Fund $ 84,154          N/A -                  84,154          
County of Santa Cruz Investment Fund 28,215,135    N/A -                  28,215,135    
Held by bond trustee:

Money market funds 298,845        AAA 298,845        -                  

Total $ 28,598,134    298,845        28,299,289    

Investment Type

 

Fair Value Measurements 

As of June 30, 2023, investments measured at fair value on a recurring and non-recurring basis, are as 
follows: 

Quoted Prices Significant
in Active Other Significant

Markets for Observable Unobservable
Identical Assets Inputs Inputs

Total (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

Money Market Mutual Funds $ 3,451,851     3,451,851     -              -              
Held by bond trustee:

Money market funds 299,381        299,381        
U.S. Treasury Bill 12,447,638    -              12,447,638    -              
U.S. Treasury Note 2,576,488     -              2,576,488     -              

18,775,358    3,751,232     15,024,126    -              

Investments measured at amortized cost:
Local Agency Investment Fund (LAIF) 85,613          
County of Santa Cruz Investment Fund 7,431,758     

Total $ 26,292,729    

Investment Type

 Fair Value Measurements Using 
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Note 2 Cash and Investments, continued 

Fair Value Measurements, continued 

As of June 30, 2022, investments measured at fair value on a recurring and non-recurring basis, are as 
follows: 

Quoted Prices Significant
in Active Other Significant

Markets for Observable Unobservable
Identical Assets Inputs Inputs

Total (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

Held by bond trustee:
Money market funds $ 298,845        298,845        

298,845        298,845        -              -              

Investments measured at amortized cost:
Local Agency Investment Fund (LAIF) 84,154          
County of Santa Cruz Investment Fund 28,215,135    

Total $ 28,598,134    

 Fair Value Measurements Using 

Investment Type

 

Note 3 Investment in Joint Powers Authority 

Jointly governed organizations are legal entities or other organizations that result from a contractual 
arrangement and that are owned, operated, or governed by two or more participants as a separate and 
specific activity subject to joint control in which the participants retain an ongoing financial interest or 
ongoing financial responsibility as permitted by the California Government Code. 

As of June 30, 2023, the District’s participation in the jointly governed organization consists of the 
following balance: 

2022 Additions Deletion 2023

Santa Margarita Groundwater Agency $ 76,962          151,044        (112,146)       115,860        
 

As of June 30, 2022, the District’s participation in the jointly governed organization consists of the 
following balance: 

2021 Additions Deletion 2022

Santa Margarita Groundwater Agency $ 52,189          42,000          (17,227)        76,962          
 

The District has recorded its interest in the joint-powers authority under the equity method of accounting 
whereby, the District’s equity in the joint-powers authorities is equal to the original cost of assets 
contributed plus their pro rata share of the net position of the joint-powers authority. 
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Note 4 Capital Assets 

The change in capital assets for 2023, was as follows: 

Balance Additions/ Deletions/ Balance
2022 Transfers Transfers 2023

Non-depreciable assets:
Land $ 5,197,413     -                  -                  5,197,413     
Construction-in-process 5,374,704     8,027,145     (4,556,076)    8,845,773     

Total non-depreciable assets 10,572,117    8,027,145     (4,556,076)    14,043,186    

Depreciable assets: -                  
Water transmission and distribution 62,428,664    4,149,355     (756,992)       65,821,027    
Wastewater system 1,428,103     -                  -                  1,428,103     
Buildings and structures 2,953,525     52,915          -                  3,006,440     
Transportation equipment 1,209,569     129,717        -                  1,339,286     
Field and shop equipment 1,911,346     185,023        -                  2,096,369     
Office equipment 498,727        39,066          -                  537,793        -                 

Total depreciable assets 70,429,934    4,556,076     (756,992)       74,229,018    

Accumulated depreciation: -                  
Water transmission and distribution (30,059,114)  (1,452,622)    401,028        (31,110,708)  
Wastewater system (1,225,297)    (42,001)        -                  (1,267,298)    
Buildings and structures (1,885,030)    (93,209)        -                  (1,978,239)    
Transportation equipment (1,060,966)    (71,316)        -                  (1,132,282)    
Field and shop equipment (982,436)       (186,116)       -                  (1,168,552)    
Office equipment (491,443)       (1,955)          -                  (493,398)       

Total accumulated depreciation (35,704,286)  (1,847,219)    401,028        (37,150,477)  

Total depreciable assets, net 34,725,648    2,708,857     (355,964)       37,078,541    

Total capital assets, net $ 45,297,765    -                  51,121,727    
 

In fiscal year 2023, total depreciation expense of $1,847,219 was charged to the District’s water and 
sewer funds in the amount of $1,803,661 and $43,558, respectively. 
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Note 4 Capital Assets, continued 

The change in capital assets for 2022, was as follows: 

Balance Deletions/ Balance
2021 Additions Transfers 2022

Non-depreciable assets:
Land $ 5,197,413     -                  -                  5,197,413     
Construction-in-process 7,164,387     2,837,366     (4,627,049)    5,374,704     

Total non-depreciable assets 12,361,800    2,837,366     (4,627,049)    10,572,117    

Depreciable assets: -                  
Water transmission and distribution 58,364,720    4,503,015     (439,071)       62,428,664    
Wastewater system 1,428,103     -                  -                  1,428,103     
Buildings and structures 2,929,197     38,328          (14,000)        2,953,525     
Transportation equipment 1,209,569     -                  -                  1,209,569     
Field and shop equipment 1,943,235     79,604          (111,493)       1,911,346     
Office equipment 502,206        6,103           (9,582)          498,727        

Total depreciable assets 66,377,030    4,627,050     (574,146)       70,429,934    

Accumulated depreciation: -                  
Water transmission and distribution (29,033,247)  (1,430,392)    404,525        (30,059,114)  
Wastewater system (1,183,242)    (42,055)        -                  (1,225,297)    
Buildings and structures (1,804,656)    (94,374)        14,000          (1,885,030)    
Transportation equipment (969,730)       (91,236)        -                  (1,060,966)    
Field and shop equipment (845,143)       (179,332)       42,039          (982,436)       
Office equipment (499,929)       (853)             9,339           (491,443)       

Total accumulated depreciation (34,335,947)  (1,838,242)    469,903        (35,704,286)  

Total depreciable assets, net 32,041,083    2,788,808     (104,243)       34,725,648    

Total capital assets, net $ 44,402,883    -                  45,297,765    
 

In fiscal year 2022, total depreciation expense of $1,838,242 was charged to the District’s water and 
sewer funds in the amount of $1,794,759 and $43,483, respectively. 
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Note 4 Capital Assets, continued 

Construction-In-Process 

The District has been involved in various construction projects throughout the year. Once completed, 
projects are capitalized and depreciated over the life of the asset. The projects that comprise the 
construction-in-process balances at June 30, are as follows: 

2023 2022

Admin Campus (inactive) $ 1,015,535     1,015,535     
Alta Via Road Main 1,099,448     160,117        
BCEWW Improvements 89,441          -                  
Bear Creek Wastewater -                  88,010          
Big Steel Tank Piping 188,945        -                  
Blue Ridge Tank Replacement 323,030        68,928          
Bracken Brae/Forest Springs Consolidation 731,345        91,649          
CA-9 Bridges main Replacement 120,505        65,400          
CZU Harmon Street 2 79,492          75,412          
Eckley Tank Zone 284,459        262,465        
Fallcreek Fish Ladder 956,739        623,622        
Five Mile Pipeline 90,639          90,297          
Foreman Creek Intake/Raw Water 134,329        107,090        
Glen Arbor Bridge South -                  88,136          
Habitat Conservation Plan 74,355          65,513          
Hermosa Oak Fernwood Water main Replacement 156,438        58,343          
Highway 9 & Park Drive Main 51,270          -                  
Huckleberry Island Main Line Replacement 200,258        88,783          
Juanita Woods Water Main Replacement 345,196        56,084          
Lyon Pipeline Project 694,125        362,931        
Lyon Water Treatment Plant Access Road Repair 291,892        273,412        
Orman Road Water Main Replacement 153,183        56,084          
Peavine Intake 50,589          -                  
Redwood Park Tank Project 788,005        -                  
Quail Hollow Pipeline Project 300,699        1,021,432     
Stewart Riverside Main Leak 88,831          -                  
Swim Tank -                  249,624        
University Tank SCADA Upgrade -                  55,931          
Various individual projects under $50,000 375,486        349,906        
Zayante Drive Water Main Replacement 161,539        -                  

Construction-in-process $ 8,845,773     5,374,704     
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Note 5 Compensated Absences 

Compensated absences comprise of unpaid time off which is accrued as earned. The District’s liability for 
compensated absences is determined annually. Compensated absences are recorded as a liability on the 
Statements of Net Position and will be liquidated through the water fund. 

The change in compensated absences for the year ended June 30, 2023, are as follows: 

Balance Balance Due within Due in more
2022 Additions Deletions 2023 One Year than one year

$ 537,908        431,126        (438,002)       531,032        191,172        339,860        
 

The change in compensated absences for the year ended June 30, 2022, are as follows: 

Balance Balance Current Due in more
2021 Additions Deletions 2022 Portion than one year

$ 634,109        393,575        (489,776)       537,908        193,647        344,261        
 

Note 6 Long-Term Debt 

The change in long-term debt for the year ended June 30, 2023, are as follows: 

Balance Transfer/ Transfer/ Balance Current Long-Term
2022 Additions Payments 2023 Portion Portion

Loans payable:
CoBank, ACB $ 14,407,716   -                  (606,584)       13,801,132   621,229        13,179,903   
Felton Safe Drinking Water Loan 874,736        -                  (166,642)       708,094        170,674        537,420        
State of California Revolving Fund Loan 1,255,957     -                  (72,440)        1,183,517     74,313          1,109,204     
Capital One Loan 1,802,633     -                  (77,969)        1,724,664     81,238          1,643,426     
Government Obligation Contract 156,343        -                  (33,732)        122,611        35,097          87,514          

-                 
Total loans payable 18,497,385   -                  (957,367)       17,540,018   982,551        16,557,467   

Certificate-of-participation
Revenue Series 2019 13,550,000   -                  (260,000)       13,290,000   270,000        13,020,000   
Premium 803,548        -                  (29,578)        773,970        29,579          744,391        

Total certificate-of-participation 14,353,548   -                  (289,578)       14,063,970   299,579        13,764,391   

Total long-term debt payable 32,850,933   -                  (1,246,945)    31,603,988   1,282,130     30,321,858   

Less: current portion (1,247,048)    (1,282,130)    

Non-current portion $ 31,603,885   30,321,858   
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Note 6 Long-Term Debt, continued 

The changes in long-term debt for the year ended June 30, 2022, are as follows: 

Balance Balance Current Long-Term
2021 Additions Payments 2022 Portion Portion

Loans payable:
CoBank, ACB $ 15,000,000    -                  (592,284)       14,407,716    606,584        13,801,132    
Felton Safe Drinking Water Loan 1,037,420     -                  (162,684)       874,736        166,642        708,094        
State of California Revolving Fund Loan 1,326,125     -                  (70,168)        1,255,957     72,440          1,183,517     
Capital One Loan 1,877,464     -                  (74,831)        1,802,633     77,969          1,724,664     
Government Obligation Contract 188,621        -                  (32,278)        156,343        33,834          122,509        -                 

Total loans payable 19,429,630    -                  (932,245)       18,497,385    957,469        17,539,916    

Bonds payable
Bank of Nevada Refunding Bonds 103,247        -                  (103,247)       -                  -                  -                  

Total bonds payable 103,247        -                  (103,247)       -                  -                  -                  

Certificate-of-participation
Revenue Series 2019 13,795,000    -                  (245,000)       13,550,000    260,000        13,290,000    
Premium 833,127        -                  (29,579)        803,548        29,579          773,969        

Total certificate-of-participation 14,628,127    -                  (274,579)       14,353,548    289,579        14,063,969    

Obligation under capital lease:
Capital lease payable 22,933          -                  (22,933)        -                  -                  -                  

Total capital lease payable 22,933          -                  (22,933)        -                  -                  -                  

Total long-term debt payable 34,183,937    -                  (1,333,004)    32,850,933    1,247,048     31,603,885    

Less: current portion (1,333,004)    (1,247,048)    

Non-current portion $ 32,850,933    31,603,885    

 

Installment Purchase Agreement 

In March 2021, the District and CoBank, ACB entered into an installment purchase agreement for the 
purpose of financing the acquisition, design, and construction of certain improvements to the District’s 
water system totaling $15 million. The terms of the agreement state an interest rate of 2.40%, maturing on 
March 20, 2041. The District makes semi-annual payments of $474,376, including principal and interest 
on September 20th and March 20th each year. 

Annual debt service requirements for the loan are as follows: 

Year Principal Interest Total

2024 $ 621,229        327,522        948,751        
2025 636,228        312,523        948,751        
2026 651,589        297,162        948,751        
2027 667,321        281,430        948,751        
2028 683,433        265,318        948,751        

2029-2033 3,672,791     1,070,965     4,743,756     
2034-2038 4,138,104     605,653        4,743,757     
2039-2041 2,730,437     115,818        2,846,255     

Total 13,801,132    3,276,391     17,077,523    

Current (621,229)       

Non-current $ 13,179,903    -                  
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Note 6 Long-Term Debt, continued 

Felton Safe Drinking Water Loan 

In fiscal year 2009, the District purchased the Felton water system and assumed Felton’s California Safe 
Drinking Water Loan with a fixed rate of 2.42%, maturing on June 30, 2027. The District makes semi-
annual payments of $93,399, including principal and interest on July 1st and January 1st each year. 

Annual debt service requirements for the loan are as follows: 

Year Principal Interest Total

2024 $ 170,674        16,122          186,796        
2025 174,864        11,933          186,797        
2026 179,099        7,698           186,797        
2027 183,457        3,342           186,799        

Total 708,094        39,095          747,189        

Current (170,674)       

Non-current $ 537,420        -                  
 

State of California Revolving Fund Loan 

On June 30, 2014, the District entered into a grant funding agreement with the California Department of 
Public Health (State) for a construction loan and grant under the Safe Drinking Water State Revolving 
Fund Law of 1997 (Revolving Fund Law) at a rate of 2.60%, maturing on January 1, 2037. The 
construction was for a mainline improvement and extension, in part to connect to the Olympia Mutual 
service area. A portion of this loan is funded by assessment district fees of the Olympia Mutual 
Assessment District. The District makes semi-annual payments of $52,116, including principal and 
interest on July 1st and January 1st. 

Annual debt service requirements for the loan are as follows: 

Year Principal Interest Total

2024 $ 74,313          29,919          104,232        
2025 76,236          27,997          104,233        
2026 78,207          26,025          104,232        
2027 80,230          24,003          104,233        
2028 82,305          21,927          104,232        

2029-2033 444,582        76,582          521,164        
2034-2037 347,644        18,051          365,695        

Total 1,183,517     224,504        1,408,021     

Current (74,313)        

Non-current $ 1,109,204     -                  
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Note 6 Long-Term Debt, continued 

Capital One Loan 

On December 12, 2018, the District entered into a loan agreement with Capital One Public Funding, LLC 
to finance the construction, acquisitions, and improvements associated with the District’s water storage 
facilities, known as the Probation Tank, servicing the Scotts Valley area. The terms of the agreement state 
an interest rate of 4.15% and matures on September 1, 2038. The District makes semi-annual payments of 
$75,989, including principal and interest on September 1st and March 1st. 

Annual debt service requirements for the loan are as follows: 

Year Principal Interest Total

2024 $ 81,238          63,784          145,022        
2025 84,645          60,086          144,731        
2026 88,194          56,233          144,427        
2027 91,892          52,218          144,110        
2028 95,745          48,035          143,780        

2029-2033 542,420        171,027        713,447        
2034-2038 666,085        156,089        822,174        

2039 74,445          36,604          111,049        

Total 1,724,664     644,076        2,368,740     

Current (81,238)        

Non-current $ 1,643,426     -                  
 

Government Obligation Contract 

On November 7, 2016, the District entered into a loan agreement with NBH Bank to finance the 
installation of the solar electric system in three different locations (as noted in Exhibit B of the 
agreement) at a rate of 3.67%, maturing on November 15, 2026. The District makes monthly payments of 
$3,250, including principal and interest. 

Annual debt service requirements for the loan are as follows: 

Year Principal Interest Total

2024 $ 35,097          3,897           38,994          
2025 36,407          2,587           38,994          
2026 37,766          1,228           38,994          
2027 13,341          99                13,440          

Total 122,611        7,811           130,422        

Current (35,097)        

Non-current $ 87,514          -                  
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Note 6 Long-Term Debt, continued 

Bank of Nevada Refunding Bonds 

On March 22, 2012, the District entered into a refunding bond agreement with the Bank of Nevada at a 
rate of 2.6% in order to pay off several other previously held loans. The District made semi-annual 
payments of $354,855, including principal and interest on September 1st and March 1st.  Final maturity 
was scheduled for September 1, 2022. During the year ended June 30, 2022, the District paid the bond in 
full. 

Revenue Series 2019 Certificate of Participation 

On August 1, 2019, the District executed and delivered a certificate of participation at a rate ranging from 
3.0% to 5.0%. The proceeds from the sale of the certificate will be used to finance the acquisition and 
construction of certain water storage and transmission facilities of the District’s water and wastewater 
system. The District makes payments of principal and interest on September 1st commencing on 
September 1, 2020 and maturing on September 1, 2049. 

Annual debt service requirements for the certificate of participation are as follows: 

Year Principal Interest Total

2024 $ 270,000        482,100        752,100        
2025 285,000        468,225        753,225        
2026 300,000        453,600        753,600        
2027 315,000        438,225        753,225        
2028 330,000        422,100        752,100        

2029-2033 1,905,000     1,857,450     3,762,450     
2034-2038 2,330,000     1,427,350     3,757,350     
2039-2043 2,820,000     938,250        3,758,250     
2044-2048 3,280,000     469,950        3,749,950     
2049-2050 1,455,000     44,025          1,499,025     

Total 13,290,000   7,001,275     20,291,275   

Premium 744,391        

Current (270,000)       

Non-current $ 13,764,391   -                  
 

Capital Lease 

On May 31, 2017, the District entered into a municipal lease purchase agreement (agreement) with 
Leasource Financial Services, Inc. to purchase three vehicles (lease asset). The agreement has a bargain 
purchase option, where the District has the option to purchase the lease asset following the expiration of 
the lease at below market rate. Per Exhibit E of the agreement, the value at the end of the lease term is 
zero. The District made monthly payments of $2,101, including principal and interest, and was scheduled 
to mature on May 31, 2022. During the year ended June 30, 2022, the District paid the capital lease in 
full. 
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Note 7 Other Post-Employment Benefits 

Plan Description 

The District’s defined benefit Other Post-Employment Benefit (OPEB) Plan (Plan) provides lifetime 
retiree medical coverage to eligible employees who retire from the District with a CalPERS Pension. 
Coverage is extended to dependents and surviving spouses of eligible retirees. The Plan is a single-
employer defined benefit OPEB plan administered by the District. The medical plan benefits are 
contracted with the California Public Employees’ Retirement System under the Public Employees’ 
Medical and Hospital Care Act (PEMHCA). No assets are accumulated in a trust that meets the criteria in 
paragraph 4 of Statement 75. 

Benefits Provided 

The District provides a capped benefit, which varies based on years of service and employee 
classification. Classified employees who retire directly from the District are eligible to receive a monthly 
benefit up to $325, with over 25 years of District service. Classified employees with 15-24 years of 
service receive a monthly benefit up to $275. Classified employees with under 15 years of service receive 
a monthly benefit up to $225. Management employees who retire directly from the District are eligible to 
receive a monthly benefit up to $275, with over 25 years of District service. Management employees with 
15-24 years of service receive a monthly benefit up to $225. Management employees with under 15 years 
of service receive a monthly benefit up to $175. Current retirees are subject to caps ranging from $150 per 
month to $275 per month. One retiree receives the full premium. The District also pays the PEMHCA 
administrative fee. 

Employee Covered by Benefit Terms 

At June 30, the following employees were covered by the benefit terms: 

2023 2022

Participating active employees 32                   32                   
Inactive employees or beneficiaries
  currently receiving benefit payments 10                   10                   

Total plan membership 42                   42                   
 

Total OPEB Liability 

The District’s total OPEB liability of $1,533,578 and $1,517,577 was measured as of June 30, 2022 and 
2021, respectively, and was determined by an actuarial valuation as June 30, 2022 and 2020, respectively. 
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Note 7 Other Post-Employment Benefits, continued 

Actuarial Assumptions and Other Inputs 

As of June 30, 2023 and 2022, the total OPEB liability in the actuarial valuations was determined using 
the following actuarial assumptions and other inputs, applied to all periods included in the measurement 
unless otherwise specified: 

Inflation 2.26% 

Salary increases 2023: 3.00% 
2023: 3.00% 

Discount rate 2023: 3.86% 
2022: 3.69% 

Healthcare cost trend rates 2023: 7.31% for 2024; 7.06% for 2025; 6.81% for 2026, and 
decreasing to ultimate rate of 4% for 2069 and later years. 

2022: actual for 2023 decreasing 0.25% until 6.81% in 
2026; then decreasing 0.31% in 2027 and 0.25% in 2028 
through 2032 to 5.00%. The rate is at 5.00% from 2032 
through 2039; 4.75% from 2040-2054; 4.50% from 2054-
2067; and then 4.00% for years 2069 and later 

Retirees share of benefit-related cost See benefit provisions 

 

For the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, the discount rate was based on a yield or index for 20-year, 
tax-exempt general obligation municipal bonds with an average rating of AA/Aa or better for benefits not 
covered by plan assets.  

Pre-retirement and post-retirement mortality rates were based on the CalPERS 2017 Mortality Table. 

Changes in the Total OPEB Liability 

2023 2022

Balance at beginning of year $ 1,517,577         2,128,882         

Changes during the year:
  Service cost 65,451             132,185           
  Interest cost 57,164             48,387             
  Difference between expected and actual
    experience -                     (375,384)          
  Contributions - employer (38,246)            (42,118)            
  Change in assumptions (68,368)            (374,375)          

Net change 16,001             (611,305)          

Balance at end of year $ 1,533,578         1,517,577         
 

No changes of benefit terms were noted for the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022. 
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Note 7 Other Post-Employment Benefits, continued 

Changes in the Total OPEB Liability, continued 

In fiscal year 2023, change in assumptions include the change in discount rate from 3.69% as of June 30, 
2022, to 3.86% as of June 30, 2023. There are no changes in the salary increase rate, which is 3% as of 
June 30, 2023, and 2022. Also, the healthcare cost trend rates remained consisted at an ultimate rate of 
4.00% for years 2069 and later as of June 30, 2023, and 2022. There have been no other assumption 
changes since the last measurement date. 

In fiscal year 2022, change in assumptions include the change in the salary increase rate from 3.25% as of 
June 30, 2021 to 3.00% as of June 30, 2022; discount rate from 2.16% as of June 30, 2021 to 3.69% as of 
June 30, 2022; and the healthcare cost trend rates from an ultimate rate of 4.50% for years 2032 and later 
as of June 30, 2021 to 4.00% for years 2069 and later as of June 30, 2022. There have been no other 
assumption changes since the last measurement date. 

Sensitivity of the Total OPEB Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate 

The following presents the total OPEB liability of the District, as well as what the District’s total OPEB 
liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower or 1-
percentage point higher than the current rate as of June 30, 2023: 

Current
Discount Discount Discount

Rate - 1% Rate Rate + 1%
2.86% 3.86% 4.86%

Total OPEB liability $ 1,780,612 1,533,578 1,334,688
 

The following presents the total OPEB liability of the District, as well as what the District’s total OPEB 
liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower or 1-
percentage point higher than the current rate as of June 30, 2022: 

Current
Discount Discount Discount

Rate - 1% Rate Rate + 1%
2.69% 3.69% 4.69%

Total OPEB liability $ 1,763,406 1,517,577 1,320,092
 

Sensitivity of the Total OPEB Liability to Changes in the Healthcare Cost Trend Rates 

The following presents the total OPEB liability of the District, as well as what the District’s total OPEB 
liability would be if it were calculated using a healthcare cost trend rate that is 1-percentage-point lower 
or 1-percentage-point higher than the current healthcare cost trend rate as of June 30, 2023: 

1% Decrease Base 1% Increase
from Base Rate Rate from Base Rate

Net OPEB Liability $ 1,291,194 1,533,578 1,848,803
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Note 7 Other Post-Employment Benefits, continued 

Sensitivity of the Total OPEB Liability to Changes in the Healthcare Cost Trend Rates, continued 

The following presents the total OPEB liability of the District, as well as what the District’s total OPEB 
liability would be if it were calculated using a healthcare cost trend rate that is 1-percentage-point lower 
or 1-percentage-point higher than the current healthcare cost trend rate as of June 30, 2022: 

1% Decrease Base 1% Increase
from Base Rate Rate from Base Rate

Net OPEB Liability $ 1,289,554 1,517,577 1,813,746
 

OPEB Expense, Deferred Outflows of Resources, and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to OPEB 

For the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, the District recognized OPEB expense of $166,094 and 
$234,060, respectively. As of June 30, the District reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred 
inflows of resources related to OPEB from the following sources: 

Deferred 
Outflows of 
Resources

Deferred 
Inflows of 

Resources

Deferred 
Outflows of 
Resources

Deferred 
Inflows of 

Resources

Difference between expected and
  actual experience $ 29,699             299,356           33,252             (338,789)          
Changes in assumptions 520,244           340,202           585,396           (349,775)          

Total $ 549,943           639,558           618,648           (688,564)          

2022

Description

2023

 

Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB 
will be recognized in OPEB expense as follows: 

Fiscal Year Deferred
Ending Outflows(Inflows)

June 30, of Resources

2024 $ (18,547)            
2025 (18,547)            
2026 (14,342)            
2027 (18,720)            
2028 (18,722)            

Thereafter (737)                
 

Note 8 Defined Benefit Pension Plan 

Plan Descriptions 

All qualified permanent and probationary employees are eligible to participate in the Public Agency Cost-
Sharing Multiple-Employer Defined Benefit Pension Plan (Plan or PERF C) administered by the 
California Public Employees’ Retirement System (CalPERS). The Plan consists of a miscellaneous risk 
pool and a safety risk pool, which are comprised of individual employer miscellaneous and safety plans, 
respectively. Benefit provisions under the Plan are established by State statute and the District’s 
resolution. CalPERS issues publicly available reports that include a full description of the pension plan 
regarding benefit provisions, assumptions, and membership information that can be found on the 
CalPERS’ website or may be obtained from their executive office at 400 P Street, Sacramento, California 
95814. 
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Note 8 Defined Benefit Pension Plan, continued 

Benefits Provided 

CalPERS provides service retirement and disability benefits, annual cost of living adjustments, and death 
benefits to plan members, who must be public employees and beneficiaries. Benefits are based on years of 
credited service, equal to one year of full-time employment. Members with five years of total service are 
eligible to retire at age 50 with statutorily reduced benefits. All members are eligible for non-duty 
disability benefits after 10 years of service. The death benefit is one of the following: the Basic Death 
Benefit, the 1957 Survivor Benefit, or the Optional Settlement 2W Death Benefit. Cost of living 
adjustments for each plan are applied as specified by the Public Employees’ Retirement Law. 

On September 12, 2012, the California Governor signed the California Public Employees’ Pension 
Reform Act of 2013 (PEPRA) into law. PEPRA took effect on January 1, 2013. The new legislation 
closed the District’s CalPERS 2.0% at 60 Risk Pool Retirement Plan to new employee entrants effective 
December 31, 2012. All employees hired after January 1, 2013, are eligible for the District’s CalPERS 
2.0% at 62 Retirement Plan under PEPRA. 

The District participates in the Plan’s miscellaneous risk pool. The provisions and benefits for the Plan’s 
miscellaneous pool in effect at June 30, are summarized as follows: 

Classic PEPRA Classic PEPRA

Prior to 
January 1, 

2011

On or after 
January 1, 

2013

Prior to 
January 1, 

2011

On or after 
January 1, 

2013
Benefit formula 2.5% @ 55 2.0% @ 62 2.5% @ 55 2.0% @ 62
Benefit vesting schedule
Benefit payments
Retirement age 50 - 55 52 - 62 50 - 55 52 - 62
Monthly benefits, as a % of eligible 
  compensation 2.0% to 2.5% 1.0% to 2.5% 2.0% to 2.5% 1.0% to 2.5%
Required employee contribution rates 6.92% 6.75% 6.91% 6.75%
Required employer contribution rates 10.32% 7.47% 10.34% 7.59%

5 years of service
Monthly for life

2023 2022

5 years of service
Monthly for life

Hire date

 

Contributions 

Section 20814(c) of the California Public Employees’ Retirement Law requires that employer 
contribution rates for all public employers be determined on an annual basis by an actuary and shall be 
effective on July 1, following notice of a change in rates. Funding contributions for the Plan are 
determined annually on an actuarial basis as of June 30, by CalPERS. The actuarially determined rate is 
the estimated amount necessary to finance the costs of benefits earned by employees during the year, with 
an additional amount to finance any unfunded accrued liability. The District is required to contribute the 
difference between the actuarially determined rate and the contribution rate of employees.  

Net Pension Liability 

As of June 30, 2023 and 2022, the District reported net pension liability for its proportionate share of the 
net pension liability of the Plan as follows: 

2023 2022

Proportionate share of 
    net pension liability $ 5,404,925     2,236,443     
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Note 8 Defined Benefit Pension Plan, continued 

Net Pension Liability, continued 

The District’s net pension liability for the Plan is measured as the proportionate share of the net pension 
liability for the miscellaneous risk pool. As of June 30, 2023 and 2022, the net pension liability of the 
Plan is measured as of June 30, 2022 and 2021 (the measurement dates), respectively. The total pension 
liability for the Plan’s miscellaneous risk pool used to calculate the net pension liability was determined 
by an actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2021 and 2020 (the valuation dates), rolled forward to June 30, 
2022 and 2021, respectively, using standard update procedures. The District’s proportion of the net 
pension liability was based on a projection of the District’s long-term share of contributions to the 
pension plan relative to the projected contributions of all participating employers, actuarially determined. 
The District’s proportionate share of the net pension liability for the Plan as of the measurement dates 
June 30, 2022 and 2021, was as follows: 

Miscellaneous

Proportion – June 30, 2020 0.04164        %
Change in proportion (0.00028)      

Proportion – June 30, 2021 0.04135        
Change in proportion 0.00544        

Proportion – June 30, 2022 0.04679        %
 

Deferred Pension Outflows (Inflows) of Resources 

For the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, the District recognized pension (credit) expense of $59,861 
and $391,010, respectively. As of June 30, 2023 and 2022, the District reported deferred outflows of 
resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pension from the following sources: 

Deferred Deferred Deferred Deferred
Outflows of Inflows of Outflows of Inflows of
Resources Resources Resources Resources

Pension contributions subsequent 
to the measurement date $ 737,763        -                  694,757        -                  

Differences between actual and
expected experience 35,845          -                  250,793        -                  

Changes in assumptions 553,848        -                  -                  -                  

Net difference between projected and 
actual earnings on plan investments 990,039        -                  -                  (1,952,297)    

Differences between actual contribution 
and proportionate share of contribution (247,300)       

Net adjustment due to differences in 
proportions of net pension liability 182,076        -                  -                  (8,815)          

    Total $ 2,499,571     (247,300)       945,550        (1,961,112)    

20222023

Description
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Note 8 Defined Benefit Pension Plan, continued 

Deferred Pension Outflows (Inflows) of Resources, continued 

As of June 30, 2023 and 2022, the District reported $737,763 and $694,757, respectively, as deferred 
outflows of resources related to contributions subsequent to the measurement date. Pension contributions 
subsequent to the measurement date for the year ended June 30, 2023, will be recognized as a reduction of 
the net pension liability for the year ended June 30, 2024. Pension contributions subsequent to the 
measurement date for the year ended June 30, 2022, was be recognized as a reduction of the net pension 
liability for the year ended June 30, 2023. 

As of June 30, 2023, other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources related to pension will be recognized as pension expense as follows: 

Fiscal Year  
Ending June 

30:

Deferred 
Outflows/ 

(Inflows) of 
Resources

2024 $ 385,610        
2025 338,960        
2026 184,397        
2027 605,541        

 

Actuarial Assumptions 

The total pension liabilities in the June 30, 2021 and 2020, actuarial valuations were determined using the 
following actuarial assumptions and methods: 

Valuation dates June 30, 2021 and 2020
Measurement dates June 30, 2022 and 2021
Actuarial cost method Entry Age Normal in accordance with the 

requirements of GASB Statement No. 68
Actuarial assumptions 
  Discount rate 2023: 6.90% and 2022: 7.15% 
  Inflation 2023: 2.30% and 2022: 2.50% 
  Salary increase Varies by entry age and service 
  Mortality Table* Derived using CalPERS membership data
  Period upon which actuarial 
    Experience survey assumptions were  
    based 

 
 
1997 – 2015

  Post-retirement benefit increase Contract COLA up to 2.50% (2022) and 2.30% 
(2021) until Purchasing Power Protection 
Allowance Floor on Purchasing Power applies

 

* The mortality table was developed based on CalPERS specific data. The rates incorporate Generational 
Mortality to capture ongoing mortality improvement using 80% of Scale MP 2020 published by the 
Society of Actuaries. For more details, please refer to the 2021 experience study that can be found on the 
CalPERS website 

Agenda:  1.4.24
Item:  10a

57 



San Lorenzo Valley Water District 
Notes to the Financial Statements, continued 

For the Fiscal Years Ended June 30, 2023 and 2022 
 

42 

Note 8 Defined Benefit Pension Plan, continued 

Discount Rate 

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability as of June 30, 2022 and 2021 measurement 
dates, for the PERF C were 6.90% and 7.15%, respectively.  

The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that contributions from plan 
members will be made at the current member contribution rates and that contributions from employers 
will be made at statutorily required rates, actuarially determined. Based on those assumptions, the Plan’s 
fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of 
current plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on plan investments was applied 
to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability. This discount rate is 
not adjusted for administrative expenses. 

In determining the long-term expected rate of return, CalPERS took into account long-term market return 
expectations as well as the expected pension fund cash flows. Projected returns for all asset classes are 
estimated and, combined with risk estimates, are used to project compound (geometric) returns over the 
long term. The discount rate used to discount liabilities was informed by the long-term projected portfolio 
return.   

The table below reflects the expected real rates of return by asset class. 

New
Strategic Real Return

Allocation 1-10¹ꞏ²

Global Equity - Cap-weighted 30.00% 4.54%
Global Equity Non-Cap-weighted 12.00% 3.84%
Private Equity 13.00% 7.28%
Treasury 5.00% 0.27%
Mortgage-backed Securities 5.00% 0.50%
Investment Grade Corporates 10.00% 1.56%
High Yield 5.00% 2.27%
Emerging Market Debt 5.00% 2.48%
Private Debt 5.00% 3.57%
Real Assets 15.00% 3.21%
Leverage -5.00% -0.59%

¹ An expected inflation of 2.30% used for this period.

² Figures are based on the 2021-22 Asset Liability Management Study.

Asset Class
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Note 8 Defined Benefit Pension Plan, continued 

Sensitivity of the Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate 

The following table presents the District’s proportionate share of the net pension liability for the Plan, 
calculated using the discount rate for the Plan, as well as what the District’s proportionate share of the net 
pension liability would be if it was calculated using a discount rate that is one-percentage point lower or 
one-percentage point higher than the current rate as of June 30, 2023: 

Current
Discount Discount Discount

Rate - 1% Rate Rate + 1%
5.90% 6.90% 7.90%

District's net pension liability $ 8,578,059     5,404,925     2,794,224     
 

The following table presents the District’s proportionate share of the net pension liability for the Plan, 
calculated using the discount rate for the Plan, as well as what the District’s proportionate share of the net 
pension liability would be if it was calculated using a discount rate that is one-percentage point lower or 
one-percentage point higher than the current rate as of June 30, 2022: 

Current
Discount Discount Discount

Rate - 1% Rate Rate + 1%
6.15% 7.15% 8.15%

District's net pension liability $ 3,921,040     2,236,443     (87,564)        
 

Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position 

Detailed information about the pension plan’s fiduciary net position is available in separately issued 
CalPERS financial reports. See pages 48 through 50 for the Required Supplementary Information. 
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Note 9 Net Position 

Calculation of net position as of June 30, was as follows: 

2023 2022

Net investment in capital assets:
Capital assets, net $ 51,121,727    45,297,765    
Loans payable (17,540,018)  (18,497,385)  
Certificate of participation (14,063,970)  (14,353,548)  
Funds from bank loan 12,286,373 12,858,941    
Funds from certificate of participation 6,189,604 9,392,192     

Total net investment in capital assets 37,993,716    34,697,965    

Restricted net position:
Restricted for debt service 19,621,202 23,360,364    
Funds from bank loan (12,286,373) (12,858,941)  
Funds from certificate of participation (6,189,604) (9,392,192)    

Total restricted net position 1,145,225     1,109,231     

Unrestricted net position:

  Non-spendable net position
Materials and supplies inventory 352,874        289,758        

Total non-spendable net position 352,874        289,758        

  Spendable net position designated for the following
    purpose:

Assessment reserve fund 187,983        241,066        

  Spendable net position are designated as follows:
Unrestricted 3,632,167     4,137,144     

Total unrestricted net position 4,173,024     4,667,968     

Total net position $ 43,311,965    40,475,164    
 

Note 10 Risk Management 

The District is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts, theft of, damage to, and destruction of 
assets; errors and omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disasters. The District, a member of the 
Special District Risk Management Authority (SDRMA), has purchased various insurance policies to 
manage the potential liabilities that may occur from the previously named sources. SDRMA’s purpose is 
to arrange and administer programs of self-insured losses and to purchase excess insurance coverage. 
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Note 10 Risk Management, continued 

At June 30, 2023, the District participated in the liability and property programs of the SDRMA as 
follows: 

 General and automotive liability: $5,000,000 per occurrence with $500-$1,000 per occurrence for 
third party general liability property damage. 

 Public officials and employees’ errors and omissions: $5,000,000 per occurrence with 50% co-
insurance of cost expended by SDRMA, in excess of $10,000 up to $50,000 per occurrence for 
employment related claims. However, 100% of the obligation will be waived if certain criteria are 
met. 

 Public officials’ personal liability: $500,000 per occurrence with $500,000 annual aggregate limit 
per each elected/appointed official and a deductible of $500 per claim. 

 Employment practices and benefits liability:  $5,000,000 per occurrence with 50% co-insurance 
of cost expended by SDRMA, in excess of $10,000 up to $50,000 per occurrence for employment 
related claims. However, 100% of the obligation will be waived if certain criteria are met. 

 Employee dishonesty coverage: $1,000,000 per loss includes public employee dishonesty, forgery 
or alteration and theft, disappearance and destruction coverage. 

 Property loss:  $1,000,000,000 per occurrence with a $2,000 deductible per occurrence. 
 Boiler and machinery:  $100,000,000 per occurrence with a $1,000 deductible. 
 Workers compensation: $5,000,000 each accident or each employee by disease. 

Note 11 Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statements Issued, Not Yet 
Effective 

The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) has issued several pronouncements prior to the 
report date, that have effective dates that may impact future financial presentations. 

Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 99 

In April 2022, the GASB issued Statement No. 99 – Omnibus 2022. The objectives of this Statement are 
to enhance comparability in accounting and financial reporting and to improve the consistency of 
authoritative literature by addressing (1) practice issues that have been identified during implementation 
and application of certain GASB Statements and (2) accounting and financial reporting for financial 
guarantees. 

The requirements of this Statement that are effective as follows: 

 The requirements related to extension of the use of LIBOR, accounting for SNAP distributions, 
disclosures of nonmonetary transactions, pledges of future revenues by pledging governments, 
clarification of certain provisions in Statement 34, as amended, and terminology updates related to 
Statement 53 and Statement 63 are effective upon issuance. 

 The requirements related to leases, PPPs, and SBITAs are effective for fiscal years beginning after 
June 15, 2022, and all reporting periods thereafter. 

 The requirements related to financial guarantees and the classification and reporting of derivative 
instruments within the scope of Statement 53 are effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 
2023, and all reporting periods thereafter. 
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Note 11 Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statements Issued, Not Yet 
Effective 

Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 100 

In June 2022, the GASB issued Statement No. 100 – Accounting Changes and Error Corrections—An 
Amendment of GASB Statement No. 62. The primary objective of this Statement is to enhance accounting 
and financial reporting requirements for accounting changes and error corrections to provide more 
understandable, reliable, relevant, consistent, and comparable information for making decisions or 
assessing accountability. 

This Statement defines accounting changes as changes in accounting principles, changes in accounting 
estimates, and changes to or within the financial reporting entity and describes the transactions or other 
events that constitute those changes. As part of those descriptions, for (1) certain changes in accounting 
principles and (2) certain changes in accounting estimates that result from a change in measurement 
methodology, a new principle or methodology should be justified on the basis that it is preferable to the 
principle or methodology used before the change. That preferability should be based on the qualitative 
characteristics of financial reporting—understandability, reliability, relevance, timeliness, consistency, 
and comparability. This Statement also addresses corrections of errors in previously issued financial 
statements. 

The requirements of this Statement are effective for accounting changes and error corrections made in 
fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2023, and all reporting periods thereafter. Earlier application is 
encouraged. 

Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 101 

In June 2022, the GASB issued Statement No. 101 – Compensated Absences. The objective of this 
Statement is to better meet the information needs of financial statement users by updating the recognition 
and measurement guidance for compensated absences. That objective is achieved by aligning the 
recognition and measurement guidance under a unified model and by amending certain previously 
required disclosures. 

The requirements of this Statement are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023, and 
all reporting periods thereafter. Earlier application is encouraged. 

Note 12 Commitments and Contingencies 

Grant Awards 

Grant funds received by the District are subject to audits by grantor agencies. Such an audit could lead to 
requests for reimbursements to grantor agencies for expenditures disallowed under terms of the grant. 
Management of the District believes that such disallowances, if any, would not be significant. 

Litigation 

In the ordinary course of operations, the District is subject to claims and litigation from outside parties. 
After consultation with legal counsel, the District believes the ultimate outcome of such matters, if any, 
will not materially affect its financial condition. 

Note 13 Subsequent Event 

Events occurring after June 30, 2023, have been evaluated for possible adjustment to the financial 
statements or disclosure as of January 4, 2024, which is the date the financial statements were available to 
be issued. 
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Defined Benefit OPEB Plan 

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018

Total OPEB liability
  Service cost $ 65,451             132,185           124,074           87,353             66,682             69,318             
  Interest 57,164             48,387             46,201             37,710             36,676             30,730             
  Difference between expected and actual
    experience -                     (375,384)          (3,087)              43,911             
  Assumption changes (38,246)            (374,375)          19,499             725,854           38,770             (37,834)            
  Benefit payments (68,368)            (42,118)            (48,310)            (43,216)            (32,501)            (29,229)            

Net change in total OPEB liability 16,001             (611,305)          138,377           851,612           109,627           32,985             

Total OPEB liability – beginning of year 1,517,577         2,128,882         1,990,505         1,138,893         1,029,266         996,281           

Total OPEB liability – end of year $ 1,533,578         1,517,577         2,128,882         1,990,505         1,138,893         1,029,266         

Covered payroll $ 3,183,571         3,429,618         3,295,242         3,094,876         2,901,753         2,701,505         

Total OPEB liability as a percentage of
  covered payroll 48.17% 44.25% 64.60% 64.32% 39.25% 38.10%

Fiscal Years Ended

 

Notes to Schedule 

Change in Benefit Terms 

There was no change in benefit terms. 

Change of Assumptions and Methods 

In fiscal year 2023, change in assumptions include the change in the discount rate from 3.69% as of June 30, 2022 to 3.86% as of June 30, 2023 

In fiscal year 2022, change in assumptions include the change in the salary increase rate from 3.25% as of June 30, 2021 to 3.00% as of June 30, 2022; 
discount rate from 2.16% as of June 30, 2021 to 3.69% as of June 30, 2022; and the healthcare cost trend rates from an ultimate rate of 4.50% for years 
2032 and later as of June 30, 2021 to 4.00% for years 2069 and later as of June 30, 2022. 

In fiscal year 2021, change in assumptions include the change in discount rate from 2.21% as of June 30, 2020 to 2.16%.  

 

* The District has presented information for those years for which information is available until a full 10- year trend is compiled. 

Agenda:  1.4.24
Item:  10a

66 



San Lorenzo Valley Water District 
Schedules of the District’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability 

As of June 30, 2023 
Last Ten Years* 

 

48 

Defined Benefit Pension Plan 

06/30/22 06/30/21 06/30/20 06/30/19 06/30/18 06/30/17 06/30/16 06/30/15 06/30/14

District's proportion of the
net pension liability 0.04679% 0.04135% 0.04164% 0.04058% 0.03949% 0.04003% 0.04058% 0.03675% 0.03803%

District's proportionate share of
the net pension liability $ 5,404,925     2,236,443     4,530,116     4,158,344     3,805,659     3,969,598          3,511,169       2,522,518       2,307,630     

District's covered payroll $ 3,429,618     3,295,242     3,094,876     2,901,753     2,701,505     2,396,005          2,322,469       2,158,611       1,995,604     

District's proportionate share of
the net pension liability as a
percentage of its covered payroll 157.60% 67.87% 146.37% 143.30% 140.87% 165.68% 151.18% 116.86% 115.64%

Plan's proportionate share of fiduciary
net position as a 
percentage of total pension liability 76.68% 88.29% 75.10% 75.26% 75.26% 76.96% 78.58% 83.20% 83.03%

Description
Measurement Dates

Notes to the Schedules of the District’s Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liability 

Changes in Benefit Terms 

Public agencies can make changes to their plan provisions, and such 
changes occur on an ongoing basis. A summary of the plan 
provisions that were used for a specific plan can be found in the 
plan’s annual valuation report. 

Change of Assumptions and Methods 

In fiscal year 2022, the accounting discount rate was reduced from 
7.15% to 6.90%. In determining the long-term expected rate of 
return, CalPERS took into account long-term market return 
expectations as well as the expected pension fund cash flows. 
Projected returns for all asset classes are estimated, combined with 
risk estimates, and are used to project compound (geometric) returns 
over the long term. The discount rate used to discount liabilities was 
informed by the long-term projected portfolio return.  

 

 

In addition, demographic assumptions and the inflation rate 
assumption were changed in accordance with the 2021 CalPERS 
Experience Study and Review of Actuarial Assumptions.   

In fiscal year 2021, there were no changes to actuarial assumptions 
or methods. 

The CalPERS Board of Administration adopted a new amortization 
policy effective with the June 30, 2019, actuarial valuation. The new 
policy shortens the period over which actuarial gains and losses are 
amortized from 30 years to 20 years with the payments computed as 
a level dollar amount. In addition, the new policy does not utilize a 
five-year ramp-up and ramp-down on UAL bases attributable to 
assumption changes and non-investment gains/losses. The new 
policy also does not utilize a five-year ramp-down on investment 
gains/losses.  
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Notes to the Schedules of the District’s Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liability 

Change of Assumptions and Methods, continued 

These changes will apply only to new UAL bases established on or 
after June 30, 2019. In fiscal year 2020, no changes have occurred to 
the actuarial assumptions in relation to financial reporting. In fiscal 
year 2020, CalPERS implemented a new actuarial valuation software 
system for the June 30, 2018 valuation. This new system has refined 
and improved calculation methodology. In December 2017, the 
CalPERS Board adopted new mortality assumptions for plans 
participating in the PERF. The new mortality table was developed 
from the December 2017 experience study and includes 15 years of 
projected ongoing mortality improvement using 90% of scale MP 
2016 published by the Society of Actuaries. The inflation assumption 
is reduced from 2.75% to 2.50%. 

The assumptions for individual salary increases and overall payroll 
growth are reduced from 3.00% to 2.75%. These changes will be 
implemented in two steps commencing in the June 30, 2017 funding 
valuation. However, for financial reporting purposes, these 
assumption changes are fully reflected in the results for fiscal year 
2018. 

In fiscal year 2017, the financial reporting discount rate for the PERF 
C was lowered from 7.65% to 7.15%. In December 2016, the 
CalPERS Board approved lowering the funding discount rate used in 
the PERF C from 7.50% to 7.00%, which is to be phased in over a 
three-year period (7.50% to7.375%, 7.375% to 7.25%, and 7.25% to 
7.00%) beginning with the June 30, 2016, valuation reports. The 
funding discount rate includes a 15 basis-point reduction for 
administrative expenses, and the remaining decrease is consistent 
with the change in the financial reporting discount rate. 

In fiscal year 2015, the financial reporting discount rate was 
increased from 7.50% to 7.65% resulting from eliminating the 15 
basis-point reduction for administrative expenses. The funding 
discount rate remained at 7.50% during this period, and remained 
adjusted for administrative expenses. 

* The District has presented information for those years for which 
information is available until a full 10- year trend is compiled. 

Agenda:  1.4.24
Item:  10a

68 



San Lorenzo Valley Water District 
Schedules of Pension Plan Contributions 

As of June 30, 2023 
Last Ten Years* 

 

50 

Defined Benefit Pension Plan 

06/30/23 06/30/22 06/30/21 06/30/20 06/30/19 06/30/18 06/30/17 06/30/16 06/30/15

Actuarially determined contribution $ 737,763        694,757        651,671        544,811        486,796        433,466            324,612          282,083          284,005        

Contributions in relation to the 
actuarially determined contribution (737,763)       (694,757)       (651,671)       (544,811)       (486,796)       (427,195)           (522,774)         (172,110)         (232,831)       

Contribution deficiency (excess) $ -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  6,271                (198,162)         109,973          51,174          

District's covered payroll $ 3,183,571     3,429,618     3,295,242     3,094,876     2,901,753     2,701,505          2,396,005       2,322,469       2,158,611     

Contributions as a percentage of 
covered payroll 23.17% 20.26% 19.78% 17.60% 16.78% 15.81% 21.82% 7.41% 10.79%

Description
Fiscal Years Ended

 

Notes to the Schedule of Pension Plan Contributions 

* The District has presented information for those years for which information is available until a full 10-year trend is compiled. 
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Water Fund Sewer Fund 2023 Water Fund Sewer Fund 2022

Current assets:
Cash & cash equivalents $ 305,997        -                  305,997        405,280        -                  405,280        
Cash & cash equivalents – restricted 1,145,225     -                  1,145,225     23,360,364   -                  23,360,364   
Investments 7,240,620     -                  7,240,620     5,719,782     -                  5,719,782     
Investments - restricted 18,127,969   -                  18,127,969   -                  -                  -                  

Accrued interest receivable 672              -                  672              158              -                  158              
Accounts receivable – water sales and services, net 1,876,552     -                  1,876,552     1,880,582     -                  1,880,582     
Accounts receivable – property taxes 33,414          -                  33,414          18,840          -                  18,840          
Accounts receivable – grant funding 2,802,932     -                  2,802,932     3,003,894     -                  3,003,894     
Accounts receivable – other 253,413        -                  253,413        15,378          -                  15,378          
Internal balances 33,372          (33,354)        18                32,561          (32,561)        -                  
Prepaid expenses 44,312          385              44,697          20,716          -                  20,716          
Materials and supplies inventory 352,874        -                  352,874        289,758        -                  289,758        

Total current assets 32,217,352   (32,969)        32,184,383   34,747,313   (32,561)        34,714,752   

Non-current assets:
Investments - restricted 348,008        -                  348,008        -                  -                  -                  
Investments in joint-powers authorities 115,860        -                  115,860        76,962          -                  76,962          
Capital assets – not being depreciated 13,894,812   148,374        14,043,186   10,455,895   116,222        10,572,117   
Capital assets – being depreciated 36,905,145   173,396        37,078,541   34,508,694   216,954        34,725,648   

Total non-current assets 51,263,825   321,770        51,585,595   45,041,551   333,176        45,374,727   

Total assets 83,481,177   288,801        83,769,978   79,788,864   300,615        80,089,479   

Deferred outflows of resources
Deferred OPEB outflows 549,943        -                  549,943        618,648        -                  618,648        
Deferred pension outflows 2,499,571     -                  2,499,571     945,550        -                  945,550        

Total deferred outflows of resources $ 3,049,514     -                  3,049,514     1,564,198     -                  1,564,198     

Continued on next page
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Water Fund Sewer Fund 2023 Water Fund Sewer Fund 2022

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expense $ 2,927,935     2,754           2,930,689     816,431        3,401           819,832        
Accrued wages and related payables 190,349        -                  190,349        155,164        -                  155,164        
Unearned revenues – customer deposits 108,205        -                  108,205        90,861          -                  90,861          
Unearned revenues – construction deposits 21,985          -                  21,985          13,978          -                  13,978          
Accrued interest payable 295,918        -                  295,918        306,141        -                  306,141        
Long-term liabilities – due in one year:
  Compensated absences 191,172        -                  191,172        193,647        -                  193,647        
  Loans payable 982,551        -                  982,551        957,469        -                  957,469        
  Certificate of participation 299,579        299,579        289,579        -                  289,579        

Total current liabilities 5,017,694     2,754           5,020,448     2,823,270     3,401           2,826,671     

Non-current liabilities:
Long-term liabilities – due in more than one year:
  Compensated absences 339,860        -                  339,860        344,261        -                  344,261        
  Loans payable 16,557,467   -                  16,557,467   17,539,916   -                  17,539,916   
  Certificate of participation 13,764,391   13,764,391   14,063,969   -                  14,063,969   
  Net OPEB liability 1,533,578     -                  1,533,578     1,517,577     -                  1,517,577     
  Net pension liability 5,404,925     -                  5,404,925     2,236,443     -                  2,236,443     

Total non-current liabilities 37,600,221   -                  37,600,221   35,702,166   -                  35,702,166   

Total liabilities 42,617,915   2,754           42,620,669   38,525,436   3,401           38,528,837   

Deferred inflows of resources
Deferred OPEB inflows 639,558        -                  639,558        688,564        -                  688,564        
Deferred pension inflows 247,300        -                  247,300        1,961,112     -                  1,961,112     

Total deferred inflows of resources 886,858        -                  886,858        2,649,676     -                  2,649,676     

Net position 
Net investment in capital assets 37,671,946   321,770        37,993,716   34,364,789   333,176        34,697,965   
Restricted for debt service 1,145,225 -                  1,145,225     1,109,231 -                  1,109,231     
Unrestricted (deficit) 4,208,747     (35,723)        4,173,024     4,703,930     (35,962)        4,667,968     

Total net position $ 43,025,918   286,047        43,311,965   40,177,950   297,214        40,475,164   
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Water Fund Sewer Fund 2023 Water Fund Sewer Fund 2022

Operating revenues:
Water consumption sales $ 11,778,792   -                  11,778,792   11,902,044   -                  11,902,044   
Wastewater service -                  173,020        173,020        -                  173,034        173,034        
Meter sales, charges, and penalties 177,785        -                  177,785        156,402        -                  156,402        
Other charges and services 9,964           -                  9,964           591              -                  591              

Total operating revenues 11,966,541   173,020        12,139,561   12,059,037   173,034        12,232,071   

Operating expenses:
Salaries and benefits 5,799,215     49,985          5,849,200     5,259,415     48,591          5,308,006     
Professional services 972,112        60,233          1,032,345     1,538,973     43,079          1,582,052     
Operational 537,057        26,589          563,646        463,555        15,213          478,768        
Maintenance 224,123        1,477           225,600        202,231        1,392           203,623        
Facilities 628,189        8,940           637,129        633,587        8,745           642,332        
General and administrative 477,462        1,736           479,198        434,997        1,650           436,647        

Total operating expenses 8,638,158     148,960        8,787,118     8,532,758     118,670        8,651,428     

Operating income before overhead absorption 3,328,383     24,060          3,352,443     3,526,279     54,364          3,580,643     

  Overhead absorption 202,283        8,331           210,614        180,218        -                  180,218        

Operating income before depreciation expense 3,530,666     32,391          3,563,057     3,706,497     54,364          3,760,861     
  Depreciation expense (1,803,661)    (43,558)        (1,847,219)    (1,794,759)    (43,483)        (1,838,242)    

Operating income 1,727,005     (11,167)        1,715,838     1,911,738     10,881          1,922,619     

Non-operating revenues(expenses):
Property taxes 965,059 -                  965,059        896,170 -                  896,170        
Assessment revenues 340,764 -                  340,764        343,333 -                  343,333        
Investment earnings 703,020        -                  703,020        126,229        -                  126,229        
Change in investment in Santa Margarita Groundwater Agency (112,145)       -                  (112,145)       (17,227)        -                  (17,227)        
Operating grant 213,593        -                  213,593        151,076        -                  151,076        
Rental revenues 54,367          -                  54,367          54,840          -                  54,840          
Interest expense (929,718)       -                  (929,718)       (952,956)       -                  (952,956)       
Gain(Loss) on disposition of capital assets (355,965)       -                  (355,965)       (101,873)       -                  (101,873)       
Other non-operating revenues 11,297          -                  11,297          9,428           -                  9,428           

Total non-operating revenues, net 890,272        -                  890,272        509,020        -                  509,020        

Net income before capital contributions 2,617,277     (11,167)        2,606,110     2,420,758     10,881          2,431,639     

Capital contributions:
Capital grants - other governments 230,691        -                  230,691        397,207        -                  397,207        

Total capital contributions 230,691        -                  230,691        397,207        -                  397,207        

Changes in net position 2,847,968     (11,167)        2,836,801     2,817,965     10,881          2,828,846     

Net position, beginning of year 40,177,950   297,214        40,475,164   37,359,985 286,333 37,646,318

Net position, end of year $ 43,025,918   286,047        43,311,965   40,177,950   297,214        40,475,164   
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This part of the District’s annual comprehensive financial report presents detailed information as a 
context for understanding what the information in the financial statements and note disclosures says about 
the District’s overall financial health. 
 

Table of Contents 
 

 Page No. 
 
Financial Trends 55-58 
 These schedules contain information to help the reader understand how 
 the District’s financial performance and well-being have changed over 
 time. 
 
Revenue Capacity 59-62 
 These schedules contain information to help the reader assess the District’s 
 most significant own-source revenue, water sales.  
 
Debt Capacity 63-64 
 These schedules present information to help the reader assess the affordability 
 of the District’s current levels of outstanding debt and the District’s ability 
 to issue additional debt in the future. 
 
Employee Related Liabilities 65 
 This schedule presents information to help the reader assess the District’s  
 unfunded employee liabilities for pension and other post-employment benefits.  
 
Demographic Information 66 
 This schedule offers demographic indicators to help the reader understand 
 the environment within which the District’s financial activities take place. 
 
Operating Information 67-68 
 This schedule contains service and infrastructure data to help the reader 
 understand how the information in the District’s financial report relates to 
 the service the District provides. 
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2014 2015 2016

Changes in net position:
Operating revenues (see Schedule 2) $ 5,838,488     5,478,890     6,456,181     
Operating expenses (see Schedule 3) (5,173,764)    (5,552,334)    (5,560,839)    
Overhead absorption 132,347        24,644          19,637          
Depreciation and amortization (1,172,504)    (1,139,110)    (1,326,056)    

Operating income(loss) (375,433)       (1,187,910)    (411,076)       

Non-operating revenues(expenses)
Property taxes 478,632        527,308        577,023        
Rental income 30,378          29,713          43,921          
Assessment Revenue -                235,444        33,611          
Investment income/(loss) 159,023        (1,909)           11,502          
Change in investemnt in SMGWA -                -                -                
Operating grant -                -                -                
Gain/(Loss) on sale/disposition of assets 2,000            34,499          -                
Interest expense (295,513)       (127,850)       (185,411)       
Settlement and purchase agreements -                -                -                
Other revenue/(expense), net 3,352            145,257        -                

Total non-operating revenues(expenses), net 377,872        842,462        480,647        

Net income(loss) before capital contributions 2,439            (180,867)       69,570          

Capital contributions 753,600        2,287,233     1,557,589     

Changes in net position $ 756,039        2,106,366     1,627,159     

Net position by component:
Net investment in capital assets $ 18,981,706   23,227,784   28,535,901   
Restricted 168,185        229,790        403,624        
Unrestricted 7,169,180     2,120,592     (725,008)       

Total net position $ 26,319,071   25,578,166   28,214,517   

Source: SLVWD Finance Department
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2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

7,446,130     9,215,364     10,130,799   11,135,904   11,462,629   12,232,071   12,139,561   
(7,109,458)    (7,591,791)    (7,341,031)    (7,924,554)    (9,694,417)    (8,651,428)    (8,787,118)    

74,683          163,697        146,321        231,862        379,539        180,218        210,614        
(1,417,477)    (1,640,273)    (1,563,805)    (1,582,370)    (1,728,054)    (1,838,242)    (1,847,219)    

(1,006,122)    146,997        1,372,284     1,860,842     419,697        1,922,619     1,715,838     

707,262        731,146        780,466        813,051        847,676        896,170        965,059        
61,851          56,647          44,042          44,047          50,558          54,840          54,367          

358,469        349,130        350,694        349,254        343,086        343,333        340,764        
13,858          23,040          86,733          333,478        131,657        126,229        703,020        

-                (39,970)         (123,148)       (178,740)       (153,963)       (17,227)         (112,145)       
-                -                -                -                334,681        151,076        213,593        
-                -                (320,408)       1,786            13,706          (101,873)       (355,965)       

(166,204)       (150,507)       (153,662)       (638,604)       (772,887)       (952,956)       (929,718)       
-                -                -                4,426            6,942            9,428            11,297          

71,804          16,258          (89)                (412,354)       (55,000)         -                -                

1,047,040     985,744        664,629        316,344        746,456        509,020        890,272        

40,918          1,132,741     2,036,913     2,177,186     1,166,153     2,431,639     2,606,110     

-                434,908        71,625          44,240          3,031,227     397,207        230,691        

40,918          1,567,649     2,108,538     2,221,426     4,197,380     2,828,846     2,836,801     

28,551,697   29,278,749   29,092,752   31,913,552   33,871,628   34,697,965   37,993,716   
686,020        637,205        2,231,220     667,387        302,122        1,109,231     1,145,225     

(982,282)       (796,980)       (96,460)         867,999        3,472,568     4,667,968     4,173,024     

28,255,435   29,118,974   31,227,512   33,448,938   37,646,318   40,475,164   43,311,965   

Fiscal Year
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 San Lorenzo Valley Water District 
 Operating Revenue by Source 
 Last Ten Fiscal Years Schedule 2 
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Total Operating
Revenue

2014 5,669,459                101,637                   54,111                     13,281                     5,838,488                
2015 5,237,534                100,088                   124,896                   16,372                     5,478,890                
2016 6,145,076                98,262                     194,444                   18,399                     6,456,181                
2017 7,157,650                102,107                   178,632                   7,741                       7,446,130                
2018 8,983,340                100,138                   128,305                   3,581                       9,215,364                
2019 9,917,657                111,820                   99,464                     1,858                       10,130,799              
2020 10,865,193              134,148                   135,129                   1,434                       11,135,904              
2021 11,139,017              161,007                   157,486                   5,119                       11,462,629              
2022 11,902,044              173,034                   156,402                   591                          12,232,071              
2023 11,778,792              173,020                   177,785                   9,964                       12,139,561              

Source: SLVWD Finance Department
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 Operating Expenses by Source 
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Fiscal General and Finance Transmission and Water Wastewater Total Operating
Year Administrative Customer Service Distribution Treatment Fund Expenses

2014 1,281,334                504,981                   2,901,718                1,430,749                95,139                     5,982,018                
2015 1,334,189                681,895                   2,925,734                1,622,687                102,296                   6,213,921                
2016 1,265,030                719,525                   2,850,569                1,908,139                123,998                   6,666,800                
2017 2,002,222                1,060,345                2,937,280                2,289,576                162,829                   6,867,261                
2018 2,274,942                1,347,160                2,817,296                2,483,050                145,919                   9,068,367                
2019 1,930,348                1,343,423                2,827,059                2,511,399                146,286                   8,758,515                
2020 2,068,644                1,403,739                3,009,754                2,618,387                174,538                   9,275,062                
2021 2,583,602                1,590,555                3,724,751                3,004,901                139,123                   11,042,932              
2022 2,356,670                1,392,242                3,438,276                2,960,111                162,153                   10,309,452              
2023 2,147,857                1,435,749                3,805,064                2,850,864                184,188                   10,423,723              

Source: SLVWD Finance Department
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Fiscal Water Sales Water Produced
Year (Acre Feet) (Acre Feet) %  Loss

2014 1,995                 2,239                   12%
2015 1,500                 1,828                   22%
2016 1,461                 1,787                   22%
2017 1,503                 1,976                   31%
2018 1,601                 2,142                   34%
2019 1,506                 2,029                   35%
2020 1,557                 1,907                   22%
2021 1,576                 2,008                   22%
2022 1,415                 1,796                   27%
2023 1,345                 1,855                   38%

A

Notes: See Schedule 2 "Operating Revenue by Source" for information regarding water revenues.
Source: SLVWD Finance Department
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2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

Residential - Tier 1 (per HCF) $ 3.090 3.430 3.810 3.810 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
Residential - Tier 2 (per HCF) 4.040 4.480 4.970 4.970 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
Residential - Tier 3 (per HCF) 4.840 5.370 5.960 5.960 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
Residential - Tier 4 (per HCF) 5.360 5.950 6.610 6.610 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
Residential - Tier 5 (per HCF) n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
Commercial/Flat (per HCF) 3.770 4.18 4.64 4.64 10.12 10.83 11.48 12.06 12.66 12.66
Wholesale - Boulder Creek (per HCF) * 10.00 10.00 10.00 14.39 15.40 16.32 17.14 17.99 17.99
* based on residential tiers above

Meter Size 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

3/4" or smaller $ 55.20 30.64 34.00 34.00 28.27 30.24 32.06 33.66 35.34 35.34
1" 92.02 51.00 56.50 56.50 42.36 45.33 48.05 50.45 52.97 52.97

1 1/2" 185.00 102.50 114.00 114.00 77.61 83.04 88.03 92.43 97.05 97.05
2" 295.00 163.50 181.50 181.50 119.91 128.30 136.00 142.80 149.94 149.94
3" 553.00 307.00 341.00 341.00 232.70 248.98 263.92 277.12 290.97 290.97
4" 921.00 511.00 567.00 567.00 359.58 384.75 407.84 428.23 449.64 449.64
6" n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
8" n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
10" n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

Fire service per inch diameter n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

Notes:
(1) Rates as of June 30 of each fiscal year.

Source: SLVWD Board of Directors approved Rates and Charges

Ready-to-serve Fees per Month
Fiscal Year

Water Consumption Rates
Fiscal Year
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Fiscal
Year Residential Commercial Landscape Wholesale Total

2014 7,035                        258                           12                             44                             7,349                        
2015 7,083                        258                           12                             50                             7,403                        
2016 7,566                        (1) 266                           13                             42                             7,887                        
2017 7,592                        260                           14                             42                             7,908                        
2018 7,593                        260                           14                             46                             7,913                        
2019 7,588                        262                           14                             21                             (2) 7,885                        
2020 7,599                        264                           14                             31                             7,908                        
2021 7,601                        264                           13                             37                             7,915                        
2022 7,604                        264                           13                             50                             7,931                        
2023 7,537                        263                           13                             31                             7,844                        

Note: Number of customers as of June 30 of fiscal year.
(1) Majority of increase related to Lompico County Water District merger.
(2) Closed out accounts that have not used wholesale in over a year

Source: SLVWD Finance Department
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 San Lorenzo Valley Water District 
 Principal Customers 
 Current Fiscal Year and Ten Years Ago Schedule 7 
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Water Percentage Water Percentage
Customer ID Customer Type Consumed (AF) of Total Consumed (AF) of Total

2023-1 Multi Residential 30                      1.90% 31                      1.55%
2023-2 Multi Residential 21                      1.33% 47                      2.36%
2023-3 Industrial 11                      0.70% 14                      0.70%
2023-4 Multi Residential 10                      0.63% 14                      0.70%
2023-5 Industrial 8                        0.51% 24                      1.20%
2023-6 Landscape 8                        0.51% 12                      0.60%
2023-7 Industrial 7                        0.44% 9                        0.45%
2023-8 Multi Residential 6                        0.38% 5                        0.25%
2023-9 Industrial 5                        0.32% 5                        0.25%
2023-10 Industrial 4                        0.25% 4                        0.20%

Total 110                    6.98% 165                    8.27%

Total Water Consumed (AF) 1,576                 100.00% 1,995                 100.00%

AF = Acre Feet

Notes: 
(1) Individual records will continue to be maintained to allow for a ten year comparison over time.

Source: SLVWD Finance Department

2023 2014
(1)
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 Ratio of Outstanding Debt 
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Fiscal COP Bonds Loans Capital Total Per As a Share of
Year (1) Payable Payable Lease Debt Capita Personal Income

2014 4,344,115      2,073,045      6,417,160      349.28           0.67%
2015 3,743,682      3,554,130      7,297,812      394.32           0.69%
2016 3,253,332      3,416,993      6,670,325      338.29           0.57%
2017 2,555,854      3,551,243      114,302         6,221,399      314.69           0.49%
2018 1,845,823      3,311,635      92,524           5,249,982      265.39           0.38%
2019 1,179,809      5,063,293      70,019           6,313,121      320.26           0.45%
2020 14,887,705    597,778         4,760,158      46,859           20,292,500    1,026.43        1.44%
2021 14,628,127    103,247         19,429,630    22,933           34,183,937    1,727.55        1.94%
2022 14,353,548    -                     18,497,385    -                     32,850,933    1,656.84        1.99%
2023 14,063,970    -                     17,540,018    -                     31,603,988    1,611.63        *

* Current data not available yet

Notes: 
(1) Certificate of Participation (COP)

Source: SLVWD Finance Department

$0
$1,000,000
$2,000,000
$3,000,000
$4,000,000
$5,000,000
$6,000,000
$7,000,000
$8,000,000
$9,000,000

$10,000,000
$11,000,000
$12,000,000
$13,000,000
$14,000,000
$15,000,000
$16,000,000
$17,000,000
$18,000,000
$19,000,000
$20,000,000
$21,000,000
$22,000,000
$23,000,000
$24,000,000
$25,000,000
$26,000,000
$27,000,000
$28,000,000
$29,000,000
$30,000,000
$31,000,000
$32,000,000
$33,000,000
$34,000,000
$35,000,000
$36,000,000

D
ol

la
rs

Fiscal Year

Agenda:  1.4.24
Item:  10a

86 



 San Lorenzo Valley Water District 
 Debt Coverage 
 Last Ten Fiscal Years Schedule 9 
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Net Operating Net Available Coverage
Fiscal Year Revenues Expenses

(1)
Revenues Principal Interest Total Ratio

2014 6,037,975          (4,736,829)         1,091,787          (720,144)        (295,513)        (1,015,657)     1.07
2015 6,509,873          (5,173,764)         1,042,596          (737,932)        (127,850)        (865,782)        1.20
2016 6,579,284          (5,552,334)         933,599             (757,130)        (185,411)        (942,541)        0.99
2017 7,122,239          (5,560,839)         1,375,989          (873,247)        (166,204)        (1,039,451)     1.32
2018 8,659,374          (7,109,458)         1,549,916          (971,417)        (150,507)        (1,121,924)     1.38
2019 10,351,615        (7,661,791)         2,689,824          (936,861)        (153,662)        (1,090,523)     2.47
2020 11,269,498        (7,341,031)         3,928,467          (932,975)        (638,604)        (1,571,579)     2.50
2021 12,681,643        (9,694,417)         2,987,226          (1,108,563)     (772,887)        (1,881,450)     1.59
2022 13,635,416        (8,651,428)         4,983,988          (1,333,004)     (952,956)        (2,285,960)     2.18
2023 14,427,661        (9,974,332)         4,453,329          (1,246,945)     (929,718)        (2,176,663)     2.05

Notes: 
(1) Operating expenses exclude depreciation expense.

                                                                                                                                                                               
Source: SLVWD Finance Department

Debt Service
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 San Lorenzo Valley Water District 
 Unfunded Employee Liabilities 
 Last Ten Fiscal Years* Schedule 10 
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Fiscal Employer Total Discount Employer Total Discount
Year Contributions Liability Rate Contributions Liability Rate

2015 232,831          2,307,630       7.50% 30,960            214,707          4.00% (2)
2016 172,110          2,522,518       7.65% 37,909            238,911          4.00%
2017 522,774          3,511,169       7.50% 37,478            262,939          4.00%
2018 427,195          3,969,598       7.15% 29,229            1,029,266       3.62% (3)
2019 486,796          3,805,659       7.15% 32,501            1,138,893       3.13%
2020 544,811          4,158,344       7.15% 43,216            1,990,505       2.21%
2021 651,671          4,530,116       7.15% 48,310            2,128,882       2.16%
2022 694,757          2,236,443       7.15% 42,118            1,517,577       3.69%
2023 737,763          3,295,242       6.90% 68,368            1,533,578       3.86%

Notes:

(3) For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018 and on, the District implemented GASB 75, this replaced 
GASB 45. This improves accounting and financial reporting by state and local governments for other 
post employement benefits, similar to GASB 68 with pensions.

(2) Implemented in accordance with GASB 45.

Pension (1) OPEB

(1) For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2015 and on, the District implemented GASB 68. This improves 
accounting and financial reporting by state and local governments for pensions. It required the District 
to bring the pension liability, or surplus, onto its books. 
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 San Lorenzo Valley Water District 
 Demographics and Economics Statistics 
 Last Ten Fiscal Years Schedule 11 
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Personal
Income Personal

District Unemployment (thousands of Income
Year Population

(2)
Rate Population dollars) per Capita

2014 18,373           8.7% 271,804         14,209,814    52,280           
2015 18,508           7.5% 274,146         15,696,689    57,257           
2016 19,718           6.9% 274,673         16,330,704    59,455           
2017 19,770           5.7% 275,897         17,665,129    64,028           
2018 19,783           4.9% 273,841         19,021,010    69,355           
2019 19,713           4.7% 273,213         19,559,977    71,592           
2020 19,770           11.4% 270,861         20,502,635    71,480           
2021 19,788           6.9% 260,495         23,183,258    88,997           
2022 19,828           4.8% 264,370         22,832,350    83,365           
2023 19,610           * * * *

* Current data not available yet

Notes:
(1) Only County data is updated annually.  Therefore, the District has chosen to use its data since

the District believes that the County data is representative of the conditions and experience of
the District.

(2) Population data is assumed at 2.5 persons per connection.

Sources: California Department of Finance, Bureau of Economic Analysis (BEA)
Bureau of Labor Statistics

County of Santa Cruz
(1)
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 San Lorenzo Valley Water District 
 Full-Time Equivalent Employees 
 Last Ten Fiscal Years Schedule 12 
 

67 

Fiscal District Watershed & Treatment &
Year Administration Engineering Operations Total

2014 7 2 16 25
2015 7 2 17 26
2016 8 1 20 29
2017 8 3 22 33
2018 11 3 20 34
2019 11 4 20 35
2020 11 4 20 35
2021 11 4 20 35
2022 10 4 19 33
2023 12 4 18 34

Source: SLVWD Finance Department

Full-time Equivalent District Employees by Department
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2014 58 140 8,472,000 2,300,000 1,800,000
2015 58 140 8,472,000 2,300,000 1,800,000
2016 60 169 9,297,000 2,700,000 1,800,000
2017 60 169 9,297,000 2,700,000 1,800,000
2018 60 169 9,297,000 2,700,000 1,800,000
2019 60 169 9,297,000 2,700,000 1,800,000
2020 60 169 9,697,000 2,700,000 1,800,000
2021 62 190 9,272,500 2,440,000 2,844,000
2022 (2) 62 190 9,396,620 2,440,000 2,844,000
2023 62 190 9,396,620 2,440,000 2,844,000

MG - Millions of Gallons
MGD - Millions of Gallons per Day
TP - Treatment Plant

Notes: 
(1) Production capacity varies based on water levels during the year.
(2) From completed Master Plan

Sources: SLVWD Operations Department and Urban Water Management Plan

Production 
Capacity 

Wells
(1)

 (MGD)

Other Operating and Capacity Indicators

Fiscal 
Year

District Area 
(Square Miles)

Miles of 
Pipeline

Storage 
Capacity (MG)

Production 

Capacity TP 
(1) 

(MGD)
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Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on Audits of Financial Statements  

Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards 
 

Board of Directors 
San Lorenzo Valley Water District 
Boulder Creek, California 

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the San Lorenzo 
Valley Water District (District), as of and for the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, and the related 
notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprises the District’s basic financial statements, 
and have issued our report thereon dated January 4, 2024. 

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

In planning and performing our audits of the financial statements, we considered the District’s internal 
control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in 
the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the District’s internal control. Accordingly, we 
do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the District’s internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions to prevent, or 
detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination 
of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement 
of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A 
significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less 
severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with 
governance. 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this 
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audits we did not identify any 
deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses 
may exist that have not been identified. 

Compliance and Other Matters 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the District’s financial statements are free from 
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, 
contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the 
determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those 
provisions was not an objective of our audits and, accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The 
results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be 
reported under Government Auditing Standards.  
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Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on Audits of Financial Statements  

Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards, continued 
 
Purpose of this Report 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance, 
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the District’s internal 
control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards in considering the District’s internal control and compliance. 
Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 

 
 
 
C.J. Brown & Company, CPAs 
Cypress, California 
January 4, 2024
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Acronyms and Glossary of Terms 
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The following is a listing of acronyms and glossary of terms that can commonly be found in past, current 
or potential future reports. 

Acronyms 

AF – Acre-Feet/Foot 

ACFR –Annual Comprehensive Financial Report 

ARC – Annual Required Contribution 

CalPERS – California Public Employees Retirement System 

CEQA – California Environmental Quality Act 

CERBT – California Employers’ Retiree Benefit Trust 

CIP – Capital Improvement Project or Capital Improvement Program 

COLA – Cost of Living Adjustment 

COP – Certificates of Participation 

CSDA – California Special District Association 

CSMFO – California Society of Municipal Finance Officers 

DOF – Department of Finance 

DWR – Department of Water Resources 

EIR – Environmental Impact Review 

EPA – Environmental Protection Agency 

ERP – Enterprise Resource Planning Software 

FASB – Financial Accounting Standards Board 

FBS – Finance and Business Services 

FDIC – Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation 

FMLA – Family Medical Leave Act 

FSA – Flexible Spending Accounts 

FTE – Full Time Equivalent 

GAAP – Generally Accepted Accounting Principles 

GASB – Governmental Accounting Standards Board 

GFOA – Government Finance Officers Association 

GIS – Geographic Information Systems 

GPD – Gallons per Day 

GPM – Gallons per Minute 

GPS – Global Positioning Satellite 

GSA – Groundwater Sustainability Agency 

GSP – Groundwater Sustainability Plan 

HR – Human Resources 
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Acronyms and Glossary of Terms, continued 
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Acronyms, continued 

JPA – Joint Powers Authority 

LAFCO – Local Agency Formation Commission 

LAIF – Local Agency Investment Fund 

MG – Million Gallons 

MGD – Million Gallons per Day 

MOU – Memorandum of Understanding 

O & M – Operations and Maintenance 

OPEB – Other Post-Employment Benefits 

PEPRA – Public Employees’ Pension Reform Act 

PRV – Pressure Reducing Valve 

RFP – Request for Proposal 

RFQ – Request for Qualifications 

SCADA – Supervisory Control and Data Acquisition 

SDI – State Disability Insurance 

SDRMA – Special District Risk Management Authority 

SEIU – Service Employees International Union 

SGMA – Sustainable Groundwater Management Act 

TP – Treatment Plant 

UWMP – Urban Water Management Plan 

Glossary of Terms 

Accrual Basis of Accounting – Method of accounting that recognizes the financial effect of transactions, 
and activities when they occur, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Revenues are recorded 
when earned and expenses are recognized when incurred. 

Acre Foot – an acre foot is enough water to cover an acre of land, about the size of a football field, one 
foot deep. It is the equivalent of about 326,000 gallons. 

Asset – Anything of value such as an area of land, or a building, or an item of plant or equipment or 
infrastructure that provides service potential or future economic benefits over a period greater than three 
years, and has a cost that is material (at least $5,000). 

Balanced Budget – The District’s current operating expenses will be paid from current revenues and 
reserves carried forward from the prior year. 

Board of Directors – The five public officials elected to represent the population within the District’s 
service area. Also referred to as “the Board”. 

Budget – A financial plan showing authorized planned expenditures and their funding sources.  

Budget Process – The schedule of key dates or milestones, which the District follows in the 
development, preparation, adoption, and administration of the budget.  
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Glossary of Terms, continued 

California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) – A California statute passed in 1970, shortly after the 
United States federal government passed the National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA), to institute a 
statewide policy of environmental protection. CEQA does not directly regulate land uses, but instead 
requires state and local agencies within California to follow a protocol of analysis and public disclosure of 
environmental impacts of proposed projects and adopt all feasible measures to mitigate those impacts. 

Capital Improvement Program (CIP) – Authorized expenditures for tangible and long-term physical 
improvements or additions of a fixed or permanent nature. 

Capital Project – Projects budgeted as capital projects fall within the definition of capital expenditures, 
which means (1) they create or extend the lives of assets, (2) their work products have a useful life of 
more than three years, and (3) they involve an expenditure of District resources equal to or greater than 
$5,000.  

Centum Cubic-Feet (CCF) – The standard rate of billing for water service. The District calculates one 
CCF as one unit of water. One CCF is equal to 100 cubic feet of water, which is 748 gallons. 

Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act (COBRA) – COBRA gives employees the right to 
pay premiums and keep the group health insurance that they would otherwise lose after they quit their 
jobs, lose their jobs, or reduce their work hours. COBRA benefits are typically available for 18 months.  

Debt Service – The current year portion of interest costs and current year principal payments incurred on 
long-term debt. 

Department – A major organizational unit with overall managerial responsibility for functional programs 
of the District.  

Depreciation – The reduction in value of a long lived asset from use or obsolescence. The decline in 
value is recognized by a periodic allocation of the original cost of the asset to current operations on an 
income statement. 

Enterprise Fund – A fund established to account for operations that are financed and operated in a 
manner similar to private business enterprises where the intent of the governing body is that the costs of 
providing goods or services to the general public on a continuing basis be financed or recovered primarily 
through “user charges.” 

Environment Impact Review (EIR) – Written record submitted to a deciding authority that identifies 
and examines the likely environmental effects of the continuing operations of an existing facility or those 
of a proposed project, and proposes measures to avoid, mitigate, or offset the identified effects.  

Expense – A cost incurred in the operations of the District, most often settled with the payment of cash. 

Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) - is a private, non-profit organization standard-setting 
body whose primary purpose is to establish and improve Generally Accepted Accounting Principles 
within the United States in the public's interest. 

Fiscal Year (FY) – A 12-month period to which the annual operating budget applies and at the end of 
which a government determines its financial position and the results of its operations. (SLVWD’s fiscal 
year is July 1 through June 30).  

Flexible Spending Accounts (FSA) – A tax-favored program offered by employers that allows their 
employees to pay for eligible out-of-pocket health care and dependent care expenses with pre-tax dollars.  

Full-Time Equivalent (FTE) – A measure of labor requirement equal to the full time use of one worker 
(e.g., could be one person full time or two people half time).  
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Glossary of Terms, continued 

Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) – A collection of commonly-followed accounting 
rules and standards for financial reporting. 

Geographical Information Systems (GIS) – An information system integrating maps with electronic 
data.  

Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) – A private, non-governmental organization that 
is the source of generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) used by State and Local governments in 
the United States. 

Intertie – An interconnection permitting passage of water between two or more water utility systems.  

Local Agency Formation Commission (LAFCO) – A public agency with county-wide jurisdiction that 
regulates, approves, or denies boundary changes proposed by other public agencies or individuals. 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) – Management provided overview, summary, and 
analysis of the basic financial statements. 

Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) – A formal agreement between two or more parties, such as 
between the District and its labor bargaining groups.  

Meter – A device that measures and records the quantity of a substance, such as water or energy that has 
passed through it during a specified period. 

Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB) – Benefits, other than pensions, that a state or local 
government employee receives as part of his or her package of retirement benefits. The District’s OPEB 
is limited to retiree health benefits.  

Pay-Go – A capital financing strategy to pay-as-you go by cash funding capital projects with current and 
accumulated revenues rather than borrowing funds that will be repaid with future revenues.  

Pressure Reducing Valve (PRV) – A pressure reducing valve is a relief valve that automatically reduces 
high incoming water pressure to provide a lower, more functional pressure for residential water use.  

Pump – A mechanical device for raising or lifting water, pushing it, and changing flow and pressure. 

Pump Station – A structure containing pumps and appurtenant piping, valves, and other mechanical and 
electrical equipment for pumping raw water.  

Regulatory – Something that is required due to a permit requirement, mandated regulation, or legislation.  

Reliability – The probability that a system performs a specified function or mission under given 
conditions for a prescribed time. 

Reserves – The portion of cash and investments that are held for a specific future use. 

Revenue – Income the District receives from a variety of sources such as rates and charges, fees, and 
interest earnings. 

Statement of Cash Flows – reports cash receipts, cash payments, and net change in cash. Helps identify 
where did cash come from, what it was used for and what the change was during the reporting period. 

Statement of Net Position – includes all of the District’s investment in resources, deferred 
inflow/outflow of resources, and obligations to creditors. 

Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position – Takes all of the current year’s 
revenues and expenses to help measure the success of the District’s operations over the past year. 
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Glossary of Terms, continued 

Strategic Plan – The long-term goals, objectives, and performance measurement standards for the 
District. 

Supervisory Control and Data Acquisition (SCADA) – A computer system that monitors and controls 
real time data from remote locations. The District uses a SCADA system to manage the tanks and pumps 
throughout the water distribution system. 

Sustainability – The use of natural, community, fiscal, or utility resources in a manner that satisfies 
current needs without compromising future needs or options.  

Tank – A vessel or container used to hold water or other liquid.  

Transmission Main – A large water main that transports water from the main supply or source, to a 
distant area where the water is then further distributed. Finished water transmission mains usually have no 
or few connections. 

Transmittal Letter – Letter from the District Manager, highlighting important details pertaining to the 
District. Is meant to compliment the MD&A and should be read in conjunction with the financials. 

Urban Water Management Plan (UWMP) – A plan prepared by California urban water suppliers to 
support their long-term resource planning and ensure adequate water supplies are available to meet 
existing and future water demands. The UWMP must be prepared every 5 years. The District is currently 
starting its 2020 UWMP.  

Valve – A device to regulate or isolate the flow of water.  

Water Distribution System – A network of pipe, pumps, and storage facilities to transport potable water 
from the source/treatment facility to the consumer. 

Water Quality – Various measures by which materials (contaminants) and appearance (aesthetics) are 
compared against what are considered appropriate levels for suitably potable water.  

Water Quality Monitoring – Instrumentation and activities for measuring the quality of water.  

Water Treatment – Any process that intentionally alters and improves the chemical, biological, or 
physical characteristics of water.  

Water Treatment Plant – A facility where water treatment is performed to produce water for a specific 
end-use. 

Well – (1) A subsurface source of water that is generally accessed through a drilled casing and pipe into 
the aquifer. (2) The entire system of the underground water source, pipe casing, pump, etc. Also called a 
borehole. 
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Board of Directors Meeting

Presentation of 2023 Audit Results

January 4, 2024

C.J. Brown and Company CPAs
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Professional Guidance

The Audit Process is Governed by: 

The AICPA’s Statements of Auditing 

Standards

Federal and State Requirements

GAAP (Generally Accepted Accounting 

Principles) is Established By The 

Governmental Accounting Standards Board 

(GASB)
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The Audit Process

 Interim Fieldwork – Assess the District’s  Internal Controls and 

Effectiveness

 Gain and Understanding of the District’s Control Framework 

 Test of Controls Testing – Accounting Cycles

 Final Fieldwork 

 Agree Balance to Supporting Documentation

 Perform Analysis of Key Account Relationships  

 Consideration of Fraud  per AU-C Section 240, “Consideration of 

Fraud in a Financial Statement Audit”

 Professional Skepticism

 Interview of Board and Management
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Auditor’s Report – Page 1

Independent Auditor’s Report 

 Unmodified “CLEAN” Opinion

 In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in 

all material respects, the financial position of the San Lorenzo Valley 

Water District as of June 30, 2023….
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Management Report

 Our communication with those charged with governance 

Qualitative Aspects of Accounting Practices

Significant estimates

Note disclosures

No Difficulties Encountered in Performing the Audit 

No Disagreements with Management

Did Not Consult with Other Independent Accountants
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Management Report

 Our communication of control deficiencies:

 No material weaknesses or significant deficiencies.
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Statements of Net Position – Page 5

2023 2022 Change

Assets:

Current assets $ 32,184,383    34,714,752    (2,530,369)    

Non-current assets 463,868        76,962          386,906        

Capital assets, net 51,121,727    45,297,765    5,823,962     
-                  

Total assets 83,769,978    80,089,479    3,680,499     

Deferred outflows of resources 3,049,514     1,564,198     1,485,316     

Liabilities:

Current liabilities 5,020,448     2,826,671     2,193,777     

Non-current liabilities 37,600,221    35,702,166    1,898,055     

Total liabilities 42,620,669    38,528,837    4,091,832     

Deferred inflows of resources 886,858        2,649,676     (1,762,818)    

Net position:

Net investment in capital assets 37,993,716    34,697,965    3,295,751     

Restricted 1,145,225     1,109,231     35,994          

Unrestricted (deficit) 4,173,024     4,667,968     (494,944)       

Total net position $ 43,311,965    40,475,164    2,836,801     

Condensed Statements of Net Position
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Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes 

in Net Position – Page 6

2023 2022 Change

Revenues:

Operating revenues $ 12,139,561    12,232,071    (92,510)        

Non-operating revenues 2,288,100     1,581,076     707,024        

Total revenues 14,427,661    13,813,147    614,514        

Expenses:

Operating expenses 8,787,118     8,651,428     135,690        

Non-operating expenses 1,397,828     1,072,056     325,772        

Overhead absorption (210,614)       (180,218)       (30,396)        

Depreciation 1,847,219     1,838,242     8,977           

Total expenses 11,821,551    11,381,508    440,043        

Net income before capital

  contributions 2,606,110     2,431,639     174,471        

Capital contributions 230,691        397,207        (166,516)       

Changes in net position 2,836,801     2,828,846     7,955           

Net position, beginning of year 40,475,164    37,646,318    2,828,846     

Net position, end of year $ 43,311,965    40,475,164    2,836,801     

Condensed Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position
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SUMMARY

In 2023:

1. The District received an unmodified “CLEAN” opinion

2. Net position increased by $2.8M as a result of continuing operations.

3. Total revenues increased by $614K primarily due to increases in:

a) Investment return; and

b) Property taxes as compared to the prior year.

4. Total expenses increased by $440K primarily due to increases in:

a) Personnel costs, capital asset disposals, change in JPA investment 

which was offset by;

b) A decrease in professional services as compared to the prior year.
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Questions
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MEMO 
 

 
DATE: January 4, 2024 
 
TO: Board of Directors, San Lorenzo Valley Water District 
FROM: Brian Frus, Interim General Manager   
SUBJECT: Contract Change Orders – Alta Via Pipeline Replacement 
Project 
 
WRITTEN BY: Joel Scianna, Assistant Engineer 
PRESENTED BY: Garrett Roffe, Engineering Manager 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
 
Approve the attached Contract Change Orders 5, 7, and 8 for payment to 
Anderson Pacific Engineering Construction, Inc. as part of the District’s Alta 
Via Pipeline Replacement project.   
 
RECOMMENDED MOTION 
 
I move that: 

The Board approve Contract Change Orders 5, 7, and 8 for payment 
to Anderson Pacific Engineering Construction, Inc. for the Alta Via 
Pipeline Replacement in the sum of $333,851, increasing the not to 
exceed contract amount from $2,201,213 to $2,535,064. 

 
BACKGROUND 
 
The Alta Via Neighborhood in Brookdale (including Alta Via Drive, Monan 
Way, and Prospect Ave) was damaged by the 2020 CZU fires, destroying 
above ground water mains in the area as well as several homes. The 
District’s currently ongoing project includes installation of a permanent 
pipeline beneath the roadway, which will replace the temporary fix in place 
since 2020. The current project also greatly increases the number of fire 
hydrants in the neighborhood. On February 3, 2022, the Board authorized 
the District Manager to enter into a Contract Agreement with Anderson 
Pacific Engineering Construction, Inc. for the bid amount of $2,107,470. On 
February 28, 2022, the Contract Agreement was executed. Prior to the start 
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of work in May 2023, Anderson Pacific Engineering Construction submitted 
a request for information regarding a significant slope failure and roadway 
settling was found along Monan Way. These conditions occurred after the 
plans were created and were likely the result of the January/February 2023 
storms, as well as a failed culvert nearby. Please see Contract Change 
Order 5 (CCO 5). As this failure posed a risk to our pipeline and resident 
access, the Contractor installed a temporary bridge (see CCO 7) to 
maintain access while a permanent solution was devised. Anderson Pacific 
Engineering Construction, Inc. has submitted pricing for payment in the 
form of three contract change orders:  
 
CCO 5 – Repair of Culvert on Monan Way 
 
While saw cutting and excavating beyond the Monan Way slide, Anderson 
Pacific encountered a storm drain culvert which was called out in the plans. 
This storm drain had separated and was clearly no longer functional, which 
may have been a contributing factor to the slide itself. District staff 
instructed Anderson Pacific to repair the culvert to be operational. This 
extra work and materials amounted to $2,250. 
 
CCO 7 – Temporary Bridge Installation on Monan Way 
 
As mentioned previously, the slide risked damage to our pipe and loss of 
access to the residences beyond if left as is. The temporary solution of 
steel I-beams and plates welded together above the existing soil allowed 
for safe residential and construction access while diverting the pressure 
from the failing slope. The contractor has generously provided use of their 
own steel I-beams for this bridge, and the plates are being rented. This 
extra work and materials amounted to $29,254. 
 
CCO 8 – Relocation of Water Main within Hwy 9 
 
Several hundred feet of District water main within Highway 9 in Brookdale 
needs to be relocated from the northbound lane to the southbound lane to 
accommodate a Caltrans viaduct project. The relocation is connected to the 
pipe abandonment work included in the Alta Via project. This extra work 
and materials amounted to $302,347. 
 
The total of change orders for payment amount to $333,851. 
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ENVIRONMENTAL REQUIREMENTS 
 
There is no required environmental work. 
 
PRIOR COMMITTEE ACTION 
 
None 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
 
The cost of the above change orders total $333,851 will result in an 
increase to the total not-to-exceed contract amount from $2,201,213 to 
$2,535,064. There is sufficient fy 23-24 project budget to cover the 
proposed change orders. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 

1. Contract Change Order 5 
2. Contract Change Order 7 
3. Contract Change Order 8 
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1370 Norman Avenue  

Santa Clara, CA 95054  

Lic. No. 245215 

 

ANDERSON PACIFIC 
Engineering Construction, Inc. 

 
November 2, 2023 
 
 

San Lorenzo Valley Water District 
13060 CA-9 
Boulder Creek, CA  95006 
 
Attn:  Steve Yazalina, Sandis  
 
Reference:  Alta Via Pipeline Replacement Project, Potential Change Order No. 5- Culvert 
Repair. 
 
Mr. Yazalina: 
 
APEC has been directed to repair a separating culvert at Pipe Section 101 on Monan Way.  This 
PCO includes all labor, material and equipment to repair the separation and backfill excavation 
with slurry.   
 
 
             Culvert Repair:  $2,250.00 
 
 
                ______________ 
                  TOTAL:  $2,250.00 
 
 
 
 
 
If you have any questions, please do not hesitate to contact me.  
 
 
 
Regards, 
 

Michael P. Gossett 
 
Michael P. Gossett 
Project Manager 
Anderson Pacific Engineering Construction, Inc. 
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1370 Norman Avenue  

Santa Clara, CA 95054  

Lic. No. 245215 

 

ANDERSON PACIFIC 
Engineering Construction, Inc. 

 
December 7, 2023 
 
 

San Lorenzo Valley Water District 
13060 CA-9 
Boulder Creek, CA  95006 
 
Attn:  Steve Yazalina, Sandis  
 
Reference:  Alta Via Pipeline Replacement Project, Potential Change Order No. 7- 
Temporary Bridge Installation on Monan Way. 
 
Mr. Yazalina: 
 
APEC was directed by the District to install a temporary bridge on Monan Way to prevent further 
damage to the existing road conditions.  This PCO includes Daily Extra Work Reports for the 
installation of the temporary bridge structure.  Please note that APEC expected this bridge to be 
temporary and not be a fixture for several months.  APEC has elected to not charge the District 
for the use of the steel beams but continues to pay rent on the steel plates.  Additional costs have 
accrued due to the delay in the approval of the retaining wall construction and are included in this 
PCO.   
 
Further discussion will be required to finalize the removal of the temporary bridge structure.   
 
 
               Temporary Bridge Installation:  $29,254.16 
 
 
                ______________ 
                  TOTAL:  $29,254.16 
 
 
 
 
If you have any questions, please do not hesitate to contact me.  
 
 
 
Regards, 
 

Michael P. Gossett 
 
Michael P. Gossett 
Project Manager 
Anderson Pacific Engineering Construction, Inc. 
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JoelScianna
Text Box
01 - Delivery of beams, mobilization (9/1)
02 - Equipment + Labor to install beams & excavate (9/5)
03 - Equipment + Labor for additional excavation (9/6)
04 - Delivery of Plates (9/7)
05 - Materials + Construction of Temporary Bridge (9/19)
06 - Equipment + Labor + Subcontractor to weld plates (9/21)

-JS
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1370 Norman Avenue  

Santa Clara, CA 95054  

Lic. No. 245215 

 

ANDERSON PACIFIC 
Engineering Construction, Inc. 

 
December 5, 2023 
 
 

San Lorenzo Valley Water District 
13060 CA-9 
Boulder Creek, CA  95006 
 
Attn:  Steve Yazalina, Sandis  
 
Reference:  Alta Via Pipeline Replacement Project, Potential Change Order No. 8- 
Relocation of Water Main Within Highway 9 in Accordance with Caltrans Project 05-1G950. 
 
Mr. Yazalina: 
 
APEC is pleased to provide the following quotation for the proposed relocation of the water main 
within Highway 9.  This work shall be constructed per drawings by the San Lorenzo Valley Water 
District, dated October 13, 2023.   
 
Exclusions:  inspection and testing; permits; tree trimming/ removal. 
 

Water Main Relocation:   
 
             Labor:  $91,024.00  
          Material:  $118,443.00 
                Equipment:  $31,719.00 
           Subcontractor:  $61,161.00 
 
                ______________ 
           TOTAL:  $302,347.00 
 
 
If you have any questions, please do not hesitate to contact me.  
 
 
 
Regards, 
 

Michael P. Gossett 
 
Michael P. Gossett 
Project Manager 
Anderson Pacific Engineering Construction, Inc. 

Agenda:  1.4.24
Item:  10b

138 



MEMO 
 
 
DATE:  January 4, 2024 

TO:   Board of Directors, San Lorenzo Valley Water District 

FROM:  Brian Frus, General Manager  

SUBJECT: BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ COMMITTEE ASSIGNMENTS FOR  

  2024 

 
WRITTEN BY:   Brian Frus, General Manager  

PRESENTED BY:  Brian Frus, General Manager  

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION  
 

It is recommended that the Board of Directors discuss and adopt the 

recommendations by the Board President for the appointments of Board 

Members to the Standing Committees, and to the Santa Margarita 

Groundwater Management Agency (SMGWA) for 2024. 

 

RECOMMENDED MOTION  
 
I make a motion to adopt the committee appointments as follows:  List the 
appointments 
 
 
BACKGROUND 

On January 20, 2022, the Board of Directors adopted the Board Policy 

Manual 2022.  The Board Policy Manual states: 

The President shall: 

Make recommendations to the Board of Directors, as necessary, to 

establish or disband committees, or to appoint committee members, all 
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subject to Board of Directors approval. 

 

On January 24, 2019, the SMGWA amended their bylaws which state: 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS. The Agency shall be governed by a Board of 

Directors (the “Board of Directors” or "Board") consisting of 11 Directors as 

set forth in Article 6 of the Agreement and as follows:  

 Two (2) representatives appointed by the governing body of each of  

  the Members (“Member Representatives”).  

 One (1) representative appointed by the governing body of the City of  

  Scotts Valley   

 One (1) representative appointed by the governing body of the City of  

  Santa Cruz   

 One (1) representative of the Mt. Hermon Association Community  

  Water System   

 Two (2) representatives of private well owners or small public water  

  systems within the boundaries of the Agency (“Well Owner  

  Representatives”).  

Alternate Directors are appointed pursuant to Section 6.4 of the Agreement 

 

The current appointments are: 

Administration:         Ackemann, Hill 

Budget & Finance: Mahood, Hill 

Engineering & Enviro:  Smolley, Fultz 

SMGWA:        Mahood, Fultz (alternate: Smolley)  

 

Proposed Committee Assignments for 2024: 

Administration:  Ackemann, Fultz 
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Budget & Finance: Mahood, Hill 

Engineering & Enviro: Smolley, Hill 

SMGWA:   Mahood, Smolley (alternate – Ackemann) 

 

PRIOR COMMITTEE ACTION 

None 

 

FISCAL IMPACT 

None 

 

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT 

None 

 

ATTACHMENTS AND RELEVANT LINKS TO DISTRICT WEBSITE 

 Board President’s recommendations 
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MEMO

To: Board of Directors

From: Board President

Subject: Board of Directors’ Committee Assignments for 2024

Date: January 4, 2024

The following are recommended committee assignments for the Board members for 2024.  I have 
attempted to assign the Board members the committees they requested. 

PROPOSED COMMITTEE ASSIGNMENTS FOR 2024

  Administration – Ackemann, Fultz

Budget & Finance – Mahood, Hill

Engineering & Environmental – Smolley, Hill

SMGWA – Mahood, Smolley Alternate – Ackemann
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MEMO 
 

 
DATE: January 4, 2024 
 
TO: Board of Directors, San Lorenzo Valley Water District 
FROM: Brian Frus, Interim General Manager   
SUBJECT: Contract Change Orders - Redwood Park Pipeline Replacement 
Project 
 
WRITTEN BY: Garrett Roffe, Engineering Manager 
PRESENTED BY: Garrett Roffe, Engineering Manager 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
 
Approve the attached Contract Change Orders 1 and 2 for payment to 
Casey Construction Inc. as part of the District’s Redwood Park Pipeline 
Replacement project.   
 
RECOMMENDED MOTION 
 
I move that: 

The Board approve Contract Change Orders 1 and 2 for payment to 
Casey Construction Inc. for the Redwood Park Pipeline Replacement 
project in the sum of $62,900, increasing the not to exceed contract 
amount from $547,601 to $610,501 

 
BACKGROUND 
 
The Redwood Park Pipeline Replacement project was initiated to install 
approximately 1,350 lineal-feet of water main pipeline along Country Club 
Drive and Woodland Drive in Ben Lomond, California. The main replaced 
an undersized pipeline in anticipation of a proposed new storage tank. On 
February 2, 2023, the Board authorized the District Manager to enter into a 
Contract Agreement with Casey Construction, Inc. for the bid amount of 
$547,601. On March 9, 2023, the Contract Agreement was executed. The 
Redwood Park Pipeline Replacement project is now substantially complete. 
Casey Construction Inc. has submitted final billing for payment in the form 
of two contract change orders (CCOs):  
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CCO 1 – Service Connection Transfers 
 
District mapping showed the three (3) existing meter connections on the 
existing Swim Zone water main. After the new Swim Zone water main was 
put into service, the District received customer complaints of low water 
pressure. Upon further review of the existing system, the three (3) meter 
connections were determined to have been on the Spring Zone water main. 
The Contractor was directed to transfer the three (3) service connections 
from Swim Zone main to Spring Zone Main for payment adjustment at 
agreed lump sum of $24,200. 
 
CCO 2 – As-Built Quantities Differed from Bit Item Quantities 
 
Project Specifications Section 01 20 00, Measurement and Payment 
indicate unit prices for certain bid items shall be as measured in the field 
regardless of quantities indicated on the plans or in the bid sheet. To 
reconcile as-built quantities compared to the bid item quantities for payment 
adjustment at agreed lump sum of $38,700. 
 
The total of change orders for final payment amount to $62,900. 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL REQUIREMENTS 
 
There is no required environmental work. 
 
PRIOR COMMITTEE ACTION 
 
None 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
 
The cost of the above change orders total $62,900 will result in an increase 
to the total not-to-exceed contract amount from $547,601 to $610,501. 
There is sufficient fy 23-24 project budget to cover the proposed change 
orders. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 

1. Contract Change Order 1 
2. Contract Change Order 2 
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13060 Highway 9 Boulder Creek, CA 95006  
www.SLVWD.com  

(831) 338-2153 

 

Redwood Park Pipeline Project – Contract Change Order 

December 11, 2023 

Change Order No. 02 

Contract No. 22/23-19 

 

To: Casey Construction, Inc. 

 

This Change Order No. 02 for the San Lorenzo Valley Water District’s Redwood Park Pipeline Project 

encompasses the following changes to Contract No. 22/23-19: 

 

1. As-built item quantities differed from bid item quantities, requiring: 

a. Additional twenty (20) LF of 8-inch Ductile Iron Water Main, Bid Item No.4 at $260/ft 

b. Additional two (2) 8-inch Resilient Wedge Gate Valve, Bid Item No.7 at $2,200 each 

c. Credit one (1) 6-inch Resilient Wedge Gate Valve, Bid Item No.8 at $1,800 each 

d. Additional two (2) 2-inch Resilient Wedge Gate Valve, Bid Item No.10 at $700 each 

e. Additional one (1) 6-inch Hydrant Service, Bid Item No. 11 at $13,500 each 

f. Additional four (4) 1-inch Service Lines, Bid Item No.18 at $4,000 each 

 

Payment Adjustment at Agreed Lump Sum of $38,700.00; Adjusted Contract price is $610,501.00 

By signing this change order all parties agree to the preceding changes to the plans,  

specifications, and contract documents. 

 

________________________________     Date: _______________  

Brian Frus, Interim General Manager  

San Lorenzo Valley Water District  

  

________________________________     Date: _______________  

Gerry McGrillen, Project Manager 

Casey Construction, Inc 

 

________________________________     Date: _______________  

Garrett Roffe, Engineering Manager 

San Lorenzo Valley Water District 
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MEMO 
 

 
DATE: January 4, 2024 
 
TO: Board of Directors, San Lorenzo Valley Water District 
FROM: Brian Frus, Interim General Manager   
SUBJECT: Contract Change Orders – Fall Creek Fish Ladder Rehabilitation 
Project 
 
WRITTEN BY: Garrett Roffe, Engineering Manager 
PRESENTED BY: Garrett Roffe, Engineering Manager 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
 
Approve the attached Contract Change Orders 1, 2, 3, 4 and 5 for payment 
to Syblon Reid Construction Inc. as part of the District’s Fall Creek Fish 
Ladder Rehabilitation project.   
 
RECOMMENDED MOTION 
 
I move that: 

The Board approve Contract Change Orders 1, 2, 3, 4 and 5 for 
payment to Syblon Reid Construction Inc. for the Fall Creek Fish 
Ladder Rehabilitation project in the sum of $123,627, increasing the 
not to exceed contract amount from $2,365,720 to $2,489,347. 

 
BACKGROUND 
 
The Fall Creek Fish Ladder Rehabilitation project provides modification to 
the existing Fall Creek Fish Ladder weirs, construction of three new weirs, 
refurbishment of the existing raw water intake pump system, improved site 
access structures, fencing, erosion control, electrical systems, piping 
improvements, and restoration of the project area. On February 16, 2023, 
the Board authorized the District Manager to enter into a Contract 
Agreement with Syblon Reid Construction, Inc. for the bid amount of 
$2,365,720. On April 10, 2023, the Contract Agreement was executed. 
Syblon Reid Construction Inc. has submitted pricing for payment in the form 
of five contract change orders (CCOs):  
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CCO 1 – Time and Materials Tree Work 
 
Prior to the start of site work a tree had fallen into the work area. The 
District requested the additional work of tree removal on a time and 
materials basis. The Contractor agreed to the extra work to remove the 
fallen tree and submitted Daily Extra Work Reports for payment adjustment 
at agreed lump sum of $9,417.41. 
 
CCO 2 – Catwalk Removal at Weir #1 
 
The District removed the scope of work for the proposed metal catwalk at 
weir #1 resulting in a credit of $25,000. 
 
CCO 3 – Electrical Scope Changes 
 
The District installed the power service pole and meter prior to the start of 
work resulting in a credit of $3,675. The Motor Control Center from Tesco 
required upgrades to its components to use the District’s existing SCADA 
system resulting in a cost increase of $9,944.55. The electrical scope 
changes payment adjustment at agreed lump sum of $6,269.55. 
 
CCO 4 – Additional Concrete Demolition 
 
Additional concrete was discovered in the creek channel following 
dewatering activities. The Contractor has agreed to a payment adjustment 
at agreed lump sum of $48,000. 
 
CCO 5 – Bedrock Elevation 
 
Upon excavation of the footings for Weir 1 and the grade control weir, 
bedrock was at a significantly lower elevation than originally anticipated and 
shown on the plans. After meeting with Brad Streeter on site it was 
determined that Weir 1 should be adjusted so that the top of the footing 
runs level at elevation 85.75 instead of running at an angle from 85.75 to 
94.0. The project Structural Engineer designed a new detail for the grade 
control weir based on the actual conditions found after excavation. 
Changes to accommodate the bedrock elevation were tracked on Daily 
Extra Work Reports for a payment adjustment at agreed lump sum of 
$84,939.69. 
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The total of change orders for final payment amount to $123,627. 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL REQUIREMENTS 
 
There is no required environmental work. 
 
PRIOR COMMITTEE ACTION 
 
None 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
 
The cost of the above change orders total $123,627 will result in an 
increase to the total not-to-exceed contract amount from $2,365,720 to 
$2,489,37. There is sufficient fy 23-24 project budget to cover the proposed 
change orders. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 

1. Contract Change Order 1 
2. Contract Change Order 2 
3. Contract Change Order 3 
4. Contract Change Order 4 
5. Contract Change Order 5 
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San Lorenzo Valley Water District 
Fall Creek Fish Ladder Rehabilitation - Contract Change Order 

July 11, 2023 
Change order No. 002 Catwalk Removal at Weir #1 
 
MME Job No. 21131 
 
To: _____     Syblon Reid __________________, Contractor 
 
NOTE: This change order is not effective until approved by SLVWD 
 
Payment Adjustment at Agreed Lump Sum Credit of $25,000.00: 
By signing this change order all parties agree to the following changes to the plans, 
specifications, and contract documents: 

1. Loading, Offhaul, Unloading of Existing Catwalk to Olympia Yard 
Cost for Additional Work    1 LS = $4,178.07 
 

2. Omission of 1 EA Catwalk (Fabrication by Matrix Metals, Installation by Syblon Reid) 
Credit for Work Removed From Scope  1 LS = $29,178.07 
 

3. This change will not impact the controlling activity. No time adjustment is made. 
 

Total Credit 1, 2 & 3 = $25,000.00 
 

• The Adjusted Contract Price is $2,350,137.41 
 

 
________________________________  Date:_______________ 
Brian Frus, Interim General Manager 
San Lorenzo Valley Water District 
 
 
__________________________________  Date:_______________ 
Jared Stevens/Project Manager 
Syblon Reid 
 
 
________________________________  Date:_______________ 
Matt Weld, P.E. 
Engineer of Record, Waterways 

i:\21131 slvwd - fall creek fish ladder cm\construction\cco's\cco #2 - catwalk removal at weir #1\2023 07 11  cco 002 catwalk removal at weir #1.docx 
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San Lorenzo Valley Water District 
Fall Creek Fish Ladder Rehabilitation - Contract Change Order 

November 6, 2023 
Change order No. 003 Electrical Scope Changes 
 
MME Job No. 21131 
 
To: _____     Syblon Reid __________________, Contractor 
 
NOTE: This change order is not effective until approved by SLVWD 
 
Payment Adjustment at Agreed Lump Sum of $6,269.55: 
By signing this change order all parties agree to the following changes to the plans, 
specifications, and contract documents: 

1. Sac Valley Electric Modifications/Additions to MCC 
Cost for Additional Work    1 LS = $9,944.55 
 

2. Sac Valley Electric Meter/Main and Pole 
Credit for Work Removed From Scope  1 LS = $3,675.00 
 

3. This change will not impact the controlling activity. No time adjustment is made. 
 

Total Cost 1, 2 & 3 = $6,269.55 
 

• The Adjusted Contract Price is $2,356,406.96 
 

 
________________________________  Date:_______________ 
Brian Frus, Interim General Manager 
San Lorenzo Valley Water District 
 
 
__________________________________  Date:_______________ 
Jared Stevens/Project Manager 
Syblon Reid 
 
 
________________________________  Date:_______________ 
Matt Weld, P.E. 
Engineer of Record, Waterways 

i:\21131 slvwd - fall creek fish ladder cm\construction\cco's\cco #3 - electrical scope changes\2023 11 06  cco 003 electrical scope changes.docx 
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San Lorenzo Valley Water District 
Fall Creek Fish Ladder Rehabilitation - Contract Change Order 

September 19, 2023 
Change order No. 004 Concrete Demolition 
 
MME Job No. 21131 
 
To: _____     Syblon Reid __________________, Contractor 
 
NOTE: This change order is not effective until approved by SLVWD 
 
Payment Adjustment at Agreed Lump Sum of $48,000.00: 
By signing this change order all parties agree to the following changes to the plans, 
specifications, and contract documents: 

1. Lump Sum payment for additional concrete demolition not shown on plans 
Additional Concrete Demolition    1 LS = $48,000.00 
 

2. This change will not impact the controlling activity. No time adjustment is made. 
 

Total Cost 1 & 2 = $48,000.00 
 

• The Adjusted Contract Price is $2,404,406.96 
 

 
________________________________  Date:_______________ 
Brian Frus, Interim General Manager 
San Lorenzo Valley Water District 
 
 
__________________________________  Date:_______________ 
Jared Stevens/Project Manager 
Syblon Reid 
 
 
________________________________  Date:_______________ 
Matt Weld, P.E. 
Engineer of Record, Waterways 

i:\21131 slvwd - fall creek fish ladder cm\construction\cco's\cco #4 - concrete demolition\2023 09 19 cco 004 concrete demolition.docx 
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San Lorenzo Valley Water District 
Fall Creek Fish Ladder Rehabilitation - Contract Change Order 

October 13, 2023 
Change order No. 005 Bedrock Elevation 
 
MME Job No. 21131 
 
To: _____     Syblon Reid __________________, Contractor 
 
NOTE: This change order is not effective until approved by SLVWD 
 
Payment Adjustment at Agreed Lump Sum of $84,939.69: 
By signing this change order all parties agree to the following changes to the plans, 
specifications, and contract documents: 

1. Additional excavation, off-haul and dump fees, forming, reinforcement, concrete and 
shotcrete placement resulting from the change in bedrock elevation encountered near Weir 
1 and the Grade Control Weir. 
Extra Work Report No. 1            1 LS = $84,939.69 
 

2. This change will not impact the controlling activity. No time adjustment is made. 
 

Total Cost 1 & 2 = $84,939.69 
 

• The Adjusted Contract Price is $2,489,346.65 
 

 
________________________________  Date:_______________ 
Brian Frus, Interim General Manager 
San Lorenzo Valley Water District 
 
 
__________________________________  Date:_______________ 
Jared Stevens/Project Manager 
Syblon Reid 
 
 
________________________________  Date:_______________ 
Matt Weld, P.E. 
Engineer of Record, Waterways 

i:\21131 slvwd - fall creek fish ladder cm\construction\cco's\cco #5 - bedrock elevationk\2023 10 13 cco 005 bedrock elevation.docx 
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M E M O 

 

DATE:  January 4, 2024 

TO:   Board of Directors, San Lorenzo Valley Water District 

FROM:  Brian Frus, General Manager 

SUBJECT:  Long Service Line Agreement for Arnold Avenue   

   Properties 

WRITTEN BY:  Joel Scianna, Assistant Engineer 

PRESENTED BY: Brian Frus, General Manager 

  

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

 

It is recommended that the Board of Directors review this memo and 

approve the attached resolution authorizing the District Manager to execute 

Long Service Line Agreements with Pavtino, LLC (proprietors Scott Pavlina 

& Justin Tarantino) owner of APN 076-211-02 and 076-202-02, and James 

Scarborough owner of APN 076-211-01, on behalf of the District. 

 

RECOMMENDED MOTION: 

I move that the Board of Directors adopt the attached resolution. 

 

BACKGROUND: 

 

As far back as the 1950’s, four homes on Arnold Avenue (listed below) 

have received water service from a single meter and service line, 

connected to a shared tank and pressure system. This service predates 

District standards mandating that one meter may not serve multiple parcels, 

and that service lines should not be shared.  
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- 405 Arnold Avenue (APN 076-202-01) Owned by Pavtino, assigned 

to current meter 

- 375 Arnold Avenue (APN 076-202-02) Owned by Pavtino 

- 420 Arnold Avenue (APN 076-211-02) Owned by Pavtino 

- 400 Arnold Avenue (APN 076-211-01) Owned by James Scarborough 

 

The existing service has remained as-is until now, but as the current 

homeowners are looking into the option of selling the properties, it is in all 

parties’ best interest to provide a way for new residents to be in compliance 

with current District standards.  

 

As such, three additional water meters are to be installed in a meter bank 

along Love Creek Drive, where future homeowners can connect with 

individual service lines and pressure systems. Homeowners will be 

responsible for obtaining necessary easements, which they have provided, 

and for funding the installation of the meter bank and account 

establishment fees. The District will waive meter connection fees given the 

properties predate current requirements.  

 

It is recommended that the Board of Directors approve the attached 

resolution which authorizes a long service line agreement for APN’s 076-

211-02, 076-202-02, and 076-211-01. 

 

PRIOR COMMITTEE ACTION 

None 

 

Agenda:  1.4.24
Item:  11c



FISCAL IMPACT 

The District will receive (3) deposits for $2,520, for a total of $7,560, to 

cover the cost of installing the proposed meter bank, as well as additional 

monthly water rates from three new customers. 

 

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT 

None 

 

ATTACHMENTS AND RELEVANT LINKS TO DISTRICT WEBSITE 

 Resolution 

 Agreements 

 GIS Exhibit 
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SAN LORENZO VALLEY WATER DISTRICT 

 

RESOLUTION NO. __ (22-23) 

 

SUBJECT: APPROVAL OF AGREEMENT REGARDING WATER SERVICE FOR APN’s 

076-211-02, 076-202-02, and 076-211-01 IN BEN LOMOND  

   

 WHEREAS, the Applicants desire to receive individual water services as customers of 

the District; and  

 

 WHEREAS, the Applicants’ properties, APN’s 076-211-02, 076-202-02, and 076-211-

01, generally located at 420 Arnold Avenue, 375 Arnold Avenue, and 400 Arnold Avenue 

respectively, in Ben Lomond California, are situated within the boundaries of the District; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the parcels are within the District’s service area; and 

   

 WHEREAS, water service will be by private long service lines extending from the meter 

bank location along Love Creek Road; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the District is interested in allowing service to these parcel to be brought up 

to current District standards and this agreement provides the covenants necessary to resolve the 

current situation. 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the San Lorenzo 

Valley Water District that the General Manager is authorized and directed to execute the 

agreement regarding water service to the Applicants, on behalf of the District. 
 

* * * * * * * * * * * * *  
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Board of Directors of the San Lorenzo Valley Water District, 

County of Santa Cruz, State of California, on the 1st day of December, 2023, by the following 

vote of the members thereof: 

 

  AYES:    

  NOES:  

  ABSENT:  

  ABSTAIN: 

 

       __________________________ 

       Holly B. Hossack, District Secretary 

       San Lorenzo Valley Water District 
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   M E M O 
 
DATE:  January 4, 2023 
 
TO:   Board of Directors, San Lorenzo Valley Water District 
 
FROM:  General Manager  
 
SUBJECT:  MULTIPLE USER VARIANCE RENEWALS FOR   
   2023/2024 
 
PREPARED BY:   Finance Department 
 
PRESENTED BY: General Manager 
 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
 
It is recommended that the Board of Directors review this memo and 

approve a one-year variance from Multiple User Status for the following 

property owners: 

 

006179-000 006823-000 009988-000 017699-000 

006196-001 006901-000 010856-000 017816-000 

006282-000 006933-000 010935-000  

006337-000 006934-000 012426-000  

006432-000 006979-000 013174-000  

006497-000 007194-000 013523-000  

006498-000 007223-000 014614-000  

006512-000 007461-000 015705-000  

006560-000 007704-000 016441-000  

006659-000 008357-000 016700-000  

 
RECOMMENDED MOTION 
 
I move that the Board adopt the attached resolution that approves the one-

year variance from Multiple User Status. 
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BACKGROUND 
 
The Customer Service Department has completed its annual review of the 

accounts that have been given a variance from Multiple User Status, as 

provided in Ordinances 43 and 47.  Those who qualify for the exemption 

are charged the 5/8” monthly basic fee as a single-family dwelling, while 

those who are multiple users are charged 1” monthly basic service fee. 

 

Zero (0) accounts were removed from the variance list because the 

property changed ownership, the unit was found to be a permanent single-

family dwelling both units are occupied, or because the owner failed to send 

back the necessary compliance form. It is recommended that the accounts 

listed above be approved for a one-year variance from Multiple User Status.  

 
PRIOR COMMITTEE ACTION 

None 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 

Less than $7,000 

 

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT 

None 

 

ATTACHMENTS AND RELEVANT LINKS TO DISTRICT WEBSITE 

 Resolution No. XX (23-24) 
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SAN LORENZO VALLEY WATER DISTRICT 
 

RESOLUTION NO. XX (23/24) 
 

 
SUBJECT: MULTIPLE USER VARIANCE RENEWALS FOR 2023/2024 
 
 WHEREAS, the Customer Service Department has completed its annual review of 
the accounts that have been given a variance from multiple user status as provided in 
Ordinance 43 and 47; and 
 
 WHEREAS, those accounts who qualify for the exemption are charged the 5/8” 
meter monthly basic fee as a single family dwelling, while those who are multiple users 
are charged a 1” meter monthly basic service fee; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board of Directors has reviewed the multiple users’ variance list 
and desires to grant approval of a one-year variance from multiple user status;   
 
 NOW THERFORE BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the San Lorenzo 
Valley Water District that the accounts listed on the attached multiple user variance list 
be granted approval of a one-year variance from multiple user status.  
 

* * * * * * * * * * 
 
 PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Board of Directors of the San Lorenzo Valley 
Water District, County of Santa Cruz, State of CA, on the 4th day of January, 2024 by the 
following vote of the members thereof: 
 
   AYES:   
   NOES:  
   ABSTAIN:  
   ABSENT:   
 
 
 
         __________ 
      Holly Hossack, District Secretary 
      San Lorenzo Valley Water District 
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
SAN LORENZO VALLEY WATER 

DISTRICT  
REGULAR MEETING 

MINUTES 
NOVEMBER 2, 2023 

 
Thursday, November 2, 2023, at 5:30 p.m., SLVWD Conference Room, 12788 Highway 
9, Boulder Creek, and via videoconference and teleconference.  
 
 

1.   Convene Meeting:  5:30 p.m. 
  Roll Call 
  Board Members Present: 
  Mark Smolley, President 
  Jeff Hill, Vice President 
  Jayme Ackemann, Director 
  Gail Mahood, Director 
  Bob Fultz, Director* 
   
  Staff Present: 
  Barbara Brenner, District Counsel* 
  Holly Hossack, District Secretary 
  Scott Mattoch, Network Specialist 
   
  Attended remotely* 
 
2.    Changes to Closed Session Agenda:  None 

  
3.     Oral Communications Regarding Items in Closed Session: None 

  
4.     Adjournment to Closed Session: 5:32 p.m. 

  
  5.  Re-Convene Meeting:  6:30 p.m. 
  Roll Call 

  Board Members Present: 
  Mark Smolley, President 
  Jeff Hill, Vice President  
  Jayme Ackemann, Director 
  Gail Mahood, Director 
  Bob Fultz, Director* 
   
  Staff Present: 
  Barbara Brenner, District Counsel* 
  Holly Hossack, District Secretary 
  Scott Mattoch, Network Specialist 
  Rick Rogers, District Manager 
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  Garrett Roffe, District Engineer 
  Carly Blanchard, Environmental Programs Manager & Admin Analyst 
  James Furtado, Director of Operations 
 
  Attended remotely* 
 
  Pres. Smolley introduced Supervisor Bruce McPherson. 
 
  Supervisor McPherson addressed the Board and presented a resolution of 
appreciation to Rick Rogers from the County of Santa Cruz Board of Supervisors. 

 
 6.      Report of Actions Taken in Closed Session:  None 
 
7.   Changes to the Agenda: None   

  
8.   Oral Communications: None   

  
     9.   New Business: 
 
  a. APPRECIATION FOR RICK ROGERS UPON HIS RETIREMENT 
   M. Smolley introduced and explained this item. 
 
   A motion was made and seconded to be it resolved by the Board of 

Directors of the San Lorenzo Valley Water District that Rick Rogers is hereby 
commended for 48 years of dedicated service to the District. He has the deep respect 
of all who have worked with him, and he is viewed with affection and gratitude by the 
community.  His tireless work ethic, deep knowledge of the District’s water systems, 
and devotion to the District and the San Lorenzo Valley community will be sorely 
missed. 

 
   Discussion by the Board regarding: 

 Rick’s service to the District 

 Inspiration 

 Responsiveness 

 Trustworthiness 

 Happy retirement 
 
  R. Moran (Ben Lomond), D. McNair (former employee), J. Mosher, L. Ford, 
E. Fresco (Felton), A. Layng (Boulder Creek), J. Furtado (Director of Operations) 
addressed the Board and Rick. 
 
  M. Smolley presented R. Rogers with a clock from the Board. 
 
  R. Rogers thanked everyone. 
 
  The motion passed unanimously. 
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       b. INTERIM GENERAL MANAGER 
  M. Smolley introduced and explained this item. 
 
  B. Frus addressed the Board. 
 
  Discussion by the Board regarding: 

 Welcome  

 Legal Document 

 In office position 

 Leave/Personal Time Off 

 Termination  

 Indemnification 

 Clarification of interim General Manager  

 Process for permanent General Manager 
 
  A motion was made and seconded for the Board to extend an offer of 
 employment to Brian Frus for the position of Interim General Manager as specified 
 in the attached employment agreement. 
 
  J. Furtado, Director of Operations, addressed the Board. 
 
  The motion passed unanimously. 

     
    10.     Unfinished Business:  

  
 a. CROSS COUNTRY PIPELINE - PEAVINE  
  R. Rogers introduced and explained this item. 
 
  Discussion by the Board regarding: 

 Timeline 

 History of the pipeline 

 Infeasibility of hand dug underground pipeline 

 Soil coverage in areas 

 Emergency cut-off valves/gases 

 Environmental impact – once the bench is cut work must begin 
immediately 

 Re-establishment of the trail 

 Surface water source is needed 

 Go ahead with tree removal 

 Moving forward with environmental 
 
  E. Martin, Boulder Creek, addressed the Board. 
 
  R. Moran, Ben Lomond, addresses the Board. 
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  Discussion by the Board regarding: 

 Hazardous tree removal – lop & scatter 

 Shut off valves and other protective measures 
 
  A motion was made and seconded for the Board to direct the Interim 
 General Manager to begin the replacement of the Peavine Raw Water Supply Line 
 with above grade 8” HDPE pipeline starting immediately with hazardous tree 
 removal, re-establishment of the pipeline trail, and necessary environmental 
 review. 
 
  The motion passed with a 4 to 1 majority in favor of the motion, Director 
 Fultz voting no.  Motion passed. 
 
  A motion was made and seconded with work on the Peavine Raw Water 
 Supply Line is underway the Board directs the General Manager and the 
 Engineering & Environmental Committee to explore ways to make above grade 
 HDPE pipeline more resilient in case of wildfire.  
 
  The motion passed unanimously.   

 
 b. 2023 RATE STUDY 
  H. Ippoliti introduced and explained this item. 
  T. Jurotich, Raftelis, presented this item. 
  H. Ippoliti added that the Admin Committee will be meeting to discuss the 
 public outreach on this plan. 
 
  Discussion by the Board regarding: 

 Fire Surcharge is a component of the water bill 

 Rates must increase 

 Largest impact will be on high water users 

 Outreach 

 Low Income Rate Assistance (LIRA) 

 Drought surcharge 

 P & L report 

 Peaking costs/hours 

 Justifiable tiers 

 Debt service 

 Presentation is understandable 

 Scheduling of meetings – low turn out 
 
 R. Moran, Ben Lomond, addressed the Board. 
  
 E. Martin, Boulder Creek, addressed the Board. 
 
 A. Zilber, addressed the Board. 
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  Discussion by the Board regarding: 

 Need for a motion 

 Timing of the meetings 

 2 Prop 218 processes- Water & Wastewater  

 Expectations of the Board 
 
  A motion was made and seconded for the Board to accept the staff report 
 concerning the utility rate structure as presented November 2, 2023, and directs 
 staff to conduct public outreach based on input from the Admin Committee, and 
 return by no later than December 7, 2023, with a resolution authorizing staff to 
 move forward with the Prop 218 process with the presented rates. 
 
  M. Smith, Boulder Creek, addressed the Board. 
 
  The motion passed with a 4 to 1 majority in favor of the motion, Director 
 Fultz voting no.  Motion passed. 

 
   11.   Consent Agenda:  Approved  

   a. SPECIAL BOARD OF DIRECTORS MINUTES 10.16.23 
 

    12.    District Reports:  No comments. 
        

  13.   Written Communication:  None 
   
  14.        Informational Material: None 
 
  15.   Adjournment: 9: 33 p.m. 
 
 
 
Minutes approved: ____________________ 
 
 
____________________________ 

 Holly B. Hossack, District Secretary 
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
SAN LORENZO VALLEY WATER 

DISTRICT  
SPECIAL MEETING 

MINUTES 
NOVEMBER 8, 2023 

 
Wednesday, November 8, 2023, at 6:00 p.m., SLVWD Conference Room,12788 
Highway 9, Boulder Creek, 105 Blueberry Dr., Scotts Valley, 22100 Van de Hei Ranch 
Road, Pioneer, CA and via videoconference and teleconference.  
 
1.  Convene Meeting 
  Roll Call 
 
  Board Members Present: 
  Mark Smolley, President* 
  Jeff Hill, Vice President* 
  Jayme Ackemann, Acting President 
  Bob Fultz, Director 
  Gail Mahood, Director 
 
  A motion was made and seconded to appoint J. Ackemann as acting president  
  for this meeting. 
 
  The motion passed unanimously. 
 
  *attended virtually 
 
  Staff Present: 
  Carly Blanchard, Acting General Manager/Environmental Programs Manager 
  Barbara Brenner, District Counsel* 
  Holly Hossack, District Secretary 
  Scott Mattoch, Network Specialist 
  Garrett Roffe, Engineering Manager 
 
  *attended virtually 
 
2.   Additions and Deletions: None 
   

    3.    New Business:  
 a. CONSTRUCTION CHANGE ORDERS FOR 2021 CIP PIPELINE   
  PROJECT 
  G. Roffe introduced and explain this item. 
 
  Discussion by the Board regarding: 

 Scope that remains for paving 
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 Change order origin 

 County involvement in the process 

 Igo Way base rock JMB responsibility 

 Additional changes for informational purposes 

 Why these change orders? More specific information is needed. 

 There is an error in the plans/lump sum 

 Drainage issues in one section 

 Potholing – drainage manifold pipe paved over  

 Contractor issues/behavior 

 Independent assessment of roads 

 Anticipate the unexpected for bids 

 Sandis involvement in this project 

 County roads require 2” overlay 

 Impact on customer’s property  
 
  A motion was made and seconded to direct the Acting General Manager to 
 amend the existing contract with JMB Construction, Inc. in the amount not to 
 exceed $325,208.41 to approve the change orders for drainage management and 
 exploratory potholing for the 2021 CIP Pipeline Project. 
 
  The motion passed unanimously.   

    
    4.  Adjournment:  6:35 p.m. 
 
   
Minutes approved: ____________________ 
 
 
____________________________ 

 Holly B. Hossack, District Secretary 
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
SAN LORENZO VALLEY WATER 

DISTRICT  
REGULAR MEETING 

MINUTES 
NOVEMBER 16, 2023 

 
Thursday, November 16, 2023, at 5:30 p.m., SLVWD Conference Room, 12788 
Highway 9, Boulder Creek, One Concord Center, 2300 Clayton Rd., Suite 1150, 
Concord, CA and via videoconference and teleconference.  
 
 

1.     Convene Meeting 
  Roll Call 
 
  Board Members Present: 
  Mark Smolley, President 
  Jeff Hill, Vice President 
  Jayme Ackemann, Director* 
  Bob Fultz, Director 
  Gail Mahood, Director 
 
  *attended remotely 
 
  Staff Present: 
  Doug White, District Counsel* 
  Holly Hossack, District Secretary 
  Scott Mattoch, Network Specialist 
  Carly Blanchard, Acting General Manager/Environmental Programs Manager 
   
  *attended remotely 
 
2.    Changes to Closed Session Agenda:  None 

  
3.     Oral Communications Regarding Items in Closed Session: None 

  
4.     Adjournment to Closed Session:  5:31 p.m.  

 
   5.  Re-Convene Meeting:  6:30 p.m. 
  Roll Call 
 

  Board Members Present: 
  Mark Smolley, President 
  Jeff Hill, Vice President 
  Jayme Ackemann, Director* 
  Bob Fultz, Director 
  Gail Mahood, Director 
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  *attended remotely 

 
  Staff Present: 
  Barbara Brenner, District Counsel* 
  Holly Hossack, District Secretary 
  Scott Mattoch, Network Specialist 
  Rick Rogers, District Manager 
  Garrett Roffe, District Engineer 
  Carly Blanchard, Environmental Programs Manager & Admin Analyst 
  James Furtado, Director of Operations 
 
  *attended remotely 
 
6.      Report of Actions Taken in Closed Session:  None 
 
7.     Changes to the Agenda:  
 
  Item 10c will be first on the agenda to accommodate Director Ackemann having a 
  work related conflict and will have to leave. 
   
8.    Oral Communications: 
 
 J. Mosher, Friends of San Lorenzo Water, addressed the Board. 
 M. Dolson addressed the Board. 
 L. Ford addressed the Board. 
 

10.   New Business: 
 
  c. PROPOSITION 218 OUTREACH 
   C. Blanchard introduced and explained this item. 
 
   J Ackemann, Admin Committee Chair, added that the Committee 

 concluded that the District’s time & money would be better spent on outreach 
 directing the public to the December 7, 2023, BoD meeting where rates for the  

  Prop 218 process will be authorized. 
 
   Discussion by the Board regarding: 

 Clarification of date for increase authorization meeting 

 Public Hearing(s)-more discussion with workshop setting 

 Flyer/sales material 

 Dissenting opinions 
 
 J. Mosher, Felton, addressed the Board 
 
 M. Dolson, Admin Committee member, addressed the Board. 
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  Discussion by the Board regarding: 

 December 7 BoD meeting staff memo and Raftelis presentation 

 December 29 the Prop 218 notices are mailed – February 15 is the 
Public Hearing on the Prop 218 

 The number of customers in each category in each season/graph 
form 

 
  A motion was made and seconded to accept the staff report concerning 
 Prop 218 outreach with the modifications to the schedule. 
 
  The motion passed with 3 members of the Board voting in favor of the 
 motion and Directors Fultz and Ackemann voting no. 
 
  A motion was made and seconded that we will come back to the Board 
 with a plan for a public outreach workshop to be held between December 29, 
 2023, and February 15, 2024, a format to be defined at the next Admin 
 Committee meeting and at a date to be determined. 
 
  The motion passed with 4 members of the Board voting in favor of the 
 motion and Director Fultz voting no. 
    

    9.   Unfinished Business:  
 
  a. ALTA VIA DRIVE MAIN REPLACEMENT PROJECT - CHANGE ORDERS 
   G. Roffe introduced and explained this item. 
 
   Discussion by the Board regarding: 

 Memo was well written  

 Cost of pipe went up/should have been brought to the Board earlier 

 Clarify future contracts price changes  

 Santa Cruz County’s culvert repair  

 Utility search for pre-existing pipes 

 Contractor complaints from public 
 
  A motion was made and seconded to direct the Acting General Manager to 
 amend the existing contract with Anderson Pacific Engineering Construction in an 
 amount not to exceed $93,742.69 for the requested change orders #1, #2, & #3. 
 
  The motion passed unanimously. 

 
  b. ALTA VIA DRIVE MAIN REPLACEMENT PROJECT – MONAN WAY  

  SOLDIER PILE WALL 
   G. Roffe introduced and asked for questions on this item. 
 
   Discussion by the Board regarding: 

 This is a private road in poor condition 

 The District did not do anything to cause this issue 
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 There are 7 water meters passed the dead end road (not all of the 
meters are in use at this time) 

 Competitive bids 

 Anticipated cost $16,500 - $22,000 in addition to the contract for 
paving 

 Is this considered a gift of public funds – enough of a benefit to the 
District 

 The CZU Fire is a consideration 

 Not the District’s responsibility 

 Our pipe is already installed; we cannot pave beyond the road failure 
unless we build a wall 

 Road pavement is in poor condition 

 The contractor will not pave without the wall 

 The wall will protect our water main 

 Before the fire it was above grade pipe 

 Abandonment of the installed pipe  

 Alternate fixes 
 
 Director Ackemann left the meeting at 7:38 p.m. 
 
  A motion was made and seconded to direct the Acting General Manager to 
 amend the existing contract with Anderson Pacific Engineering Construction in an 
 amount not to exceed $198,900 for the construction of the Monan Way Soldier Pile 
 Retaining Wall. 
 
  E. Martin, Boulder Creek, addressed the Board. 

 
       The motion did not pass, Directors Smolley, Hill, and Mahood voted no. 
 

  10.   New Business:  
 
  a. RECENT INTERACTIONS WITH BIG BASIN WATER COMPANY 
   Pres. Smolley introduced and explained this item. 
    
   Discussion by the Board regarding: 

 Rates our costs plus overhead must be charged  

 Contract is needed, similar to contract w/ Scotts Valley Water 
District-strict payment terms 

 Emergency only 

 Staff issue or Board issue 

  
  
   A motion was made to direct the Acting/Interim General Manager to meet 
 with the Budget & Finance committee to discuss a Compensation Agreement for 
 as requested support services to the Big Basin Water Company. 
 
 E. Martin, Boulder Creek, addressed the Board. 
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  Discussion by the Board regarding: 

 The Interim General Manager will need time to catch up 

 Big Basin Water Company needs to bring a proposal to the District 

 The BBWC receiver has reached out to the District 
 
  The motion passed, 3 Directors voted yes, Director Fultz voted no, Director 
 Ackemann was absent. 
 

         b. LOMPICO CANYON EMERGENCY EVACUATION ROUTE PROJECT 
  G. Roffe introduced and explained this item. 
 
  Discussion by the Board regarding: 

 This agreement was taken to the E & E Committee; it was 
recommended that language be added to the easement to ban the 
use of glyphosate on District property. 

 Bring this easement back to the December 7 BoD with the 
amended language 

 The location of the easement was discussed 
    

  11.    Consent Agenda:  Approved 
   a. ANNUAL DISCLOSURE REPORT OF CAPACITY CHARGES FY 2022-23 
 b. BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING MINUTES 10.5.23 
 c. SPECIAL BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING MINUTES 10.16.23 
 d. BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING MINUTES 10.19.23 
 

  12.    District Reports: 
   DEPARTMENT STATUS REPORTS     

o Engineering – Fall Creek Fish Ladder, Felton Heights Tank, & Hwy. 9 
Caltrans emergency were discussed 

o Environmental – RFP for Loch Lomond Feasibility Study was 
discussed, no responses were received 

 
  A. Layng addressed the Board. 

 

 13.   Written Communication: None 
 
 14.   Informational Material:  

o Response to Media Request on SLVWD & Big Basin Water Company 
 
 15.   Adjournment:  8:28 p.m. 
 
 
Minutes approved: ____________________ 
 
____________________________ 

 Holly B. Hossack, District Secretary 
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Dec. 15, 2023 
To San Lorenzo Valley Water District, 
  
The customers of Big Basin Water Company request your consideration on a very urgent 
matter. As you are aware, our water utility has been placed under a court ordered 
receivership and in need of a long term, sustainable solution. We believe the best 
solution is a merger with SLVWD. SLVWD has provided much appreciated emergency 
assistance time and again to BBWC, including a safe filling station, in times of dire need. 
  
The undersigned customers support a merger with SLVWD. We understand the usage 
rates of SLVWD are higher than those of BBWC. 
  
The customers of Big Basin Water Company request your immediate negotiation with 
the appointed receiver, Nicolas Jaber. 
  
We appreciate your consideration in this matter. 
 
Shandra Hunt   Mark Hayes    Kenneth King 
Ann Thryft    Kathryn Hayes   Renee Lusk - King 
Christopher Bradford  Katherine Delagrange  Miles King 
Antonia Bradford   Janet Graul    Jude Faraday 
Patrick LaBruzzo   Marybeth Boyle   Daniela Apostol 
Elizabeth LaBruzzo   Joe Madariaga   Gene Jamieson 
Charlotte Labruzzo   Kayley Ingallis-Rose  William Weigel 
Julie Jennings   Kris Taylor    Jeanne Jamieson 
Jake Jennings   Annett Dreher   Janis Nelson 
Larry Greene    Lisa Mongetta   John Burrell 
David Schumacher   Nick Calabray   Mary Burrell 
Molly Sullivan   Yvonne Hopkins   John Mazetier 
Mary Holland   Jason Atkinson   Brian Dean 
Linda K. Moore   Callum Atkinson   Emma Dean 
Alston C. Moore   Devin Runneals   Jon Payne 
Owen Doyle    Skip Schenker   Elizabeth Payne 
Shireen Doyle   Elizabeth Eames   Kevin Wade 
Lucas Doyle    Lisa Carrell    Brian Bina 
Lauren Doyle    Bradley Carrell   Sean Salazar 
Samuel Singer   Kat Delagrange   Denine Jones 
Christopher Schroeder  Chris Johnson   Robert Jones 
John Arrasjid   Ian Johnson    Shelby Jones 
Catherine Arrasjid   Bryan Ciraolo   Michael Martin 
Sofia Arrasjid   Jamie Ciraolo   Aerin Martin 
Lila Arasjid    Jim Hawkins    Tracy Rehal 
Jonathan Muir   Marjorie Hawkins   Michael Rehal 
Jessica Anderson   Joshua Hawkins   John Robinson 
Rob Van Horn   Diego Hawkins   Betty Robinson 
Patti Van Horn   Rebecca Steinburg   Carlos De La Cruz 
Melinda Newfarmer   Darlene Peterson   Marc Weil 
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Kevin Kurek    Hallie Hurlburt   Laurel Becker 
Monty Kurek    Chad Hurlburt   Mark Becker 
Frank Calabray   Annalivia Hoff   Quinn Becker 
Janey Griffin    Isabel Hoff    Kaleen Stewart 
Gary Griffin    Gunner Hurlburt   Mark Stewart 
Susan Welsh    Riverlee Greene   Diane Stewart 
Christos Foundoulis   Kenneth Wogberg   Bill Hassell 
Jean Schwald   Debra Wogberg   Margaret Gorball 
Daryl Schwald   Danny Bills    Jeannette Larson 
Marthann Noce   Elaine Bills    Jerry Larson 
Andrew Noce    Jennifer Parks   Nancy Caracappa 
Dan Hughes    Michael Parks   Karen Amiel 
Christine Hughes   Maria Liebold   Robert Sibley 
Crystal Maro    Sheri Houdesheldt   Scott Murray 
Chris Maro    Taylor Houdesheldt   Chantel Murray 
Chantel Murray   Norman Houdesheldt  Tanner Murray 
Scott Murray    John Armstrong   Sharon Howard 
Kelly Peery    Cynthia Armstrong   Doug Howard 
Joan Peery    Robert Costa    Clara Ricabel 
Marius Enache   Carol Costa    Alex Niapas 
Daniela Enache   Lisa Taber    Isabelle Ross 
Alex Enache    Daniel Blanchette   Diego Ross 
Ryan Micheletti   Luke Immel    Roger Wapners 
Amanda Micheletti   Cathy Immel    Bill Clarke 
Jeannette Close   Andy Immel    Celine Clark 
Meg Davies    Tami Stuparich   Mark Capestany 
Joel Davies    Kirk Stuparich   Jo Ann Stenlund 
Elizabeth Chance   Natasha Prose   Gundula Sartor  
Kelton Shields   Alison Breeze   Zachary Bailey 
Kelly Gronau    Susan Welsh    Laura Bailey 
Craig Gronau    Martha Lazo    Michael Arnett 
Milton Rivera   Edward Jones   Katheryn Kinerson 
Estrella Rivera   Kristin Jones    Angela Santos 
Jonathan Rivera   Cindy Wilkinson   Robert Jones 
William Rivera   Lyn Wilkinson   Rose Ann Maguire 
Desmond Keene    Sanju Bose    Bradford Powell 
Dylan Keene    Jessalyn Saulietis   David Brown 
Ruaidri Keene   Erik Saulietis    Inge Everly 
Brenda Rogers   Judith Milgram   Jack Everly 
Patrick Rogers   R. James Milgram   Arkady Elterman 
Yelena Sedova   Benjamin Evare   Joe Beasley 
Hayden Burke   Julie Lucia    Rochelle Kelly 
Brittany Burke   Chris Lucia    Debra Makey 
William Kuelker   Adam Widmer   Christin Armstrong 
Kimberly Kuelker   Sarah Widmer   Chris Monzert 
Mollie Kuelker   Lucia Widmer   Mark Hayes 
Vallory Kuelker   Isaac Widmer   Kathryn Hayes 
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Claire Shafe    Bob Paredes    Erin Wilkie 
Jeff Shafe    Todd Kerkhof   Anthony Leonard 
Matt Brinkman   Vladmir Sarser   Ona Jones 
Ellen Knobeloch   Arthur Coulston   Cari Wagner  
Yogi Brinkman   Sylvie Coulston   Cathy Bedford 
Terry Crites    Steve Lampkin   Tom Boyd 
Yuliya Hawkins   Harry Plummer 
Aaron Hawkins   Tera Reason 
Em Hawkins    Jack Reason 
Cal Hawkins    Kurt Reason 
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MEMO 
 
 
DATE:   January 4, 2024 

TO:    Board of Directors, San Lorenzo Valley Water District 

FROM:   Brian Frus, General Manager  

SUBJECT:   PUBLIC COMMITTEE MEMBERS FOR 2024 

 
WRITTEN BY:   District Secretary 

PRESENTED BY:  General Manager   

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION  
 
It is recommended that the Board review this memo regarding public 

committee members' assignments to the standing committees for 

2024.  This is informational only. 

 

RECOMMENDED MOTION  
 
No action is required. 

 
 
BACKGROUND 

As per the Board Policy; Committee appointments were reviewed by the full 

Board at a Board of Directors’ meeting on December 7, 2023.  The public 

applicants' first choices for appointment were; 1 for Administration 

Committee, 1 for Budget & Finance Committee, and 3 for Engineering & 

Environmental Committee.  One of the applicants expressed an interest in 

Budget & Finance as a second choice.  Staff was directed to contact the 

applicant and ask if he would be interested in switching to his second 

choice, the B & F Committee.  He was amenable to the change.  
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Here are the committee assignments for 2024: 

Admin   Dolson* 

B & F   Bahn*, Herrick  

E & E   Lande, Schmelter 

 

  *returning committee member 

  

The Board Policy Manual will be revised when the Board reviews it 

later this year to reflect the following: 

 Administration – 2 Board members and 1 public member 

 Budget & Finance – 2 Board members and 2 public members 

 Engineering & Environmental – 2 Board members and 2 public 

 members 

 

PRIOR COMMITTEE ACTION 

None 

FISCAL IMPACT 

None 

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT 

None 

ATTACHMENTS AND RELEVANT LINKS TO DISTRICT WEBSITE 

None 
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